Wnt signaling in human colonocytes: roles for the tumor suppressor APC in β-catenin cytoplasmic retention and destruction complex localization

By

Copyright 2020

Taybor William Parker

Submitted to the graduate degree program in Molecular Biosciences and the Graduate Faculty of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chair - Kristi L. Neufeld

Yoshiaki Azuma

David Davido

Erik Lundquist

William Picking

Robert Ward

Date Defended: June 02, 2020

The dissertation committee for Taybor William Parker certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Wnt signaling in human colonocytes: roles for the tumor suppressor APC in β-catenin cytoplasmic retention and destruction complex localization

Chair: Kristi L. Neufeld

Date Approved: June 02, 2020

Abstract

The Wnt signaling pathway is remarkably conserved across all metazoans. This pathway coordinates a large variety of processes involved in development, establishment of cell polarity, maintenance of tissue homeostasis, and promotion of cellular proliferation. Intriguingly, components of the Wnt pathway are frequently altered in diseases such as cancer and result in aberrant Wnt activation. In the case of colorectal cancer (CRC), mutation to the Wnt antagonist Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) occurs in over 80% of human CRCs resulting in expression of a truncated form of APC. The APC protein is a component of the cytoplasmic β -catenin destruction complex which functions in the absence of Wnt ligands to phosphorylate β -catenin, marking it for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. However, Wnt ligand engagement with cell surface receptors inhibits the β -catenin destruction complex through an incompletely understood mechanism. Functions of APC in normal destruction complex activity and in Wnt signal transduction have remained elusive. To better understand how Wnt-induced destruction complex inhibition occurs and whether APC has a role, I utilized Wnt3a-Dynabeads to study the localization of the destruction complex in response to Wnt. In this work, I found that the βcatenin destruction complex re-orients following Wnt exposure toward a localized Wnt cue in colon epithelial cells of normal and malignant origin, and that this process occurs in an APCdependent fashion.

Mutation of *APC* has been theorized to act in a "just-right" manner, in which specific regions of the APC protein are retained in order to allow a specific level of β -catenin activity that is optimal for tumor growth. My data also provides support that less frequently occurring β -catenin mutations may work in a "just-right" manner as well. I find that a mutation thought to "stabilize" the downstream Wnt pathway effector, β -catenin, does not interfere with the ability of

iii

cells to respond to Wnt and find that APC loss results in further accumulation and nuclear translocation of this stabilized β -catenin.

Kinetic analysis of the destruction complex response to Wnt reveals that components of the complex can traffic to the Wnt-receptors immediately, suggesting that this trafficking is an initial Wnt response. I also find that APC loss impairs cells ability to accumulate β -catenin in response to Wnt and that β -catenin degradation is compromised in these cells.

The mechanisms by which APC functions in the destruction complex to regulate β catenin are not completely understood, nor are the reasons why certain regions of APC are commonly lost or retained due to truncation in CRC. In this work, I find that full-length APC is required for Wnt-induced complex localization and propose that regions found within the frequently lost C-terminus of APC mediate destruction complex trafficking and inhibition. These findings provide key mechanistic details to better understand and therapeutically target the Wnt signaling pathway.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Kristi Neufeld. You have been an amazing mentor and I will never forget my time spent learning from you. You encouraged me to pursue new ideas, supported me in my career and personal goals, and have set an amazing example of what it means to truly care about your students. In your lab, I have become a better scientist, a better listener, and a better mentor to others because of the example you have provided. Your constant support, encouragement, and willingness to share knowledge are more appreciated than you know. You were instrumental to my success as a graduate student and I thank you for that.

To the current and former members of the Neufeld lab, thank you for putting up with me over the last five years. I was very fortunate to work with such a talented group of fellow graduate students. You all have made the lab enjoyable and have greatly contributed to my project through frequent discussions and sharing of new ideas. I have had the privilege of mentoring several undergraduate researchers. Specifically, I want to thank Lauren Jennings for showing up every day with one of the most positive attitudes imaginable, paying attention when I spent too much time explaining experiments, being willing to help with anything in the lab, and for the great conversations. I would especially like to thank Aaron Rudeen for the generation and purification of the chicken APC antibody (used in Chapters 3 and 4). The generation of this useful resource has helped me immensely and the data here is better for it.

I would like to thank my graduate advisory committee: Dr. Yoshiaki Azuma, Dr. David Davido, Dr. Erik Lundquist, Dr. Robert Ward, and Dr. William Picking. You all have provided outstanding support. I want to thank Dr. Azuma for graciously sharing reagents and discussions for ongoing projects. I also thank Dr. Ward for generously serving as the Chair during my qualifying exam and for critical feedback leading up to the exam.

V

Several of the experiments in this dissertation would not have been possible without the help of the following: HCEC 1CT cells were graciously offered by Dr. Jerry Shay (UT-Southwestern); RKO-APC^{KO} cells were generously given by Dr. Ethan Lee (Vanderbilt); the help and assistance of the Genome Sequencing Core in the HCEC 1CT single-cell RNA sequencing experiment was critical; the use of the luminometer in Dr. David Davido's lab was essential for the luciferase-assays performed in this dissertation.

To the faculty and fellow graduate students in the Department of Molecular Biosciences, thank you for your support and for constructive criticism of my data at department seminars and presentations. My work is stronger because of your input and critical thinking.

I would like to thank Dr. Jim Amos-Landgraf at the University of Missouri. You initially sparked my interest in APC and colorectal cancer research. As an early career investigator, you encouraged me to pursue my own career and educational goals at a time in which my leaving the lab was likely not beneficial to you. I will always be thankful for your support, encouragement, guidance and knowledge.

To my parents, Billy and Dana Parker, none of this would have been possible without your unconditional support. You have always encouraged me to pursue my dreams and have made so many sacrifices to allow me to do so. To my sister, Taryn Parker, you are one of the most caring people I know. You are an amazing listener and have been instrumental to keeping me sane these past few years. I love you all and am so thankful to have each of you in my life.

I want to express my immense appreciation, love, and thanks to my amazing wife, Nicole. You have been a constant source of support, encouragement, and positivity in a time that brought about many changes in our lives. Thank you for your endless patience throughout the

vi

many late nights in the lab and long hours spent reading or analyzing data at home. I would not have been able to finish this work without you.

Finally, I dedicate this dissertation to my grandparents, Vernon and Marguerite Lawson. Neither of you are with us anymore, but you have both been such an inspiration to me. Grandad, you taught me what it truly means to work hard, to care for others, and to lead by example. Tutu, you treated others with incredible kindness and empathy. You both were my biggest supporters and always challenged me to be the best that I possibly can. You both encouraged and enabled me to pursue my education and I will forever be thankful for that.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	v
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Wnt Signaling: Discovery, Development, and Disease	2
The Writ Signaling Pathway	2
An <i>int</i> -roduction to wht: Discovery and naming of wht	4
Therapeutic targeting of the Wnt pathway	6
Colorectal Cancer and the Identification of APC	9
Global and U.S. Cancer Burden	9
Colorectal Cancer Discovery of Advisor store Balanceia Cali	10
Susceptibility and formation of colorectal cancer initiates with APC mutation	10
APC and its Roles in Wnt Regulation	14
The APC/Wnt connection	14
APC structure and function	14
APC mutation commonly leads to expression of a truncated protein product APC and the β extension destruction commonly	15
Nuclear APC	20
Proximal Events in Wnt Signal Transduction Leading to Destruction Complex Inhibition	21
Overview	21
The Frizzled/LRP/Wnt interaction	22
Intracellular events at the FZd/LRP co-receptors following What stimulation	22
Summary	25 27
Summary	27
References	28
Chapter 2. APC controls Wnt-induced β-catenin destruction complex recruitment in human calonogytes	36
	30
Introduction	37
	10
Kesulis Wild type ABC, but not trunceted mutent ABC is recruited toward local Wat2s in human	40
colon cancer cells	40
What components are recruited toward localized Wht3a in cells with an intact What pathway	42
Stabilized β -catenin does not impact Wht component localization in response to Wht3a	44
Cells lacking full-length APC are compromised for Wnt component localization toward Wnt	46
APC loss impairs Wnt-induced destruction complex reorientation	50
Wnt triggers destruction complex reorientation in normal human colonic epithelial cells in an	
APC-dependent manner	50
Discussion	54
Materials and Methods	62
References	66

Chapter 3. Oncogenic β -catenin mutations are susceptible to Wnt stimulation and regulation by APC	69
Abstract	70
Introduction	70
Results Phosphorylation sites important for β-catenin destruction are mutated in a subset of colorectal	74
cancers β -cat Δ S45 associates with a locally applied Wnt3a ligand Wnt3a exposure or APC-depletion increases level of β -cat Δ S45 protein HCT116 β m cells activate a Wnt reporter following APC-depletion or Wnt3a exposure Increased nuclear localization of β -cat Δ S45 upon APC-loss but not Wnt exposure β -cat Δ S45 is phosphorylated at the GSK-3 β sites and susceptible to proteasomal degradation	74 76 78 80 82 83
Discussion	85
Materials and Methods	87
References	92
Chapter 4. Dynamics of the Wnt Response	95
Abstract	96
Introduction	97
Results Wnt pathway activation occurs within 2 hours of Wnt3a treatment Destruction complex recruitment to Wnt is an early event in Wnt signal transduction Wnt-beads induce immediate localization of previously synthesized β-catΔS45 β-catenin accumulation and degradation is dependent on APC	99 99 100 102 105
Discussion	106
Materials and Methods	110
References	112
Chapter 5. Discussion	115
Discussion A role for APC in Wnt-induced β-catenin destruction complex localization Stabilized β-catenin is susceptible to regulation by APC and Wnt The kinetics and dynamics of the Wnt response	116 118 119 121
Future Directions	122
References	127

Chapter 1

Introduction

Wnt Signaling: Discovery, Development, and Disease

The Wnt Signaling Pathway

Multicellular organisms rely on many signaling pathways and gene expression programs to correctly develop, form various tissues, regenerate tissues upon injury, and maintain homeostasis at the adult stage. The Wnt signaling pathway is heavily conserved across metazoans and is essential for cellular proliferation, polarity, developmental cell-fate determination, tissue homeostasis, body plan organization, and spatial-patterning of developing animals ^{1,2}. Nearly 40 years since the discovery of the first Wnt, many of the key components, downstream effects, and regulatory mechanisms of the pathway have been identified. However, some questions have yet to be answered and further investigation into the mechanistic underpinnings of the pathway could provide additional insights into disease progression, aid in disease diagnosis, and likely open new avenues for therapeutic targeting.

Wnt glycoproteins are the key signaling molecules in the Wnt pathway. There are 19 known members of the Wnt family ³. These proteins are around 40 kDa, cysteine-rich, and are secreted due to several post-translational modifications ⁴. Wnt proteins undergo N-linked glycosylation and lipid modifications involved in either the secretion of Wnt or the binding of Wnt to its receptor ^{5–7}.

Wnt signaling, often termed Wnt/ β -catenin signaling for its downstream effector, relies on the precise regulation of β -catenin levels to control pathway activity. The canonical pathway, which will be the primary discussion of this work, is typically in an "OFF" state unless a Wnt ligand is present (Fig. 1.1A). In the OFF-state, a cytoplasmic " β -catenin destruction complex" regulates the level of β -catenin by sequestering, phosphorylating, and targeting β -catenin for



Figure 1.1 *The Wnt Signaling Pathway.* (A) In the absence of a Wnt ligand, the Wnt signaling pathway is in an OFF-state. A cytoplasmic β -catenin destruction complex composed of APC, Axin, CK1- α , and GSK-3 β binds and phosphorylates β -catenin. Phosphorylated β -catenin is ubiquitinated by β -TrCP resulting in its proteasomal degradation. (B) Binding of a Wnt ligand to the Frizzled and LRP5/6 co-receptors results in inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex allowing β -catenin to accumulate and translocate to the nucleus where it is a co-transcription factor for Wnt target genes.

ubiquitination by β -TrCP which ultimately leads to proteasomal degradation ^{8–10}. The destruction complex is composed of the core components APC, Axin, CK1- α , and GSK-3 β , however it is speculated that other proteins are also involved ¹¹. The APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli) protein is a large, multidomain protein with no known enzymatic activity. APC contains multiple protein binding sites and is thought to act as a scaffold for the complex. APC and its roles in Wnt signal regulation will be the focus of this dissertation and will be described in more detail later in this chapter.

Upon Wnt ligand binding to the Frizzled (FZD) and low-density lipoprotein 5/6 (LRP5/6) co-receptors, a heterotrimeric "signalosome" is formed and results in inactivation of the β -catenin destruction complex through a mechanism involving an adaptor protein, Dishevelled (Dvl) ^{12,13}. The β -catenin protein, when complexed in the nucleus with TCF/LEF, is a transcriptional coactivator of Wnt target genes ^{14,15}. Wnt presentation and destruction complex inhibition allow β -catenin to accumulate and translocate to the nucleus where it activates the Wnt-transcriptional program (Fig. 1.1B). While the basic mechanism and downstream effects of Wnt signaling have been well characterized, the molecular events leading to destruction complex inhibition are not completely understood. Further, determination of the exact roles of APC in normal destruction complex function have been difficult to elucidate and are a focus of this dissertation.

An int-roduction to Wnt: Discovery and naming of Wnt

Prior to any knowledge of the Wnt signaling pathway and its crucial roles across many areas of biology, scientists had discovered that different laboratory mice had high instances of mammary tumors. Ultimately, it was found that the tumor phenotype was passed from mother to offspring by a retrovirus contained in the breast milk, termed Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus (MMTV). Over 40 years passed before Roel Nusse and Harold Varmus initiated a screen utilizing MMTV to identify new genes which may confer a tumorigenic growth advantage when activated by MMTV retroviral insertion ¹⁶. They identified the proviral MMTV in multiple mammary tumors isolated from different mice inserted near the same gene which they termed *int1*, for integration site 1 ¹⁶.

For several years following the discovery of *int1*, the function of the int1 protein remained unknown due to a lack of established tools. Clues to the function of int1 were provided by the protein coding sequence. The *int1* gene coded for a 370 amino acid protein that interestingly had an N-terminal region composed of primarily hydrophobic amino acids ¹⁷. This finding supplied the initial clue that int1 may have some interaction with the cell membrane, however the overall function of this protein was largely unknown. Ultimately, the cloning of the int1 homolog in *Drosophila* provided the initial clues of potential function of the int1 protein.

Following the cloning and mapping of the *Drosophila* int1 gene, it was discovered that int1 was the homolog of a *Drosophila* gene named *Wingless* (*Wg*), identified by Sharma and Chopra for its phenotype of absent wings in *Wingless* mutant flies ^{18,19}. Interestingly, *Wg* was already known to be heavily involved in developmental processes in *Drosophila*, along with a host of other genes known to regulate embryonic development ²⁰. As several unrelated genes were also becoming identified by MMTV proviral insertion, the field was quickly becoming cluttered with other *int-* genes. In an effort to deconvolute the *int1/Wg* field, several of the early researchers in the field agreed upon a new nomenclature. Paying homage to the originally identified *int1* and the *Drosophila Wingless*, these genes would be termed *Wnt* ²¹. We now know that vertebrates have 19 different *Wnt* family members, and that the Wnt pathway is highly

conserved across all metazoans (reviewed in ¹). Initial evidence demonstrating the connection of *int1* to evolutionarily conserved developmental pathways came when McMahon and Moon found that injection of *int-1* RNA into *Xenopus laevis* embryos resulted in dual axis formation ²². Subsequent studies shed light on the role of the Wnt pathway in human cancers and disease.

The Wnt pathway in Development and Disease

Early findings in various model organisms such as mice, *Drosophila* and *Xenopus laevis* revealed that the Wnt signaling pathway was evolutionarily conserved. Wnt signaling is crucial to the development of many organs and systems, including the brain, eye, spinal cord, bone, cartilage, skin, lung, teeth, mammary gland, gastrointestinal organs, heart, liver, kidney, pancreas and the hematopoietic and reproductive systems ^{1,23}. Not only is the Wnt pathway implicated in developmental programs, but also in maintenance and homeostasis of the adult intestine, hematopoiesis, and the hair and skin ^{24–27}. It comes as no surprise that a signaling pathway heavily involved in cell proliferation and cell-fate decisions is often deregulated in diseases such as cancers, fibrosis, metabolic disease, and neurodegenerative disorders ^{28–35}. Heavily involved in tissue regeneration, Wnt signaling is implicated in the repair of lung and liver damage ^{36–38}. Wnt signaling is also crucial for cellular processes such as cell migration, maintenance of genome stability, and apoptosis in various tissue and cell types ^{39–45}.

Therapeutic targeting of the Wnt pathway

The Wnt pathway is crucial to early embryonic development and tissue homeostasis throughout the lifespan. Given the enormous range of functional involvement of the Wnt pathway in developmental and homeostatic processes, it is essential that the pathway is highly regulated. The involvement of Wnt signaling in disease has resulted in a significant investment in the development of therapeutic approaches targeting this pathway (Fig. 1.2). Complicating matters, there are 19 different Wnt proteins and multiple co-receptors that can act in different combinations to elicit a Wnt response ⁴⁶. Further, the β-catenin-dependent pathway is referred to as the "canonical" Wnt pathway, however another "non-canonical" pathway exists that is involved in maintenance of planar cell polarity and therefore referred to as the Wnt/PCP pathway ⁴⁷. For these reasons, therapeutic targeting efforts toward the Wnt pathway have been problematic. The complexity of the pathway involving many protein interactions and a known role in normal homeostasis and stem cell maintenance means that precise modulation of the pathway must occur in such a way so as to affect the diseased cells and tissues with minimal harm to the rest of the body. To achieve such targeting, the mechanistic details of Wnt signaling must be understood in great detail.

Despite the inherent risks of targeting the Wnt pathway, the reward of successful therapeutic development could be significant. The ancient story of the "Sword of Damocles" is commonly used as a metaphor for Wnt pathway targeting ⁴⁸. The story goes that Damocles was jealous of the lifestyle of his king, Dionysius. Dionysius offered to trade places but had a very large sword suspended only by a single hair of a horse tail placed above the throne to represent the constant danger and fear that came with being king. The same goes for the Wnt pathway--with any targeting approach, whether the pathway is activated or inhibited, there exists inherent danger that the side effects involving normal tissue homeostasis and stem cell maintenance could be critically impaired.

Many groups have attempted to target the Wnt pathway through the use of small molecules, peptides, blocking antibodies, and the use of combination therapy with conventional



Nature Reviews | Drug Discovery

Figure 1.2 *Therapeutic targeting of the Wnt pathway*. Identified inhibitors of various steps along the Wnt pathway. Graph from Kahn, *Nature Reviews*, 2014.

chemotherapeutics ²⁸. As summarized in Figure 1.2, many inhibitors to various components of the pathway have been identified. These include Frizzled blocking antibodies (OMP-18R5), a soluble Wnt-sponge containing the Frizzled cysteine rich domain (OMP-54F28), inhibitors of the adaptor protein Disheveled, inhibitors of the Wnt secretion protein Porcupine, and inhibitors of Tankyrase, an enzyme which promotes Axin degradation ^{49–55}. While there are additional therapeutics that have been identified (reviewed in ^{28,48}), the overwhelming complexity of the pathway has made effective targeting difficult. Even the decision of whether Wnt antagonists or agonists should be used depends on the type of cancer since specific tissue types may need increased Wnt activity rather than an inhibition of aberrant activation ⁴⁸. These reasons, paired with holes in our understanding of the mechanistic steps of Wnt signal transduction, make it glaringly clear that further details are needed of tissue-specific Wnt-activation mechanisms and how these are perturbed in diseases such as CRC.

Colorectal Cancer and the Identification of APC

Global and U.S. Cancer Burden

Both globally and in the United States, cancer is an enormous burden on human life. In the U.S. alone, over 1.8 million new diagnoses and over 600,000 deaths are expected to occur in 2020 ⁵⁶. Behind only heart-disease, cancer is the second-leading cause of death in the United States. Despite the decreasing rates of cancer-related mortalities, data such as this highlight the importance of novel prevention and treatment strategies as well as a continued commitment to better understanding the mechanistic underpinnings of various cancers.

Colorectal Cancer

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second most common cause of cancer-related death in the United States ^{56,57}. While genetic and molecular underpinnings of colorectal cancer are incredibly important, and are the focus of this work, it is estimated that over one-half of cases could potentially be preventable through decreased smoking, increased physical activity and body-weight management, and implementation of healthier diets ⁵⁸. Projections estimate that ~148,000 new CRC cases will be diagnosed in 2020 with an estimated 53,000 deaths in the U.S. ⁵⁷. If diagnosed at an early stage, CRC survival rates are high with over a 90% 5-year survival in patients with localized CRC. However, the 5-year survival rate in patients with distant-stage disease drops to 14% ⁵⁷. These data highlight the incredible importance of early-screening and detection, but also highlight that more effort needs to be placed on understanding the molecular and genetic events involved in the initiation and progression of CRC to develop and implement more effective treatment interventions for patients presenting with late-stage disease.

Discovery of Adenomatous Polyposis Coli

Patients with Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), an inherited form of CRC, commonly present with hundreds to thousands of colon polyps and develop CRC by age 39⁵⁹. FAP is the second-most common inherited CRC syndrome and originates through germline mutations in the *Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC)* gene. While FAP only accounts for ~1% of all CRC cases, the sporadic mutation of the *APC* gene is involved in the majority of CRC cases ^{60–62}. Further, it was the study of FAP that led to the identification of the *APC* gene and ultimately connected it to the Wnt signaling pathway. Unless intervention is taken, FAP will invariably result in the development of CRC. Colorectal screening by endoscopic examination begins in FAP patients as early as 10-years old. Once there is an extensive tumor burden, patients typically undergo the surgical removal of the colon (colectomy) as a prophylactic procedure ⁶¹. Further, FAP patients are at an increased risk of cancer development in other tissues such as thyroid cancer and medulloblastoma.

It was not until the early 1990's that genetic evidence for the basis of FAP was elucidated. Researchers previously showed that FAP was inherited in an autosomal-dominant fashion and suspected that the gene responsible for FAP was on chromosome 5q21, based on the identification of a deletion in an FAP patient ⁶³. This identification, paired with subsequent work, suggested that the gene responsible for FAP was highly involved in intestinal polyposis and that it may be involved in many sporadic cases of intestinal tumor development as well. In the early 1990's, two groups utilized positional cloning to clone the adenomatous polyposis coli gene, and aptly named it *Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC)* ^{64,65}. The lab of Ray White at the University of Utah identified two deletions in the *APC* region of the DNA, one smaller (~100kb) and the other larger (~260kb). The genomic sites of these deletions corresponded to three candidate genes (DP1, SRP19, and DP2.5) that may have been responsible for adenomatous polyposis coli ⁶⁶. Using the identification of intron-exon boundaries, single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis, and family inheritance studies, Ray White's group identified DP2.5 as the *APC* gene ⁶⁴.

Susceptibility and Formation of Colorectal Cancer initiates with APC Mutation

Cancer is a disease that results from the accumulation of genetic mutations or epigenetic alterations of gene expression. Nearly half of the population will form a benign colorectal tumor, called a polyp, by the age of 70. However only a subset of those individuals will develop malignant cancer. In CRC, roughly 25% of cases have a family history of the disease, while the

vast majority of cases occur sporadically ⁶⁷. It is known that family history increases the risk and onset of colorectal cancer due to the presence of existing mutations that increase the likelihood of biallelic loss of an essential tumor suppressor gene. Typically, CRC is thought to be a disease of the elderly, and screening is only suggested beginning at 45 years-of-age ⁶⁸. A general series of genetic changes occurs during the progression from normal epithelium, to adenoma formation, to metastasis ⁶⁹. The initiating event leading to colorectal polyp formation in most human CRCs is through germline or somatic mutation of the tumor suppressor APC ^{60,62}.

Adenomatous polyposis coli is mutated in ~80% of human colorectal cancers ⁷⁰. APC acts as a classic tumor suppressor and displays a recessive phenotype-- both alleles must be affected prior to tumorigenic capability ⁷¹. Mutation to *APC* is considered to be the initiating event in colorectal tumorigenesis and in the adenoma to carcinoma sequence ^{62,69,70,72}. Even prior to the discovery of the *APC* gene, a genetic model was proposed by Fearon and Vogelstein in which the mutation or loss of the FAP causing gene on chromosome 5q was the initiating step from normal to hyperplastic epithelium, followed by a series of activating or loss-of-function mutations to KRAS, p53, and others to lead to carcinoma (Fig. 1.3) ⁷³. While this is the general series of mutations, it seems that *APC* mutation occurs in almost all cases, but the path toward malignancy will result from the acquisition of different genetic alterations depending on the case ⁷⁴. In support of the Vogelstein model of colorectal tumorigenesis, Dow et al. recently demonstrated that APC re-introduction could restore intestinal crypt homeostasis in mouse CRCs harboring KRAS and p53 mutations (Fig. 1.3B) ⁷⁵.

The importance of *APC* in colorectal cancer was well-known given its prevalence of mutation, however at this time the function of the encoded protein was not understood. Despite the lack of knowledge of a functional role for APC, the early studies of FAP and the mapping



Dow et al., Cell, 2015

Figure 1.3 *Genetic mutations leading to intestinal adenoma formation and mestastasis.* (A) The model proposed by Fearon and Vogelstein, *Cell*, 1990 describing the series of genetic mutations that transform normal epithelium to carcinoma is initiated by loss of APC. Schematic from E. Spears in the Neufeld lab and adapted from Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990. (B) APC restoration in a mouse model of adenocarcinoma returns intestinal epithelium to a normal state. Schematic from Dow et al., *Cell*, 2015.

and identifying of the *APC* gene ultimately resulted in the connection of CRC to the Wnt signaling pathway. The historical events leading to the discovery of Wnt signaling and its connection to colorectal cancer and APC will be discussed in the next section.

APC and its roles in Wnt regulation

The APC/Wnt connection

While the exact function of APC is still debated, the work of several groups in the 1990's uncovered that APC plays a prominent role in Wnt signaling. These early clues began with the development of the $Apc^{Min/+}$ mouse in the laboratory of Bill Dove. Ethylnitrosourea (ENU) treatment of C57BL/6J mice induced germline mutations that included one within the APC gene that was associated with multiple intestinal tumors ^{76,77}. $APC^{Min/+}$ mice develop multiple adenomas, ranging from 10's to 100's along the small intestine.

Shortly after the development of the Min mouse, the APC protein was found to interact with α - and β -catenin, through immunoprecipitation, nucleotide sequence analysis and peptide mapping ^{78,79}. At the time, the catenins were known to be involved in cell adhesion, through interaction with E-cadherin, and through studies identifying the *Drosophila* homolog *Armadillo* as a segment polarity gene ^{80–82}. Subsequent studies using mouse and fly genetics, cell culture, and Xenopus, reviewed in ^{83,84} led to the identification of the core Wnt pathway, including an essential role for APC in the regulation of β -catenin binding and stability.

APC Structure and Function

The *APC* gene encodes a 2,843 amino acid multi-domain protein that is approximately 312 kDa ⁶⁴. Nearly all of the protein coding sequence is contained within the last of the 15 exons of the *APC* gene ^{64,69}. APC mutations most commonly occur within the "mutation cluster region" (amino acids 1286-1513) and lead to protein truncation (Fig. 1.4). These mutations are far enough into exon 15 that nonsense-mediated decay of the resulting transcript is typically avoided, resulting in the expression of a truncated APC protein ^{85,86}.

The full-length APC protein contains oligomerization domains, armadillo repeats, four 15-amino acid repeats, seven 20-amino acid repeats, SAMP motifs, nuclear localization signals (NLS), and a basic region involved in cytoskeletal interactions (Fig. 1.4A). The many domains of APC enable the interaction with multiple proteins, implicating APC in cellular processes such as differentiation, adhesion, polarity establishment, migration, and apoptosis ⁸⁷. The most well-established role for APC is as a negative regulator of the Wnt signaling pathway as part of a cytoplasmic β -catenin destruction complex with Axin, GSK-3 β , and CK1- α ^{11,78,79,88,89}. In particular, the 15 and 20 amino acid repeats are involved in β -catenin binding and degradation ^{79,90}. Consequently, mutation of either *APC*, *Axin*, or *CTNNB1* (β -catenin) is frequently observed in many cancers, including colorectal cancer ^{4,70,91}.

APC mutation commonly leads to the expression of a truncated protein product

Mutations in *APC* do not commonly result in complete loss of the protein, but rather, result in premature stop codons and expression of a stable, truncated protein 86,92 . As seen by the lollipop plot generated using cBioPortal, the majority of *APC* mutations occur in the MCR, a region near the middle of the protein (Fig. 1.4B) 86 . These mutations lead to the expression of a



Figure 1.4 *Structure and Mutational landscape of APC in human CRC.* (A) The protein domains of full-length APC and the effect of mutations within the MCR. The APC protein harbors many domains involved in homodimerization, β -catenin binding (15R, 20R), Axin binding (SAMP), nuclear localization (NLS), and cytoskeletal interactions (basic, EB1). (B) Lollipop plot showing distribution and types of mutations in APC across human CRC. Data from The Cancer Genome Atlas and lollipop plot generated using cBioPortal. The dark circles indicate truncating mutations and the light circles indicate missense mutations.

truncated protein which is lacking several important domains believed to be involved in normal functions of APC.

Mutations in the MCR result in truncated proteins that lack the SAMP motifs (Axin binding), NLS sequences, the C-terminal cytoskeletal interacting basic region, and a variable number of the 20-amino acid repeats involved in β -catenin binding ^{86,93–96}. Of note, mutations that occur outside of the MCR, either more N-terminal resulting in complete loss of the β -catenin binding sites, or more C-terminal resulting in the retention of the 15 and 20-amino acid repeats, commonly result in an attenuated phenotype ^{94,97}. It is possible that mutations which completely stabilize β -catenin do not support cell viability and that some level of β -catenin regulation is necessary for optimal tumorigenic capability. By analyzing somatic point mutations of *APC* in FAP patients to assess loss-of-heterozygosity of *APC*, Albuquerque et al. suggested that *APC* mutations are selected based on their ability to maintain some ability to downregulate β -catenin signaling in a "just-right" manner ⁹³. Perhaps, in addition to the ability to downregulate β -catenin, the loss of C-terminal regions involved in nuclear localization, Axin binding, and cytoskeletal interactions may be important for the tumorigenic capacity of cancer cells.

APC and the β -catenin destruction complex

In addition to the ability to bind β -catenin through its 15 and 20-amino acid repeats, APC contains three Ser-Ala-Met-Pro repeats (SAMP repeats) interspersed between the 20 amino acid repeats which mediate Axin binding ⁹⁸. Many studies have demonstrated that the β -catenin destruction complex is composed of the core components: APC, Axin1/2, GSK-3 β , and CK1- α (reviewed in ¹¹). Both Axin and APC are considered to be scaffolding proteins for the complex, raising the question of why APC truncations appear so frequently in CRC while Axin mutations

are rare. The destruction complex binds β -catenin through interactions mediated by APC and Axin, and CK1- α phosphorylates Ser45 of β -catenin which primes Thr41, Ser37, and Ser33 for sequential phosphorylation by GSK-3 β ¹⁰. Phosphorylation at Ser33 and Ser37 create a WD40-like recognition site for β -TrCP, the subunit of the E3 ubiquitin ligase SCF^{β -TrCP} responsible for substrate recognition, resulting in β -catenin ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation ^{8–10,99–101}.

Several questions exist regarding the role of APC in β -catenin destruction: 1) Is APC the primary scaffold of the destruction complex? 2) Is APC involved in promotion of β -catenin phosphorylation, and if so, how? 3) Does APC maintain association with the β -catenin destruction complex following Wnt stimulation? 4) Does APC regulate β -catenin ubiquitination or its release to the proteasome? Answers to questions such as these will provide a much more detailed understanding of the Wnt pathway, but also will provide a deeper knowledge of APC functions which may aid in efforts toward therapeutic targeting the Wnt pathway. Further, it is not well understood how destruction complex composition, function, and cellular localization is altered upon Wnt signaling. These topics are a major focus of the work in subsequent chapters.

Axin is thought of by some to be the primary scaffold of the destruction complex given that it contains binding sites for all members of the complex (reviewed in ¹¹) and is considered to be the rate-limiting factor for complex assembly ¹⁰². Several studies support the notion that Axin is the central scaffold, rather than APC ^{88,103,104}. The in vitro phosphorylation of β -catenin by GSK-3 β and CK1- α is enhanced by the addition of Axin ¹⁰³. However, conflicting reports support that either APC or Axin may be the rate-limiting factor of destruction complex assembly ^{102,105}. Several caveats exist – Lee et al. primarily utilize mathematical modeling and experiments in *Xenopus* egg extract while Kitazawa et al. utilize mammalian cell systems, mass-spectrometry, and the assumption that the complex associates in a 1:1:1:1 ratio of APC:Axin:CK1 α :GSK3 β . It is unlikely that the destruction complex actually assembles in a 1:1:1:1 ratio, given that both Axin and APC contain multiple β -catenin binding sites. Recent unpublished findings using NMR and chemical-crosslinking by Aaron Rudeen in the Neufeld lab support the notion that multiple β -catenin proteins can be bound by a single APC.

Within the context of the destruction complex, several studies have implicated APC in the enhancement of GSK-3 β -mediated phosphorylation, the transfer of β -catenin to the proteasome, and in the enhancement of β -catenin ubiquitination. In support of APC involvement in β -catenin ubiquitination, a β -catenin inhibitory domain (CID) was identified between the second and third 20-amino acid repeats on APC ⁹⁰. Subsequent work in the laboratory of Mark Peifer found that the APC CID can interact with Axin, and that this interaction can be regulated by GSK-3 β , and allows the access of the E3-ligase to phosphorylated β -catenin ¹⁰⁶. Further, Li et al. identified that β -catenin is ubiquitinated within an Axin1-immunoprecipitated complex in cells treated with the proteasome inhibitor. Upon Wnt stimulation, this β -catenin was still phosphorylated but ubiquitination was decreased and β -TrCP no longer associated with Axin1⁸⁹. Confirming these results, Azzolin et al. demonstrate similar findings and suggest that the removal of β -TrCP from the complex may be dependent on YAP/TAZ, integral components of the Hippo signaling pathway ¹⁰⁷. An earlier study by Su et al. found that full-length APC was able to protect β -catenin from the protein phosphatase PP2A which removes the regulatory phosphates at the β -catenin N-terminus responsible for its β -TrCP recognition. Cells expressing truncated forms of APC were susceptible to β -catenin dephosphorylation, and thus β -catenin was able to evade β -TrCP-mediated degradation ¹⁰⁸. Taken together, these data suggest that APC plays a key role in the ubiquitination of β -TrCP and identify a unique function that is lost upon

APC truncation. In addition, APC is thought to exert β -catenin regulatory roles involved in nuclear export and may have cytoskeletal functions involved in the Wnt response.

Nuclear APC

The best-known role for APC is as a component of the cytoplasmic β-catenin destruction complex. However, just six years after the identification of the *APC* gene, the protein was found to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm by Neufeld and White ⁹⁶. This study utilized multiple APC antibodies, cell fractionation, and immunofluorescence, leaving little doubt that APC had a nuclear function. Subsequent studies by the Neufeld lab identified two nuclear localization signals in the C-terminal region of the protein that is commonly lost in truncated APC found in CRC ¹⁰⁹. These nuclear localization sequences are present in human, mouse, rat, frog, and fly, indicating an evolutionarily conserved mechanism for nuclear APC ¹⁰⁹. Two studies identified nuclear export signals within APC and found that truncated APC localized to the nucleus in cells treated with Leptomycin B, an inhibitor of Crm1-mediated nuclear export ^{110,111}.

Given these findings and others, it was proposed that APC may regulate nuclear β -catenin outside of destruction complex function since β -catenin acts as a transcription factor in the nucleus. This regulation could occur in several ways including the enhancement of nuclear export of β -catenin, sequestration of β -catenin in the nucleus, or a repression of the transcriptional activity of β -catenin ¹¹². These hypotheses are supported by findings that APC interaction with nuclear β -catenin might provide access to a transcriptional corepressor CtBP or the E3 ligase β -TrCP, sequester β -catenin from its transcriptional coactivator LEF-1/TCF, or facilitate its nuclear export into the cytoplasm for destruction complex-mediated degradation ^{111,113–116}. Since these studies were conducted in cell culture, they might not precisely recapitulate what occurs *in vivo* in the mammalian intestine. To assess the roles of nuclear APC in intestinal homeostasis, a mouse model was generated by the Neufeld lab that had compromised nuclear APC by knock-in mutations which inactivate both Apc NLS sites ¹¹⁷. These mice have elevated Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, increased proliferation of the intestinal epithelial cells and also generate more and larger intestinal adenomas when combined with the *Apc^{Min}* allele ¹¹⁷. These studies highlight the multifaceted roles of APC within and outside of "canonical" β -catenin destruction complex function.

Proximal events in Wnt signal transduction leading to destruction complex inhibition

Overview

The basic concept of Wnt signal transduction is that Wnt ligand binding to the Frizzled and LRP5/6 coreceptors results in inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex through a process mediated by the adaptor protein Dvl. This process ultimately results in stabilization and accumulation of β -catenin, allowing it to translocate to the nucleus where it participates as a transcriptional cofactor. Many studies have elucidated the downstream effects on gene expression of activation of the Wnt pathway and an up-to-date list of Wnt target genes is maintained by Roel Nusse at Stanford (<u>https://web.stanford.edu/group/nusselab/cgibin/wnt/target_genes</u>). While the downstream effects of Wnt pathway activation are well characterized, the specific upstream molecular events that transduce a Wnt signal and inhibit the β -catenin destruction complex are not. In this section, the details of the initial events involved in Wnt transduction and several proposed models of β -catenin destruction complex inhibition will be discussed.

The Frizzled/LRP/Wnt Interaction

The initiating event in Wnt signal transduction involves the binding of a secreted Wnt ligand to the Frizzled and LRP5/6 co-receptors to form a "signalosome." Wnt proteins are lipid modified, and a palmitoleic acid attached to a conserved cysteine is responsible for the binding of Wnt to the extracellular domain of Frizzled ^{7,118}. Frizzled receptors are seven-pass transmembrane proteins belonging to the G-protein coupled receptor family and have an extracellular N-terminal cysteine rich domain (CRD) that can interact with Wnt ^{119,120}. Structural study of the Frizzled/Wnt interaction revealed that the palmitoleic acid on Wnt interacts with the Fzd CRD ¹¹⁸ and can possibly mediate Fzd dimerization through interaction with two Fzd CRDs ^{121,122}. The low-density lipoprotein receptors (LRP5/6) also serve as Wnt receptors and can activate downstream Wnt signaling ¹³. In HeLa cells, aggregates of LRP6 are formed and colocalize with Fzd8 upon Wnt stimulation, suggesting that a ternary complex composed of Wnt/Fzd/LRP is an initial step of Wnt signal transduction ¹². Further, Fzd/LRP heterodimers were shown to form in the presence of Wnt ^{123,124}.

Intracellular events at the Fzd/LRP co-receptors following Wnt stimulation

After Wnt binding to its co-receptors LRP5/6 and Frizzled, several events take place which ultimately result in inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex and accumulation of β catenin. How this inhibition takes place is not well understood and is one of the largest questions that remains in the field of Wnt signaling. Immediately following Wnt ligand binding to its coreceptors, two key events appear to happen at the cell membrane: 1) the adaptor protein Dvl polymerizes and dimerizes through its DIX and DEP domains to mediate signalosome formation, and 2) the cytoplasmic tail of the LRP6 receptor is phosphorylated, creating a docking site for additional protein interactions.

Disheveled proteins consist of three domains that mediate a multitude of protein interactions ¹²⁵. The DIX domain mediates Dvl polymerization through interaction with the DIX domain of another Dvl protein, the DEP domain mediates binding to Fzd as well as Dvl dimerization, and the PDZ domain is an interaction surface for multiple proteins including CK1, Fzd, and GBP/Frat (an inhibitor of GSK-3β) ^{125,126}. Dvl polymerization is essential for activation of the Wnt pathway ¹²⁷. When overexpressed in mammalian cells, Dvl immuno-precipitates with itself as determined using HA- and Flag- tagged Dvl. Overexpressed Dvl forms large puncta and causes activation of a Wnt pathway reporter. Upon mutation of the DIX domain, this punctate appearance is lost and Wnt activation is decreased. Further, electron microscopy revealed that purified DIX domains polymerize to form long protofilaments whereas mutant DIX domains are defective in protofilament formation ¹²⁷. The DEP domain of Dvl is responsible for both Fzd binding and for mediating Dvl dimerization through a biochemical domain-swapping event with nearby Dvl ¹²⁸⁻¹³⁰.

It has been proposed that the DEP dimerization and DIX polymerization occur in a concentration-dependent manner and are both required for Dvl to assemble functional signalosomes ^{128,131}. Interestingly, Petersen et al. demonstrate using live-cell imaging that Fzd homodimerizes ¹³². These data, paired with the findings from Nile et al. and DeBruine et al. that one Wnt ligand can bind two Fzd CRDs, suggests that a single Wnt ligand binding event could result in the clustering of four Dvl proteins and potentially act as a platform for further Dvl

polymerization ^{121,122,131}.Dvl can bind Axin through a DIX-DIX interaction ¹³³ and Dvl knockdown in Wnt-treated cells decreases the amount of phosphorylated LRP6, suggesting that Dvl promotes LRP6 phosphorylation ¹².

Phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of LRP5/6 appears to be an early event in Wnt signal transduction, regulated in-part by Dvl¹². Tamai et al. identified the presence of five conserved PPP(S/T)P motifs in the intracellular domain of LRP5/6¹³⁴. The injection of LRP6 mRNA missing 3/5 of the motifs had no effect on *Xenopus* embryo axis duplication, and the transfection of a similar DNA construct had no effect on the TOPflash Wnt reporter assay. However, individual mutation of the remaining two motifs resulted in decreased axis duplication and decreased TOPflash activity. These motifs are phosphorylated in a Wnt-dependent fashion and immunoprecipitated with the destruction complex member Axin only when phosphorylated ¹³⁴. Further, Zeng et al. and Davidson et al. demonstrated that LRP6 is phosphorylated by the kinases GSK-3β and CK1 ^{135,136}. These findings led to a model in which Wnt-induced phosphorylation of LRP6 creates a docking site for Axin, allowing recruitment of components of the destruction complex. Later work suggested that Dvl is responsible for the initial Axin recruitment through their respective DIX domains and that Axin brings GSK-3β in proximity with the cytoplasmic tail of LRP6 resulting in LRP6 phosphorylation and Axin docking ¹³⁷. Multiple studies suggest that phosphorylated LRP6 can inhibit GSK-3β activity ^{137–139}. This inhibition of GSK-3β may create a signal transduction mechanism that brings the cellular kinases to the Wnt receptors and simultaneously inhibits them, allowing inhibition of a specific cellular pool of GSK-3 β and resulting in decreased phosphorylation of β -catenin.

Adding to the complexity of Wnt receptor signaling, endocytosis of the Wnt receptors may occur in some but not all cell types and APC may function to prevent this process from

occurring in the absence of Wnt. Both LRP6 and Dvl can interact with the clathrin adaptor protein, AP-2, involved in clathrin-mediated endocytosis ^{125,140}. These interactions may result in recruitment of the Fzd receptor through LRP6 and Dvl interactions. Further, APC was recently shown to prevent clathrin-mediated endocytosis in the absence of a Wnt ligand and APC immunoprecipitation in cells treated with or without Wnt resulted in association with Clathrin and AP-2 ¹⁴¹. Receptor endocytosis may not be involved in all cell types. Rim et al. recently demonstrated that inhibition of endocytosis had no effect on Wnt signaling in mouse embryonic stem cells ¹⁴².

Inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex following Wnt stimulation

The findings presented in the previous section were incorporated into a model where Axin and GSK-3 β recruitment to the Wnt receptors is a result of β -catenin destruction complex disassembly, imparting negative feedback to the β -catenin destruction complex function ¹⁴³. In addition to the model in which Axin/GSK3 are sequestered at the membrane following Wnt binding, several other models of β -catenin destruction complex inhibition, which are not mutually exclusive, have been proposed: 1) Axin degradation decreases available destruction complexes, 2) APC and/or Axin dissociate from GSK-3 β or β -catenin, 3) Wnt-induced dephosphorylation of β -catenin, 4) disassembly of the β -catenin destruction complex, or 5) complete localization of the β -catenin destruction complex to the receptors resulting in inability to phosphorylate or degrade β -catenin. Currently, the exact mechanism by which the destruction complex is inhibited is not resolved, nor is the functional role of APC in β -catenin degradation.

The degradation of Axin is supported by several studies and may even be enhanced by APC. Examination of Axin levels in the wing discs of Apc1/2 mutant flies demonstrated that

Axin levels are increased compared to wild-type flies, suggesting that *Drosophila* Apc normally functions to negatively regulate Axin levels ¹⁴⁴. Multiple studies using cultured cells suggest that Wnt signaling induces a translocation of Axin to the membrane and subsequent Axin degradation ^{102,145,146}. However, these studies rely on overexpression and may not be representative of the endogenous complex during Wnt stimulation. For example, Mao et al. demonstrated that Wnt treatment results in Axin presence within membrane fractions and that overexpression of an LRP5 domain can cause degradation of Axin. However, this study did not examine the effect of Wnt treatment on Axin levels but proposed a model in which Wnt induces Axin destabilization by stimulating LRP5 interaction with Axin ¹⁴⁵. In support of the Axin degradation model, Huang et al. identified a small-molecule inhibitor of the poly-ADP-ribosylating enzymes tankyrase 1 and 2, XAV939, through a TOPflash luciferase reporter screen in Wnt-treated HEK293 cells (human embryonic kidney). Inhibition of tankyrase by XAV939 treatment stabilized Axin while overexpression of tankyrase caused Axin degradation ⁵³.

Wnt stimulation may also impair destruction complex assembly and β -catenin association. Both Axin and APC can be phosphorylated, enhancing their affinity for β -catenin and GSK-3 β ¹¹. However, dephosphorylation by the protein phosphatases PP1 and PP2A can occur which may promote destruction complex disassembly by weakening the affinity for β catenin ^{147,148}. Further, Wnt-stimulated Axin/Dvl interaction may disrupt the composition of the destruction complex. Liu et al. demonstrated that GSK-3 β failed to immunoprecipitate with Axin or Axin2 in Wnt-stimulated L929 cells ¹⁴⁹.

Most of the studies above utilized exogenous expression of proteins involved in the pathway, potentially interfering with signalosome and destruction complex stoichiometry. A study from Hans Clevers' lab in 2012 examined the dynamics of the endogenous β -catenin

destruction complex and Wnt-induced signalosome assembly. Using Axin1

immunoprecipitation, Li et al. demonstrated that the endogenous β -catenin destruction complex maintains association upon Wnt signaling and interacts with LRP6⁸⁹. Their data support that Axin1 is degraded upon Wnt stimulation. However, this degradation occurs after 4 hours of Wnt stimulation whereas β -catenin accumulation and transcription of Wnt target genes occurs within 30 minutes to 1 hour. These data suggest that an initial Wnt response does not involve Axin degradation but may involve interaction of the complex with the Wnt receptors. Further, Li et al. demonstrated that β -catenin associates with the complex in the presence or absence of Wnt and showed that β -catenin continues to be phosphorylated within this complex⁸⁹. These data suggest that the β -catenin destruction complex is localized toward the Wnt receptors following Wnt signal presentation and that the initial events leading to Wnt pathway activation do not involve dissociation of the destruction complex or release of β -catenin, but rather a saturation of destruction complexes by β -catenin which allows it to accumulate. It is possible, however, that Axin1 is involved in multiple protein complexes in the cell, and that this is not an entirely accurate view of what occurs at the level of the Wnt receptors.

Summary

The Wnt signaling pathway is highly conserved across multicellular organisms, involved in developmental and homeostasis signaling pathways, and as such is often deregulated in many diseases. The tumor suppressor *APC* is a key negative regulator of the Wnt signaling pathway and is mutated in over 80% of human colorectal cancers. However, the functions of APC in normal β -catenin destruction complex function and β -catenin regulation are not well understood.
Further, the downstream effects and transcriptional outputs of Wnt signaling are well characterized, but the proximal events leading to inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex are lacking in mechanistic information. The Wnt pathway has enormous potential for therapeutic targeting, but without a better understanding of its mechanistic details this will likely prove to be an arduous process. In this dissertation, I explore the roles of APC in destruction complex function and localization upon Wnt ligand presentation in human colorectal epithelial cells from both a normal and cancerous origin. I also analyze the effects of "stabilizing" β -catenin mutations on β -catenin regulation and nuclear localization. Lastly, the kinetics of the Wnt response are assayed in multiple cell lines to explore how different mutations within the Wnt pathway affect the Wnt response. This work sheds light onto the underlying mechanisms of Wnt signaling and identifies new functions of APC that may assist in therapeutic targeting of this pathway.

References

- 1. Logan, C. Y. & Nusse, R. The Wnt Signaling Pathway in Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **20**, 781–810 (2004).
- Loh, K. M., van Amerongen, R. & Nusse, R. Generating Cellular Diversity and Spatial Form: Wnt Signaling and the Evolution of Multicellular Animals. *Dev. Cell* 38, 643–655 (2016).
- Nusse, R. & Clevers, H. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling, Disease, and Emerging Therapeutic Modalities. *Cell* 169, 985–999 (2017).
- 4. MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K. & He, X. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. *Dev. Cell* **17**, 9–26 (2009).
- 5. Komekado, H., Yamamoto, H., Chiba, T. & Kikuchi, A. Glycosylation and palmitoylation of Wnt-3a are coupled to produce an active form of Wnt-3a. *Genes Cells* **12**, 521–534 (2007).
- 6. Takada, R. *et al.* Monounsaturated Fatty Acid Modification of Wnt Protein: Its Role in Wnt Secretion. *Dev. Cell* **11**, 791–801 (2006).
- 7. Willert, K. *et al.* Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. *Nature* **423**, 448–452 (2003).
- 8. Aberle, H., Bauer, A., Stappert, J., Kispert, A. & Kemler, R. beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *EMBO J.* **16**, 3797–3804 (1997).
- 9. Kitagawa, M. *et al.* An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* **18**, 2401–2410 (1999).

- Liu, C. *et al.* Control of β-Catenin Phosphorylation/Degradation by a Dual-Kinase Mechanism. *Cell* **108**, 837–847 (2002).
- Stamos, J. L. & Weis, W. I. The β-Catenin Destruction Complex. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 5, a007898 (2013).
- 12. Bilić, J. *et al.* Wnt Induces LRP6 Signalosomes and Promotes Dishevelled-Dependent LRP6 Phosphorylation. *Science* **316**, 1619–1622 (2007).
- 13. Tamai, K. *et al.* LDL-receptor-related proteins in Wnt signal transduction. *Nature* **407**, 530 (2000).
- 14. Hatzis, P. *et al.* Genome-Wide Pattern of TCF7L2/TCF4 Chromatin Occupancy in Colorectal Cancer Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **28**, 2732–2744 (2008).
- 15. Watanabe, K. *et al.* Integrative ChIP-seq/Microarray Analysis Identifies a CTNNB1 Target Signature Enriched in Intestinal Stem Cells and Colon Cancer. *PLoS ONE* **9**, (2014).
- Nusse, R. & Varmus, H. E. Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. *Cell* **31**, 99–109 (1982).
- 17. van Ooyen, A. & Nusse, R. Structure and nucleotide sequence of the putative mammary oncogene int-1; proviral insertions leave the protein-encoding domain intact. *Cell* **39**, 233–240 (1984).
- 18. Rijsewijk, F. *et al.* The Drosophila homology of the mouse mammary oncogene int-1 is identical to the segment polarity gene wingless. *Cell* **50**, 649–657 (1987).
- 19. Sharma, R. P. & Chopra, V. L. Effect of the wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in Drosophila melanogaster. *Dev. Biol.* **48**, 461–465 (1976).
- 20. Nüsslein-Volhard, C. & Wieschaus, E. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. *Nature* **287**, 795–801 (1980).
- 21. Nusse, R. *et al.* A new nomenclature for int-1 and related genes: The Wnt gene family. *Cell* **64**, 231 (1991).
- 22. McMahon, A. P. & Moon, R. T. Ectopic expression of the proto-oncogene int-1 in Xenopus embryos leads to duplication of the embryonic axis. *Cell* **58**, 1075–1084 (1989).
- 23. Amerongen, R. van & Nusse, R. Towards an integrated view of Wnt signaling in development. *Development* **136**, 3205–3214 (2009).
- 24. Alonso, L. & Fuchs, E. Stem cells in the skin: waste not, Wnt not. *Genes Dev.* 17, 1189–1200 (2003).
- 25. Malhotra, S. & Kincade, P. W. Wnt-Related Molecules and Signaling Pathway Equilibrium in Hematopoiesis. *Cell Stem Cell* **4**, 27–36 (2009).
- Nemeth, M. J., Mak, K. K., Yang, Y. & Bodine, D. M. β-Catenin Expression in the Bone Marrow Microenvironment Is Required for Long-Term Maintenance of Primitive Hematopoietic Cells. *STEM CELLS* 27, 1109–1119 (2009).
- 27. Pinto, D. & Clevers, H. Wnt control of stem cells and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. *Exp. Cell Res.* **306**, 357–363 (2005).
- 28. Anastas, J. N. & Moon, R. T. WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **13**, 11–26 (2013).
- 29. Berwick, D. C. & Harvey, K. The importance of Wnt signalling for neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **40**, 1123–1128 (2012).
- 30. Chilosi, M. *et al.* Aberrant Wnt/β-Catenin Pathway Activation in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* **162**, 1495–1502 (2003).

- 31. Coste, A. de L. *et al.* Somatic mutations of the β-catenin gene are frequent in mouse and human hepatocellular carcinomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **95**, 8847–8851 (1998).
- 32. Dees, C. & Distler, J. H. W. Canonical Wnt signalling as a key regulator of fibrogenesis implications for targeted therapies? *Exp. Dermatol.* **22**, 710–713 (2013).
- 33. Inestrosa, N. C., Montecinos-Oliva, C. & Fuenzalida, M. Wnt Signaling: Role in Alzheimer Disease and Schizophrenia. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* **7**, 788–807 (2012).
- 34. Okerlund, N. D. & Cheyette, B. N. R. Synaptic Wnt signaling—a contributor to major psychiatric disorders? *J. Neurodev. Disord.* **3**, 162–174 (2011).
- 35. Schinner, S. Wnt-signalling and the Metabolic Syndrome. *Horm. Metab. Res.* **41**, 159–163 (2009).
- 36. Beers, M. F. & Morrisey, E. E. The three R's of lung health and disease: repair, remodeling, and regeneration. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2065–2073 (2011).
- Monga, S. P. S. Role of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in liver metabolism and cancer. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 43, 1021–1029 (2011).
- 38. Whyte, J. L., Smith, A. A. & Helms, J. A. Wnt Signaling and Injury Repair. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **4**, a008078 (2012).
- 39. Alberici, P. & Fodde, R. The Role of the APC Tumor Suppressor in Chromosomal Instability. *Genome Dis.* **1**, 149–170 (2006).
- 40. Cisternas, P., Henriquez, J. P., Brandan, E. & Inestrosa, N. C. Wnt Signaling in Skeletal Muscle Dynamics: Myogenesis, Neuromuscular Synapse and Fibrosis. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **49**, 574–589 (2014).
- 41. Frisch, S. M., Schaller, M. & Cieply, B. Mechanisms that link the oncogenic epithelialmesenchymal transition to suppression of anoikis. *J. Cell Sci.* **126**, 21–29 (2013).
- 42. Hoffmeyer, K. *et al.* Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Regulates Telomerase in Stem Cells and Cancer Cells. *Science* **336**, 1549–1554 (2012).
- 43. Pećina-Šlaus, N. Wnt signal transduction pathway and apoptosis: a review. *Cancer Cell Int.* **10**, 22 (2010).
- 44. Rawson, J. B. *et al.* Promoter methylation of Wnt5a is associated with microsatellite instability and BRAF V600E mutation in two large populations of colorectal cancer patients. *Br. J. Cancer* **104**, 1906–1912 (2011).
- 45. Webster, M. R. & Weeraratna, A. T. A Wnt-er Migration: The Confusing Role of β-Catenin in Melanoma Metastasis. *Sci. Signal.* **6**, pe11–pe11 (2013).
- 46. Niehrs, C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **13**, 767–779 (2012).
- 47. Yang, Y. & Mlodzik, M. Wnt-Frizzled/Planar Cell Polarity Signaling: Cellular Orientation by Facing the Wind (Wnt). *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **31**, 623–646 (2015).
- 48. Kahn, M. Can we safely target the WNT pathway? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **13**, 513–532 (2014).
- 49. Chen, B. *et al.* Small molecule–mediated disruption of Wnt-dependent signaling in tissue regeneration and cancer. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **5**, 100–107 (2009).
- 50. Fujii, N. *et al.* An Antagonist of Dishevelled Protein-Protein Interaction Suppresses β-Catenin–Dependent Tumor Cell Growth. *Cancer Res.* **67**, 573–579 (2007).
- 51. Grandy, D. *et al.* Discovery and Characterization of a Small Molecule Inhibitor of the PDZ Domain of Dishevelled. *J. Biol. Chem.* **284**, 16256–16263 (2009).

- 52. Gurney, A. *et al.* Wnt pathway inhibition via the targeting of Frizzled receptors results in decreased growth and tumorigenicity of human tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **109**, 11717–11722 (2012).
- 53. Huang, S.-M. A. *et al.* Tankyrase inhibition stabilizes axin and antagonizes Wnt signalling. *Nature* **461**, 614–620 (2009).
- 54. Lehtiö, L., Chi, N.-W. & Krauss, S. Tankyrases as drug targets. *FEBS J.* **280**, 3576–3593 (2013).
- 55. Shan, J., Shi, D.-L., Wang, J. & Zheng, J. Identification of a Specific Inhibitor of the Dishevelled PDZ Domain. *Biochemistry* **44**, 15495–15503 (2005).
- 56. Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D. & Jemal, A. Cancer statistics, 2020. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **70**, 7–30 (2020).
- 57. Siegel, R. L. et al. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2020. CA. Cancer J. Clin. n/a, (2020).
- 58. Islami, F. *et al.* Proportion and number of cancer cases and deaths attributable to potentially modifiable risk factors in the United States. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **68**, 31–54 (2018).
- 59. Jasperson, K. W., Tuohy, T. M., Neklason, D. W. & Burt, R. W. Hereditary and Familial Colon Cancer. *Gastroenterology* **138**, 2044–2058 (2010).
- 60. Fodde, R. The APC gene in colorectal cancer. Eur. J. Cancer 38, 867-871 (2002).
- 61. Kastrinos, F. & Syngal, S. Inherited Colorectal Cancer Syndromes. *Cancer J. Sudbury Mass* 17, 405–415 (2011).
- 62. Lamlum, H. *et al.* APC mutations are sufficient for the growth of early colorectal adenomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **97**, 2225–2228 (2000).
- 63. Herrera, L. *et al.* Gardner syndrome in a man with an interstitial deletion of 5q. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* **25**, 473–476 (1986).
- 64. Groden, J. *et al.* Identification and characterization of the familial adenomatous polyposis coli gene. *Cell* **66**, 589–600 (1991).
- 65. Kinzler, K. W. *et al.* Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. *Science* **253**, 661–665 (1991).
- 66. Joslyn, G. *et al.* Identification of deletion mutations and three new genes at the familial polyposis locus. *Cell* **66**, 601–613 (1991).
- 67. Kuipers, E. J. et al. Colorectal Cancer. Nat. Rev. Dis. Primer 1, 15065 (2015).
- 68. Stigliano, V., Sanchez-Mete, L., Martayan, A. & Anti, M. Early-onset colorectal cancer: A sporadic or inherited disease? *World J. Gastroenterol. WJG* **20**, 12420–12430 (2014).
- 69. Kinzler, K. W. & Vogelstein, B. Lessons from Hereditary Colorectal Cancer. *Cell* **87**, 159–170 (1996).
- 70. The Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* **487**, 330–337 (2012).
- 71. Luongo, C., Moser, A. R., Gledhill, S. & Dove, W. F. Loss of Apc+ in Intestinal Adenomas from Min Mice. *Cancer Res.* **54**, 5947–5952 (1994).
- 72. Powell, S. M. *et al.* APC mutations occur early during colorectal tumorigenesis. *Nature* **359**, 235–237 (1992).
- 73. Fearon, E. R. & Vogelstein, B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell* **61**, 759–767 (1990).
- 74. Weinberg, R. A. The Biology of Cancer. (New York: Garland Science, 2014).
- 75. Dow, L. E. *et al.* Apc Restoration Promotes Cellular Differentiation and Reestablishes Crypt Homeostasis in Colorectal Cancer. *Cell* **161**, 1539–1552 (2015).

- 76. Moser, A. R., Pitot, H. C. & Dove, W. F. A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. *Science* **247**, 322–324 (1990).
- 77. Su, L. K. *et al.* Multiple intestinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the APC gene. *Science* **256**, 668–670 (1992).
- 78. Rubinfeld, B. *et al.* Association of the APC gene product with beta-catenin. *Science* **262**, 1731–1734 (1993).
- 79. Su, L. K., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Association of the APC tumor suppressor protein with catenins. *Science* **262**, 1734–1737 (1993).
- 80. McCrea, P. D., Turck, C. W. & Gumbiner, B. A homolog of the armadillo protein in Drosophila (plakoglobin) associated with E-cadherin. *Science* **254**, 1359–1361 (1991).
- 81. Ozawa, M., Baribault, H. & Kemler, R. The cytoplasmic domain of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin associates with three independent proteins structurally related in different species. *EMBO J.* **8**, 1711–1717 (1989).
- 82. Takeichi, M. Cadherins: a molecular family important in selective cell-cell adhesion. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **59**, 237–252 (1990).
- 83. Klaus, A. & Birchmeier, W. Wnt signalling and its impact on development and cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **8**, 387–398 (2008).
- 84. Nusse, R. & Varmus, H. Three decades of Wnts: a personal perspective on how a scientific field developed. *EMBO J.* **31**, 2670–2684 (2012).
- 85. Lindeboom, R. G. H., Supek, F. & Lehner, B. The rules and impact of nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in human cancers. *Nat. Genet.* **48**, 1112–1118 (2016).
- 86. Mori, Y. *et al.* Somatic mutations of the APC gene in colorectal tumors: mutation cluster region in the APC gene. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **1**, 229–233 (1992).
- Senda, T., Iizuka-Kogo, A., Onouchi, T. & Shimomura, A. Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) plays multiple roles in the intestinal and colorectal epithelia. *Med. Mol. Morphol.* 40, 68–81 (2007).
- Kishida, S. *et al.* Axin, a Negative Regulator of the Wnt Signaling Pathway, Directly Interacts with Adenomatous Polyposis Coli and Regulates the Stabilization of β-Catenin. J. *Biol. Chem.* 273, 10823–10826 (1998).
- 89. Li, V. S. W. *et al.* Wnt Signaling through Inhibition of β-Catenin Degradation in an Intact Axin1 Complex. *Cell* **149**, 1245–1256 (2012).
- 90. Kohler, E. M., Chandra, S. H. V., Behrens, J. & Schneikert, J. β-Catenin degradation mediated by the CID domain of APC provides a model for the selection of APC mutations in colorectal, desmoid and duodenal tumours. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 213–226 (2009).
- Clevers, H. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling in Development and Disease. Cell 127, 469–480 (2006).
- 92. Zhang, L. & Shay, J. W. Multiple Roles of APC and its Therapeutic Implications in Colorectal Cancer. *JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **109**, (2017).
- Albuquerque, C. *et al.* The 'just-right' signaling model: APC somatic mutations are selected based on a specific level of activation of the β-catenin signaling cascade. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 11, 1549–1560 (2002).
- 94. Kwong, L. N. & Dove, W. F. APC and its modifiers in colon cancer. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **656**, 85–106 (2009).
- 95. Miyaki, M. *et al.* Characteristics of Somatic Mutation of the Adenomatous Polyposis Coli Gene in Colorectal Tumors. *Cancer Res.* **54**, 3011–3020 (1994).

- 96. Neufeld, K. L. & White, R. L. Nuclear and cytoplasmic localizations of the adenomatous polyposis coli protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **94**, 3034–3039 (1997).
- 97. Spirio, L. *et al.* Linkage of a variant or attenuated form of adenomatous polyposis coli to the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) locus. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **51**, 92–100 (1992).
- 98. Behrens, J. *et al.* Functional Interaction of an Axin Homolog, Conductin, with β-Catenin, APC, and GSK3β. *Science* **280**, 596–599 (1998).
- 99. Hart, M. *et al.* The F-box protein β-TrCP associates with phosphorylated β-catenin and regulates its activity in the cell. *Curr. Biol.* **9**, 207–211 (1999).
- 100. Latres, E., Chiaur, D. S. & Pagano, M. The human F box protein β-Trcp associates with the Cull/Skp1 complex and regulates the stability of β-catenin. *Oncogene* **18**, 849–854 (1999).
- 101. Winston, J. T. *et al.* The SCF β -TRCP–ubiquitin ligase complex associates specifically with phosphorylated destruction motifs in I κ B α and β -catenin and stimulates I κ B α ubiquitination in vitro. *Genes Dev.* **13**, 270–283 (1999).
- 102. Lee, E., Salic, A., Krüger, R., Heinrich, R. & Kirschner, M. W. The Roles of APC and Axin Derived from Experimental and Theoretical Analysis of the Wnt Pathway. *PLOS Biol.* **1**, e10 (2003).
- 103. Ikeda, S. *et al.* Axin, a negative regulator of the Wnt signaling pathway, forms a complex with GSK-3beta and beta-catenin and promotes GSK-3beta-dependent phosphorylation of beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* **17**, 1371–1384 (1998).
- 104. Sakanaka, C., Weiss, J. B. & Williams, L. T. Bridging of β-catenin and glycogen synthase kinase-3β by Axin and inhibition of β-catenin-mediated transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **95**, 3020–3023 (1998).
- 105. Kitazawa, M. *et al.* Determination of Rate-Limiting Factor for Formation of Beta-Catenin Destruction Complexes Using Absolute Protein Quantification. J. Proteome Res. 16, 3576– 3584 (2017).
- 106. Pronobis, M. I., Rusan, N. M. & Peifer, M. A novel GSK3-regulated APC:Axin interaction regulates Wnt signaling by driving a catalytic cycle of efficient βcatenin destruction. *eLife* 4, e08022 (2015).
- 107. Azzolin, L. *et al.* YAP/TAZ Incorporation in the β-Catenin Destruction Complex Orchestrates the Wnt Response. *Cell* **158**, 157–170 (2014).
- 108. Su, Y. *et al.* APC Is Essential for Targeting Phosphorylated β-Catenin to the SCFβ-TrCP Ubiquitin Ligase. *Mol. Cell* **32**, 652–661 (2008).
- 109. Zhang, F., White, R. L. & Neufeld, K. L. Phosphorylation near nuclear localization signal regulates nuclear import of adenomatous polyposis coli protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97, 12577–12582 (2000).
- 110. Henderson, B. R. Nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of APC regulates β-catenin subcellular localization and turnover. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2**, 653–660 (2000).
- 111. Neufeld, K. L. *et al.* Adenomatous polyposis coli protein contains two nuclear export signals and shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97, 12085– 12090 (2000).
- 112. Neufeld, K. L. Nuclear APC. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 656, 13-29 (2009).
- Neufeld, K. L., Zhang, F., Cullen, B. R. & White, R. L. APC-mediated downregulation of catenin activity involves nuclear sequestration and nuclear export. *EMBO Rep.* 1, 519–523 (2000).
- 114. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Townsley, F. & Bienz, M. The APC tumour suppressor has a nuclear export function. *Nature* **406**, 1009 (2000).

- 115. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Cliffe, A., Brabletz, T. & Bienz, M. Nuclear export of the APC tumour suppressor controls β-catenin function in transcription. *EMBO J.* 22, 1101–1113 (2003).
- 116. Sierra, J., Yoshida, T., Joazeiro, C. A. & Jones, K. A. The APC tumor suppressor counteracts β-catenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Dev.* 20, 586–600 (2006).
- 117. Zeineldin, M. *et al.* A knock-in mouse model reveals roles for nuclear Apc in cell proliferation, Wnt signal inhibition and tumor suppression. *Oncogene* **31**, 2423–2437 (2012).
- 118. Janda, C. Y., Waghray, D., Levin, A. M., Thomas, C. & Garcia, K. C. Structural Basis of Wnt Recognition by Frizzled. *Science* **337**, 59–64 (2012).
- 119. Bhanot, P. *et al.* A new member of the frizzled family from Drosophila functions as a Wingless receptor. *Nature* **382**, 225–230 (1996).
- 120. Hsieh, J.-C., Rattner, A., Smallwood, P. M. & Nathans, J. Biochemical characterization of Wnt-Frizzled interactions using a soluble, biologically active vertebrate Wnt protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 96, 3546–3551 (1999).
- 121. DeBruine, Z. J. *et al.* Wnt5a promotes Frizzled-4 signalosome assembly by stabilizing cysteine-rich domain dimerization. *Genes Dev.* **31**, 916–926 (2017).
- 122. Nile, A. H., Mukund, S., Stanger, K., Wang, W. & Hannoush, R. N. Unsaturated fatty acyl recognition by Frizzled receptors mediates dimerization upon Wnt ligand binding. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **114**, 4147–4152 (2017).
- 123. Bourhis, E. *et al.* Reconstitution of a Frizzled8·Wnt3a·LRP6 Signaling Complex Reveals Multiple Wnt and Dkk1 Binding Sites on LRP6. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 9172–9179 (2010).
- 124. He, X., Semenov, M., Tamai, K. & Zeng, X. LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/β-catenin signaling: Arrows point the way. *Development* 131, 1663–1677 (2004).
- 125. Gao, C. & Chen, Y.-G. Dishevelled: The hub of Wnt signaling. *Cell. Signal.* **22**, 717–727 (2010).
- 126. Yost, C. *et al.* GBP, an Inhibitor of GSK-3, Is Implicated in Xenopus Development and Oncogenesis. *Cell* **93**, 1031–1041 (1998).
- 127. Schwarz-Romond, T. *et al.* The DIX domain of Dishevelled confers Wnt signaling by dynamic polymerization. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **14**, 484 (2007).
- 128. Gammons, M. V., Renko, M., Johnson, C. M., Rutherford, T. J. & Bienz, M. Wnt Signalosome Assembly by DEP Domain Swapping of Dishevelled. *Mol. Cell* 64, 92–104 (2016).
- 129. Rousseau, F., Schymkowitz, J. W. H. & Itzhaki, L. S. The Unfolding Story of Three-Dimensional Domain Swapping. *Structure* **11**, 243–251 (2003).
- 130. Tauriello, D. V. F. *et al.* Wnt/β-catenin signaling requires interaction of the Dishevelled DEP domain and C terminus with a discontinuous motif in Frizzled. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **109**, E812–E820 (2012).
- 131. Gammons, M. & Bienz, M. Multiprotein complexes governing Wnt signal transduction. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **51**, 42–49 (2018).
- 132. Petersen, J. *et al.* Agonist-induced dimer dissociation as a macromolecular step in G protein-coupled receptor signaling. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 226 (2017).
- 133. Fiedler, M., Mendoza-Topaz, C., Rutherford, T. J., Mieszczanek, J. & Bienz, M. Dishevelled interacts with the DIX domain polymerization interface of Axin to interfere

with its function in down-regulating β -catenin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **108**, 1937–1942 (2011).

- 134. Tamai, K. *et al.* A Mechanism for Wnt Coreceptor Activation. *Mol. Cell* **13**, 149–156 (2004).
- Davidson, G. *et al.* Casein kinase 1 γ couples Wnt receptor activation to cytoplasmic signal transduction. *Nature* 438, 867–872 (2005).
- 136. Zeng, X. *et al.* A dual-kinase mechanism for Wnt co-receptor phosphorylation and activation. *Nature* **438**, 873 (2005).
- 137. Stamos, J. L., Chu, M. L.-H., Enos, M. D., Shah, N. & Weis, W. I. Structural basis of GSK-3 inhibition by N-terminal phosphorylation and by the Wnt receptor LRP6. *eLife* 3, e01998 (2014).
- 138. Piao, S. *et al.* Direct Inhibition of GSK3β by the Phosphorylated Cytoplasmic Domain of LRP6 in Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling. *PLOS ONE* **3**, e4046 (2008).
- 139. Wu, G., Huang, H., Abreu, J. G. & He, X. Inhibition of GSK3 Phosphorylation of β-Catenin via Phosphorylated PPPSPXS Motifs of Wnt Coreceptor LRP6. *PLOS ONE* 4, e4926 (2009).
- 140. Kim, I. *et al.* Clathrin and AP2 are required for PtdIns(4,5)P2-mediated formation of LRP6 signalosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* **200**, 419–428 (2013).
- 141. Saito-Diaz, K. *et al.* APC Inhibits Ligand-Independent Wnt Signaling by the Clathrin Endocytic Pathway. *Dev. Cell* 44, 566-581.e8 (2018).
- 142. Rim, E. Y., Kinney, L. K. & Nusse, R. Beta-catenin-mediated Wnt signal transduction proceeds through an endocytosis-independent mechanism. *Mol. Biol. Cell* mbc.E20-02-0114 (2020) doi:10.1091/mbc.E20-02-0114.
- 143. Angers, S. & Moon, R. T. Proximal events in Wnt signal transduction. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **10**, 468–477 (2009).
- 144. Takacs, C. M. *et al.* Dual Positive and Negative Regulation of Wingless Signaling by Adenomatous Polyposis Coli. *Science* **319**, 333–336 (2008).
- 145. Mao, J. *et al.* Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein-5 Binds to Axin and Regulates the Canonical Wnt Signaling Pathway. *Mol. Cell* **7**, 801–809 (2001).
- 146. Tolwinski, N. S. *et al.* Wg/Wnt Signal Can Be Transmitted through Arrow/LRP5,6 and Axin Independently of Zw3/Gsk3β Activity. *Dev. Cell* **4**, 407–418 (2003).
- 147. Luo, W. *et al.* Protein phosphatase 1 regulates assembly and function of the β-catenin degradation complex. *EMBO J.* **26**, 1511–1521 (2007).
- 148. Strovel, E. T., Wu, D. & Sussman, D. J. Protein Phosphatase 2Cα Dephosphorylates Axin and Activates LEF-1-dependent Transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 2399–2403 (2000).
- 149. Liu, X., Rubin, J. S. & Kimmel, A. R. Rapid, Wnt-Induced Changes in GSK3β Associations that Regulate β-Catenin Stabilization Are Mediated by Gα Proteins. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 1989–1997 (2005).

Chapter 2

APC controls Wnt-induced β-catenin destruction complex recruitment in human colonocytes

The data and opinions in this chapter were published previously and reformatted for this dissertation:

Parker, T.W. and Neufeld, K.L. (2020). "APC controls Wnt-induced β -catenin destruction complex recruitment in human colonocytes." *Scientific Reports* 10, 1-14.

Abstract

Wnt/ β -catenin signaling is essential for intestinal homeostasis and is aberrantly activated in most colorectal cancers (CRC) through mutation of the tumor suppressor *Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC)*. APC is an essential component of a cytoplasmic protein complex that targets β -catenin for destruction. Following Wnt ligand presentation, this complex is inhibited. However, a role for APC in this inhibition has not been shown. Here, we utilized Wnt3a-beads to locally activate Wnt co-receptors. In response, the endogenous β -catenin destruction complex reorientated toward the local Wnt cue in CRC cells with full-length APC, but not if APC was truncated or depleted. Non-transformed human colon epithelial cells displayed similar Wntinduced destruction complex localization which appeared to be dependent on APC and less so on Axin. Our results expand the current model of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling such that in response to Wnt, the β -catenin destruction complex: 1) maintains composition and binding to β -catenin, 2) moves toward the plasma membrane, and 3) requires full-length APC for this relocalization.

Introduction

The Wnt signaling pathway is essential for cell proliferation, cell polarity, developmental cell-fate determination, and tissue homeostasis ¹. As a result, deregulation of Wnt signaling is often associated with cancer and other diseases ^{2,3}. Notably, over 90% of colorectal cancers (CRC) have mutations that activate the Wnt pathway with over 80% containing mutations in the Wnt antagonist *Adenomatous Polyposis Coli* (*APC*) ⁴. Human *APC* mutations commonly arise in a central region of the open reading frame, referred to as the "mutation cluster region" (MCR, Fig. 2.1A), resulting in a truncated protein product ⁵. APC truncation results in loss of multiple β-catenin binding sites (20R), Axin interaction sites (SAMP), nuclear localization sequences, and

a C-terminal basic region which mediates cytoskeletal interactions (Fig 2.1A). Germline or sporadic *APC* mutations in colon stem cells lead to polyp formation and are considered initiating events in colorectal tumorigenesis ^{6,7}. In the context of Wnt signaling, it is well established that APC acts as a scaffold in the β -catenin destruction complex. Given that other proteins involved in this complex could be altered to activate Wnt signaling, it is curious that *APC* mutations predominate in CRCs. One potential explanation for this is that APC performs additional critical functions both inside and outside the context of Wnt signaling.

The canonical Wnt pathway serves to regulate the level of transcriptional coactivator β catenin ^{8,9}. To prevent aberrant transcriptional activation in the absence of Wnt, a cytoplasmic β catenin destruction complex composed of APC, Axin, CK1- α , and GSK-3 β maintains low levels of β -catenin through sequestration, phosphorylation, and β -TrCP-mediated ubiquitination, leading to proteasomal degradation ^{10–12}. However, if a Wnt ligand binds the co-receptors Frizzled (FZD) and low-density lipoprotein receptor 5/6 (LRP5/6) to form the heterotrimeric "signalosome," the β -catenin destruction complex is inhibited through an incompletely resolved mechanism ^{13,14}. While the downstream effects of Wnt signaling have been extensively analyzed, the specific molecular events which cause destruction complex inhibition are not well understood. Further, the exact roles of APC in normal destruction complex function have remained elusive, and it has not been determined whether APC is also involved in promoting the transduction of a Wnt signal.

Wnt ligands are required for intestinal stem cell (ISC) self-renewal and crypt homeostasis ^{15–17}. Traditionally, these intestinal Wnt ligands have been thought to diffuse from the crypt base toward the luminal surface to form a signaling gradient. However, Wnt was recently shown to predominantly engage with FZD receptors on the ISCs that were immediately adjacent to Wnt-

secreting cells and not those that were further removed from the Wnt source. These findings are inconsistent with a Wnt diffusion model, but instead support a model whereby Wnt is initially bound to receptors following secretion and forms a gradient through receptor turnover and cell division ¹⁸. Therefore, intestinal Wnt signaling may convey positional information within the crypt and direct intracellular protein localization based on the location of the Wnt source. In the current study, we will examine the effect of a local, immobilized Wnt signal on colon epithelial cells.

Several challenges have historically limited our understanding of Wnt signaling dynamics as it relates to intestinal homeostasis in the normal and cancerous state. Due to the widespread use of the $Apc^{Min/+}$ mouse model, much focus has been directed to the small intestine rather than the colon, the site of most tumor-initiating *APC* mutations in humans ¹⁹. Further, very little is known about Wnt signaling in colon epithelial cells that are from non-malignant origin, as most studies utilize only cultured CRC cell lines. Finally, prior research has mostly relied on overexpression of specific Wnt pathway components or cells treated with soluble Wnt in the media, limiting the ability to elucidate endogenous β -catenin destruction complex dynamics in response to a local Wnt signal (reviewed in ³).

Here, we examine the response of endogenous β -catenin destruction complex components to a locally presented Wnt signal in human colon epithelial cells of both malignant and non-malignant origin. We demonstrate for the first time that a localized Wnt source can recruit the signalosome and β -catenin destruction complex in colon epithelial cells and find that this Wnt-induced recruitment requires full-length APC. Our work identifies a novel role for APC in the regulation of destruction complex movement toward the membrane following Wnt exposure.

Results

Wild-type APC, but not truncated mutant APC is recruited toward local Wnt3a in human colon cancer cells

Since *APC* is mutated in >80% of colorectal cancers and is a major scaffolding protein for the β -catenin destruction complex, we first asked whether APC redistributes toward a localized Wnt3a signal in a panel of human CRC cell lines. Three colon cancer cell lines, each with a different Wnt pathway status, were used: RKO (intact Wnt signaling pathway), HCT116 β m (WT APC, stabilized β -catenin due to Ser45 deletion) ²⁰, and DLD1 cells (APC truncation at amino acid 1452, WT β -catenin, see Fig. 2.1A). Previous studies relied on Wnt addition to cell culture media, thus limiting the ability to examine responses to a localized stimulus. To address this issue and examine endogenous protein response to a locally applied Wnt source – we treated cells with Wnt3a-conjugated or Unloaded-beads.

Cells treated for 12-14 hours with Wnt- or Unloaded-beads were fixed and stained for APC (Fig. 2.1B). Protein localization was scored as: (A) toward the bead, (B) away from the bead, or (C) no obvious protein polarization (Fig. 1C). Scoring results were validated with line-scan analysis. Full-length APC localized toward the Wnt3a-bead in 76% of RKO (Fig. 2.1D) and 80% of HCT116βm cells (Fig. 2.1E). In contrast, truncated APC localized toward the Wnt-bead in only 53% of DLD-1 cells (Fig. 2.1F). In all cases, the majority of cells treated with Unloaded-beads displayed random distribution of APC, suggesting that physical contact with an Unloaded-bead is not sufficient to re-orient APC. These data demonstrate that Wnt exposure induces APC re-localization toward the Wnt source in multiple human CRC lines. Furthermore, this process appears to be compromised in cells carrying truncated APC but remains functional in cells with



Figure 2.1 *APC orientation in response to localized Wnt-3a in a panel of colorectal cancer cell lines.* (A) Fulllength APC and its interaction domains. Truncated APC found in DLD1 cells results in loss of the C-terminal half of the protein. (B) Schematic of experimental design. One day after seeding onto fibronectin-coated coverslips, cells were treated with Wnt3a-beads for 12-14 hours, then fixed and processed for immunofluorescence microscopy. (C) Scoring criteria for protein localization. (D) Representative images of APC localization in RKO cells treated with Unloaded-bead (UB) or Wnt3a-bead (WB). Representative line scan of bright-field (BF, yellow region analyzed) demonstrates increased APC signal intensity near the WB but not the UB. For line scan graphs, intensity in arbitrary units (AU) of bead = black; DAPI = blue; APC = red. Below line scan graphs, results from three independent experiments were averaged and graphed with error bars representing SEM. For each experiment 25 cells were scored per condition. Statistical analysis by t-test: *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001. (E and F) Representative images, line scans, and scoring results for HCT116βm and DLD-1 cells, respectively. Scale bar, 10 µm.

an activated Wnt/ β -catenin transcriptional program due to stabilized β -catenin. The phenotypic consequences of truncated APC have been previously postulated to act in a "just-right" signaling model, in which truncated APC retains partial β -catenin regulatory function to allow a specific level of Wnt activation ²¹. Because truncated APC shows reduced ability to localize toward a Wnt source, it is possible that this partial localization is a method to obtain a precise level of Wnt-response.

Wnt components are recruited toward localized Wnt3a in cells with an intact Wnt signaling pathway

Since APC is a key scaffold for the β -catenin destruction complex, we reasoned that additional members of the destruction complex and signalosome may also localize near a Wntbead. RKO cells with an intact Wnt signaling pathway were treated with beads and then stained for the scaffolding protein Axin1, kinases CK1- α and GSK-3 β , the Wnt receptor FZD7, the ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP, and β -catenin. FZD7 was chosen for its defined role in gastrointestinal homeostasis ^{22–24}.

Distinct Axin1 puncta were observed near the Wnt-bead (Fig. 2.2A). While RKO cells contain low levels of β -catenin due to an intact Wnt pathway, they do have visible β -catenin staining which can be scored. Treatment with Unloaded-beads failed to induce relocalization of β -catenin (Fig. 2.2B). However, in cells treated with a Wnt-bead, β -catenin levels increase and β catenin localized toward the bead (Fig. 2.2B). Of note, the ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP also localized toward the bead (Fig. 2.2F). These findings suggest that upon Wnt/FZD binding, the cytoplasmic destruction complex relocates to the membrane and is able to recruit β -TrCP but falls short of targeting β -catenin for destruction. This result is consistent with a model proposed by Li et al.



Figure 2.2 *Wnt signaling pathway components localize toward a Wnt-bead.* Representative images of RKO cells (CRC line with intact Wnt signaling pathway) treated with UB or WB as in Fig. 1A and stained for (A) Axin1, (B) β -catenin, (C) CK1- α , (D) GSK-3 β , (E) Frizzled-7, or (F) β -TrCP. Below representative images are bar graphs of the scoring quantification. Data averaged from three independent experiments (n=25 cells per condition). Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001. Representative line scans provided in supplemental figure 1. Scale bar, 10 µm.

whereby the destruction complex saturates with β -catenin, leaving newly synthesized β -catenin to control downstream Wnt target gene expression following Wnt stimulation ²⁵. The kinases CK1- α and GSK-3 β were also detected near the Wnt-bead (Fig. 2.2C, D), as was the Wnt receptor FZD7 (Fig. 2.2E).

To test for a physical interaction between the Wnt-coated beads and destruction complex components, the beads were used to "pull down" Wnt and associated proteins from lysates of Wnt-bead-treated cells. APC and β -catenin each associated more with Wnt-beads than with Unloaded-beads (Fig. 2.3). Together, these data demonstrate that signalosome and destruction complex proteins concentrate near a local Wnt3a cue and do not fully disassemble in response to ~12-hour exposure to a Wnt3a bead. Furthermore, these data support a model in which β -catenin remains associated with the destruction complex following Wnt stimulation.

Stabilized β -catenin does not impact Wnt component localization in response to Wnt3a

In colorectal cancer, mutations in the APC and β -catenin encoding genes appear to be mutually exclusive. Though most CRCs have *APC* mutations, about half of the small subset of colorectal cancers with wild-type *APC* harbor mutations that activate β -catenin ²⁶. These mutations typically result in loss of specific β -catenin residues whose phosphorylation is critical for ubiquitin conjugation and proteasome-mediated destruction. To determine whether such "stabilizing" β -catenin mutations would compromise orientation of Wnt signaling components toward a localized Wnt3a, we examined HCT116 β m cells. Unlike the parental HCT116 cells, which express both wild-type and mutant β -catenin, HCT116 β m possess only one mutant β catenin allele encoding a Ser45 deletion ²⁰. Ser45 phosphorylation by CK1- α primes the successive phosphorylation of Thr41, Ser37, and Ser33 by GSK-3 β , a prerequisite for



Figure 2.3 *Wnt-beads pull-down APC and* β *-catenin.* (A) RKO cells treated with Unloaded-beads or Wnt-beads were lysed and proteins pulled-down with the beads. APC and β -catenin were detected in the Wnt-bead pull-down but not the Unloaded-bead pull-down. Images are from the same gel/membrane cut between 50 and 70 kDa and probed for APC and β -catenin (above 70 kDa) or α -tubulin (below 50 kDa). Multi-channel imaging was performed for APC and β -catenin through IRDye infrared secondary antibodies to allow detection on the same membrane. (B-C) Quantification of APC and β -catenin protein pulled-down by Wnt-beads compared to Unloaded-beads from five independent experiments. Protein levels of APC and β -catenin that were pulled down by Unloaded-beads or Wnt-beads were divided by the respective input protein levels and normalized to the Unloaded-bead to demonstrate fold change of APC (B) and β -catenin (C). Error bars, SEM.

recognition and ubiquitination by β -TrCP ^{10–12}. Note that APC localized toward the Wnt-bead in both RKO and HCT116 β m cells (Fig. 2.1D, E).

As seen in RKO cells, Axin1 localized in distinct puncta near the Wnt-bead in HCT116βm cells (Fig. 2.4A). Despite expressing only stabilized β-catenin, HCT116βm cells exhibited both CK1-α and GSK-3β localized toward the Wnt-bead (Fig. 2.4C, D). This finding demonstrates that CK1- α recruitment to the destruction complex is not dependent on Ser45 of β catenin, nor is GSK-3β recruitment dependent on Ser45 phosphorylation. FZD7 was also detected near the Wnt-bead (Fig. 2.4E). Notably, β -catenin also localized near the Wnt-bead (Fig. 2.4B), suggesting that the destruction complex maintains association with stabilized β catenin, even in the absence of degradation. On the other hand, β -TrCP failed to localize toward the Wnt-bead in HCT116 β m cells (Fig. 2.4F), demonstrating that β -catenin Ser45 is necessary for β -TrCP association with the destruction complex. Therefore, β -TrCP does not appear to be an inherent member of the destruction complex, but rather, is recruited following β -catenin phosphorylation. Together, these results demonstrate that an activated Wnt pathway through β catenin stabilization is not sufficient to block orientation of core destruction complex proteins toward localized Wnt. β-TrCP failed to localize toward the Wnt cue, consistent with CK1-α phosphorylation of β -catenin as a prerequisite for β -TrCP recruitment.

Cells lacking full-length APC are compromised for Wnt component localization toward Wnt

Both HCT116 β m and DLD1 cells possess an activated Wnt/ β -catenin transcriptional program, induced by mutation of β -*catenin* or *APC*, respectively. As described, with the exception of β -TrCP, Wnt pathway components remained able to orient toward a localized Wnt source in HCT116 β m cells (Fig. 2.4). DLD1 cells have a mutation in the mutation cluster region



Figure 2.4 Activated Wnt signaling through stabilized β -catenin does not alter Wnt-mediated signaling pathway component localization. Representative images of HCT116 β m cells (CRC line with single allele encoding β -catenin that cannot be phosphorylated by CK1- α) treated with UB or WB as in Fig. 1A. Phosphorylation by CK1- α is reported to be a prerequisite for phosphorylation by GSK-3 β and subsequent ubiquitin-mediated degradation. Representative images and scoring shown for (A) Axin1, (B) β -catenin, (C) CK1- α , (D) GSK-3 β , (E) Frizzled-7, and (F) β -TrCP. Data averaged from three independent experiments (n=25 cells per condition). Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001. Representative line scans provided in supplemental figure 2. Scale bar, 10 µm.

that leads to a truncated APC protein lacking the Axin-binding SAMP motifs and most of the β catenin-binding 20aa repeats (Fig. 2.1A). However, this truncated APC was reported to coprecipitate with Axin1, suggesting that it maintains its scaffolding properties ²⁵. Given that truncated APC appeared compromised for orientation toward a Wnt-bead in DLD1 cells (Fig. 2.1F), we asked whether other β -catenin destruction complex members also displayed diminished localization toward a Wnt3a source.

If APC only serves as a destruction complex scaffold, then we would expect normal destruction complex orientation in DLD1 cells. Instead, we found that Axin1 localization to the Wnt3a-bead was detected in only 30% of DLD-1 cells (Fig. 2.5A), compared to 61% of RKO cells (Fig. 2.2A) and was not significantly different than localization to the Unloaded-bead. GSK-3 β and β -TrCP were also compromised for Wnt-bead orientation in DLD1 cells (Fig. 2.5D, F). Of all proteins analyzed in DLD1 cells, only CK1- α and FZD7 were localized toward the Wnt-bead more than the Unloaded-bead (Fig. 2.5C, E). However, even this Wnt-bead localization was observed much less frequently in DLD1 cells than in RKO or HCT116 β m cells, which contain full-length APC. Subcellular β -catenin reorientation could not be assessed by visual inspection of DLD1 cells due to overall high protein levels. However, line scan analyses demonstrated that β -catenin also failed to relocate in response to a Wnt-bead (Fig. 2.S3).

Together, these results indicate that full-length APC is necessary for optimal destruction complex orientation in response to a Wnt cue. Given that truncated APC co-precipitates with Axin1 and the destruction complex in DLD1 cells ²⁵, our results also suggest that APC mediates destruction complex localization by a mechanism independent of, or in addition to, its role as a scaffold for the complex. Truncated APC in DLD1 cells lacks domains that bind dynein ²⁷, kinesin ²⁸, and microtubules ^{27–30}. These interactions potentially contribute to movement of the



Figure 2.5 *CRC cells with truncated APC display diminished association of Wnt signaling pathway components toward localized Wnt.* Representative images of DLD-1 cells (CRC line a expressing only truncated APC (amino acids 1-1472)) treated with UB or WB. Representative images and scoring shown for (A) Axin1, (B) β -catenin, (C) CK1- α , (D) GSK-3 β , (E) Frizzled-7, and (F) β -TrCP. Data averaged from three independent experiments (n=25 cells per condition). Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001. Representative line scans provided in supplemental figure 3. Scale bar, 10 μ m.

destruction complex toward the Wnt source. However, because localization of FZD7 and CK1- α toward the Wnt-bead was decreased, but still present, it appears that truncated APC retains some ability to localize the complex or that alternative mechanisms may be able to localize these proteins in the absence of full-length APC.

APC loss impairs Wnt-induced destruction complex reorientation

Given that the β -catenin destruction complex localized toward a Wnt-bead in CRC cell lines with wild-type APC but was impaired in cells with truncated APC, we hypothesized that destruction complex localization requires full-length APC. To test the APC-dependence of Wntinduced destruction complex localization, we utilized RKO-APC^{KO} cells, generated through CRISPR/Cas9 by Lee and colleagues ³¹. Immunofluorescent microscopy revealed reduced APC signal in RKO-APC^{KO} cells compared to the parental RKO cell line (Fig. 2.6A). While parental RKO cells displayed Wnt-induced localization of β -catenin in 70% of cells scored (Fig. 2.2B), this localization was seen in only 25% of the RKO-APC^{KO} cells (Fig. 2.6B, E). Further, Axin1 and GSK-3 β failed to relocalize toward a Wnt-bead in the RKO-APC^{KO} cells (Fig. 2.6C, F & 2.6D, G). These data demonstrate that Wnt-induced destruction complex localization in CRC cells is dependent on APC.

Wnt triggers destruction complex reorientation in normal human colonic epithelial cells in an APC-dependent manner

In normal colon tissue, adult stem cells facilitate the continual regeneration of the epithelial lining and rely on Wnt ligand for maintenance of the stem cell niche. Having observed Wnt-mediated re-localization of the β -catenin destruction complex in human colon cancer cell



Figure 2.6 APC knockout in CRC cells impairs Wnt-induced β -catenin destruction complex localization. (A) APC staining in RKO and RKO-APC^{KO} cells. (B-D) Representative images of RKO-APC^{KO} cells treated with UB or WB. Representative images and scoring shown for (B,E) β -catenin, (C,F) Axin1, and (D,G) GSK-3 β . Data averaged from three independent experiments (n=25 cells per condition). Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001. Scale bar, 10 μ m.

lines, we wondered if normal human colon stem cells also displayed this property and if so, whether this relocalization was APC-dependent. To address this, we sought human colonic epithelial cells (HCECs) that were isolated from normal tissue and propagated in culture under near physiological conditions (low oxygen and sera). Shay and colleagues isolated HCECs from routine colonoscopy and immortalized them with expression of cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (Cdk4) and human telomerase (hTERT) ³². These "HCEC 1CT" cells also express endogenous stem cell markers and are able to differentiate into multiple cell lineages making them a unique and valuable model of normal colon epithelial stem cells.

Using HCEC 1CT cells, we depleted APC levels with siRNA (siAPC) and then determined localization of β -catenin, Axin1 and GSK3 β . APC knock-down was efficient in HCEC 1CT and resulted in increased β -catenin protein levels, as expected (Fig. 2.7A). In cells treated with scrambled siRNA (siCtl), Wnt-bead exposure resulted in re-orientation of APC, β catenin, Axin1, and GSK-3 β toward the Wnt source (Fig. 2.7B-I). Therefore, normal nontransformed human colonic epithelial cells maintain the ability to re-orient the β -catenin destruction complex toward a Wnt cue. Remarkably, APC knock-down resulted in complete loss of β -catenin, Axin1, and GSK-3 β orientation toward the Wnt-bead (Fig 2.7C-E, G-I). Distinct β catenin puncta were visualized near Wnt-beads in siCtl HCEC 1CT cells. In contrast, β -catenin levels were increased with diffuse cytoplasmic staining and prominent nuclear localization in HCEC 1CT cells depleted of APC but lacked localization toward the Wnt-bead (siAPC, Fig. 2.7C). These data are in agreement with the findings in RKO-APC^{KO} cells (Fig. 2.6).

Like APC, Axin1 is a key scaffolding protein in the β -catenin destruction complex, and thus, might control proper localization of the complex. Using HCEC 1CT cells, we depleted



Figure 2.7 *The* β -*catenin destruction complex localizes toward Wnt in normal human colonic epithelial cells in an APC-dependent manner.* Representative images and scoring analysis of HCEC 1CT cells (immortalized cells from normal human colon) treated with control siRNA (siCtl), APC siRNA (siAPC), or Axin1 siRNA (siAxin1) for 48 hours prior to UB or WB treatment. (A) APC knock-down in HCEC 1CT cells. Images are from the same gel/membrane. Membrane was cut between 50 and 70 kDa and probed for APC and β -catenin (above 70 kDa) or β -actin (below 50 kDa). Multi-channel imaging was performed for APC and β -catenin through IRDye infrared secondary antibodies so that they could be probed on the same membrane. (B, C, F, G) HCEC 1CT stained for β -catenin and APC (channels separated). (D, H) HCEC 1CT stained for Axin1. (E, I) HCEC 1CT stained for GSK- $\beta\beta$. (J) Axin1 knock-down in HCEC 1CT cells. Images are from the same gel/membrane cut as in (A) and probed for Axin1 and β -catenin (above 70 kDa) or α -tubulin (below 50 kDa). Asterisk indicates non-specific band. (K-M) Representative images and scoring analysis of APC and β -catenin localization in Axin1-depleted HCEC 1CT cells. Data averaged from three independent experiments (n = 25 cells per condition). Error bars, SEM: Statistical analysis by t-test: *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001. Scale bar, 10 µm.

Axin1 with siRNA (siAxin1) and determined the localization of APC and β-catenin. Both APC and β-catenin still localized toward the Wnt-bead in Axin1-depleted HCEC 1CT cells (Fig. 2.7 L, M). However, this bead-induced redistribution did appear to be slightly compromised compared to that seen in siCtl HCEC 1CT cells. Given that APC-depletion resulted in complete loss of localization of destruction complex components, we conclude that APC is necessary and sufficient for Wnt-induced localization of the destruction complex, while Axin1 can enhance the localization, but is expendable.

Together, these data demonstrate that the β -catenin destruction complex retains the ability to orient toward a localized Wnt source in HCEC 1CT cells and reveal a requirement and novel function of full-length APC in destruction complex trafficking toward a Wnt cue.

Discussion

To investigate the role of APC in Wnt-directed destruction complex localization, we first explored signalosome and destruction complex response in commonly used CRC cell lines with varying Wnt pathway status. The data from these experiments provide novel findings that the β -catenin destruction complex re-localizes toward Wnt in colon epithelial cells and that this redistribution is impaired in DLD1 cells expressing a truncated form of APC. Truncated APC is present in the majority of human CRC, and results in loss of the C-terminal half of APC, which contains domains involved in destruction complex assembly, nuclear localization, and cytoskeletal interactions. Further, we demonstrate that APC loss ablates Wnt-induced destruction complex localization. Unlike the parental RKO cell line, Axin1, GSK-3 β and β -catenin are unable to localize toward a Wnt-bead in RKO-APC^{KO} cells. We extended this study to a non-transformed human colon epithelial cell line which exhibits stem cell characteristics and found

that Wnt-directed destruction complex localization also occurs in colon epithelial cells of nonmalignant origin. When compared to the protein distribution in DLD1 cells, which were already limited in signalosome and destruction complex reorientation in response to localized Wnt, APC depletion in the non-transformed human colon epithelial cells completely abolished Wnt-induced destruction complex localization. Combined with a previous report that the truncated APC found in DLD1 remains associated with destruction complex protein Axin1²⁵, it appears that APC utilizes its function in scaffolding as well as interactions in the C-terminus to fully traffic the destruction complex toward a Wnt cue.

Numerous models of the events following Wnt receptor activation have been proposed, however the specific molecular proceedings that occur are still debated due to the use of overexpression of Wnt pathway components, global addition of Wnt to culture media, or the wide range of cell and tissue types used. Many models propose that the destruction complex is either inactivated or partially disassembled following Wnt/co-receptor interaction ^{3,33–36}. However, other studies have demonstrated that some of the destruction complex may be targeted to the plasma membrane following receptor activation ^{25,37,38}. Recently, an elegant study exposed mouse embryonic stem cells to Wnt3a-conjugated beads, resulting in APC, β-catenin, and LRP6 localization toward a Wnt-bead and also found that the local Wnt cue could trigger asymmetric cell division ³⁹. To our knowledge, this is the only study examining the orientation of signalosome and destruction complex components in response to localized Wnt and was performed in pluripotent cells of nonhuman origin and limited to three endogenous proteins.

Our study builds upon the current model of Wnt signal transduction and brings to light a new role for APC. Here, we report the requirement of APC for proper Wnt-induced localization of the β -catenin destruction complex in both malignant CRC cell lines and in non-transformed

colon epithelial cells. In contrast to our findings, others have demonstrated that key members of the complex are degraded or endocytosed following prolonged Wnt exposure $^{25,31,40-42}$. It is possible that these differences reflect more spatially restricted Wnt contact in our study compared to global Wnt exposure. It also seems likely that the bead attached to Wnt ligand in our study was so large as to prohibit endocytosis. Potentially related, recent evidence points to a role for the central region of APC in preventing clathrin-mediated endocytosis in the Wnt-off state ³¹. Over time, the complexity of potential APC functions related to Wnt signaling has been gradually revealed. Previous work by our lab and others demonstrated that APC performs roles outside of its classically defined scaffolding function in the β -catenin destruction complex. For example, APC interaction with nuclear β -catenin leads to repression of Wnt target genes through several potential mechanisms: providing access to the transcriptional corepressor CtBP or the E3 ligase β -TrCP, β -catenin sequestration from transcriptional coactivator LEF-1/TCF, or facilitating β -catenin's nuclear export ⁴³⁻⁴⁷.

Together, our results suggest a novel mechanism of β -catenin destruction complex regulation by the APC protein (Fig. 2.8). In addition to its well-established role as a negative regulator of cytoplasmic β -catenin, we show that APC is also responsible for moving the β catenin destruction complex to the cell membrane following Wnt exposure. We demonstrate for the first time that the endogenous β -catenin destruction complex reorients toward a localized Wnt signal in an APC-dependent manner in human colon epithelial cells of both normal and malignant origin. Finally, our data support a model whereby the destruction complex remains assembled and bound to β -catenin following Wnt ligand presentation. Because β -catenin accumulates in Wnt-treated cells, it appears that this β -catenin-bound complex is unable to effectively degrade β -catenin. Perhaps APC helps release modified β -catenin from the

destruction complex, thereby enabling its proteasomal degradation as previously proposed ²⁵. Another possibility is that Wnt stimulation leads to an APC-dependent membrane orientation of the destruction complex which results in complex inactivation. Upon removal of Wnt signal, this already assembled complex would be unlocked and able to process β -catenin for destruction. These two models are not mutually exclusive and might even be interdependent.

Future studies are necessary to clarify the precise mechanism of APC-regulated destruction complex trafficking to the membrane. Or study does not support an absolute requirement for Axin1 in Wnt-mediated destruction complex relocalization. Perhaps Axin2, a Wnt target, is able to compensate for Axin1 in this capacity. Axin has been postulated to localize to Wnt receptors following Wnt activation through a Dvl-dependent mechanism ⁴⁸. Based on the compromised destruction complex localization observed in DLD1 cells and APC-depleted HCEC 1CT cells, we suggest that APC is required for Axin docking to membrane-associated Dvl following Wnt exposure. In this light, our results strongly support the model proposed by Tacchelly-Benites et al., based on studies in Drosophila, that APC plays a major role in regulating Axin's signalosome recruitment in response to Wnt signaling by facilitating phosphorylation of Axin by GSK-3β⁴⁹. The compromised localization observed in DLD1 cells suggests that C-terminal domains contribute to this trafficking, potentially through cytoskeletal interactions 27-30,50,51. The mechanism by which APC moves the β -catenin destruction complex toward the signalosome is a necessary focus for future studies in order to provide insight into colon epithelial cell biology and further elucidate unknown aspects of Wnt signal transduction. Overall, our findings provide additional mechanistic details of destruction complex behavior following Wnt exposure and uncover a novel role for APC in Wnt signal transduction.



Figure 2.8 *Proposed model of* β *-catenin destruction complex response to Wnt.*



Supplemental Fig. 2.1 *Line scan analysis of signalosome and destruction components in RKO cells.* Line scans were performed on RKO cells containing an intact Wnt signaling pathway using ImageJ/FIJI (NIH). Lines were drawn beginning at the Wnt- or Unloaded-bead and run across the cell nucleus. Line colors correspond to bright-field (black), DAPI (blue), and protein (red). If brightfield image was unavailable, the black line corresponds to DAPI. Line scans correspond to A) APC, B) Axin1, C) β -catenin, D) CK1- α , E) GSK-3 β , F) β -TrCP, and G) FZD7. Line scans were performed on five cells per condition.



Supplemental Fig. 2.2 *Line scan analysis of signalosome and destruction complex in HCT116βm cells.* Line scans were performed on HCT116βm cells containing stabilized β -catenin through Ser45 deletion. Lines were drawn beginning at the Wnt- or Unloaded-bead and run across the cell nucleus. Line colors correspond to bright-field (black), DAPI (blue), and protein (red). If brightfield image was unavailable, the black line corresponds to DAPI. Line scans correspond to A) APC, B) Axin1, C) β -catenin, D) CK1- α , E) GSK-3 β , F) β -TrCP, and G) FZD7. Line scans were performed on five cells per condition.



Supplemental Fig. 2.3 *Line scan analysis of signalosome and destruction complex in DLD1 cells.* Line scans were performed on DLD1 cells which harbor truncated APC. Lines were drawn beginning at the Wnt- or Unloaded-bead and run across the cell nucleus. Line colors correspond to bright-field (black), DAPI (blue), and protein (red). If brightfield image was unavailable, the black line corresponds to DAPI. Line scans correspond to A) APC, B) Axin1, C) β -catenin, D) CK1- α , E) GSK-3 β , F) β -TrCP, and G) FZD7. Line scans were performed on five cells per condition.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture and treatments

RKO, HCT116βm, DLD1, and RKO-APC^{KO} cells were cultured in DMEM (with L-Glutamine and 4.5 g/L Glucose; without Sodium Pyruvate) supplemented with 10% FBS and were maintained at 37°C and 5% CO₂. HCEC 1CT cells were generously provided by Dr. Jerry Shay, UT-Southwestern and cultured as described previously in X-media (4:1 DMEM/Medium 199) supplemented with EGF (20ng/ml), hydrocortisone (1µg/ml), insulin (10µg/ml), apotransferrin (2µg/ml), sodium selenite (5nM), and 2% cosmic calf serum ³². Cells were maintained at 37°C in low-oxygen incubators to reduce stress-induced senescence from normal atmospheric oxygen tension and to better recapitulate physiological conditions, as described previously ⁵². For immunofluorescence assays, cells were seeded onto fibronectin/Poly-D-Lysine coated coverglass (Neuvitro) at 25% confluence and incubated at least 24 hrs prior to treatment with 5µl beads/well for 12-14 hrs. HCEC 1CT cells were seeded at 10-15% confluence prior to siRNA transfection and Wnt-bead treatment.

For siRNA-mediated inhibition, HCEC 1CT cells were transfected using Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions with 37.5nM of each siRNA targeting human APC (Smartpool siRNAs 1-3; Dharmacon), human Axin1 (Smartpool siRNA 4; Dharmacon) or nontargeting siControl siRNA (Dharmacon). Cell media was changed one day following siRNA transfection, and cells were grown 48 hrs prior to Wnt-bead or Unloaded-bead treatment.

Immobilization of Wnt protein

Wnt3a was immobilized onto Dynabeads as described previously ³⁹. Briefly, 2.8 µm Dynabeads M-270 Carboxylic Acid (Invitrogen) were activated by NHS/EDC (Sigma, 50mg/ml each in cold 25mM MES pH 5) then washed three times with cold MES buffer. Wnt immobilization was performed by diluting 0.5µg of purified Wnt3a protein (Peprotech, #315-20) in cold MES buffer and incubated at room temperature (RT) for 1 hr. To quench non-reactive carboxylic acid groups, beads were incubated with 50mM Tris pH 7.4 at RT for 15 min. Beads were washed twice in PBS pH 7.4 before final resuspension in 400µl PBS/0.5% BSA and stored at 4°C. Unloaded-beads were prepared in parallel by incubating 1 hr in MES without Wnt. Wnt3a activity following bead immobilization was verified using a TOPflash luciferase reporter assay ⁵³.

Immunofluorescence

Cells were briefly rinsed in PBS prior to fixation. Cells were fixed in 4% PFA in Brinkley's Buffer 1980 (80mM PIPES pH 6.8, 1mM MgCl₂, 1mM EGTA) for 20 min at RT, washed two times in PBS prior to permeabilization in TBS/0.2% Triton X-100 for 5 min. Cells were washed in TBS two times prior to incubation for 1 hr at RT in blocking buffer containing TBS/0.2% Triton X-100, 1% BSA, and 3% Normal Goat Serum. Primary and secondary antibodies were incubated for 1 hr at RT. Cells were washed in TBS three times following primary and secondary antibody incubations. Coverslips were mounted and counterstained with Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Invitrogen). Staining of FZD7 was performed without cell permeabilization or use of detergent to keep the cell membrane intact. Nuclei were counterstained with 5 µg/ml Hoechst 33342 (Invitrogen) in PBS for 5-10 min prior to mounting with Prolong Antifade (Invitrogen). Antibodies were diluted in blocking buffer as follows: anti-
APC-M2 rabbit pAb (1:4,000, ⁵⁴), anti-Axin1 rabbit mAb (1:500, Cell Signaling, #2087), anti-βcatenin mouse mAb (1:250, BD Transduction Laboratories, #610154), anti-CK1α rabbit pAb (1:500, Bethyl Laboratories, #A301-991A), anti-GSK3β rabbit pAb (1:500, Bethyl Laboratories, #A302-049A), anti-β-TrCP rabbit pAb (1:500, Abcam, #71753), and anti-Frizzled-7 rabbit pAb (1:500, EMD Millipore, #06-1063), Alexa Fluor 488 and 568 conjugated secondary antibodies (1:1,000, Invitrogen). Stained cells were examined using an Axioplan microscope (Zeiss) with a X100 objective. Images of stained cells were captured using an Orca R² digital camera (Hamamatsu).

Immunoblotting

Cells were washed 1x in PBS prior to harvesting in pre-heated high-salt sample lysis buffer (20% glycerol, 2% SDS, 30% 10x PBS, 2.5% β-mercaptoethanol). Scraped cells were transferred to Eppendorf tubes, heated at 95°C for 1 min, pulled through an insulin syringe three times, and heated again. Samples were separated on 7.5% SDS-PAGE (Bio-Rad, TGX FastCast Acrylamide Kit) using Tris-Glycine running buffer and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (GE) with a 0.45-µm pore size. Antibodies were diluted in Odyssey Blocking Buffer TBS (LI-COR) as follows: anti-APC-M2 rabbit pAb (1:2,000), anti-β-catenin mouse mAb (1:1,000), anti-Axin1 goat (1:500, R&D Systems #AF3287), and anti-β-actin mouse mAb (Sigma) (1:1,000), IRDye 680LT and 800CW anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibodies (1:15,000). Immunoblots were imaged on a LI-COR Odyssey CLx imaging system.

Wnt-Bead Pull-Down

Cells were grown in 6-well tissue culture plates and treated with 40µl Unloaded-beads or Wnt-beads for four hours. Following bead treatment, cells were briefly washed in 1x PBS prior to lysis in 200µl lysis buffer, described previously (150mM NaCl, 30mM Tris pH 7.5, 1mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 0.1mM PMSF, 0.5mM DTT, and HALT protease and phosphatase inhibitors) ²⁵. After addition of lysis buffer, cells were scraped into 1.5ml tubes and rotated at 4°C for 30 min. Beads were isolated using a magnet and the supernatant was transferred to a new tube. Beads were washed three times in 500µl of cold lysis buffer. Following the final wash, beads were resuspended in 40µl cold PBS and 20µl 3X SDS sample buffer. Samples were analyzed by western blot as described above.

Line Scan Analysis

ImageJ/FIJI (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) was used for line scan analyses to quantify protein localization in relation to a Wnt- or Unloaded-bead. Line width was set to 50, corresponding to approximately the size of a Dynabead. Lines were drawn beginning at the bead and across the cell, moving through and across the center of the nucleus. For graphical presentation in (Fig. 2.1C-E), each scan was set to zero by subtracting the lowest intensity value across the line. At least five representative cells were measured per condition. Refer to Supplemental Figures S1-S3 for line scan analysis of RKO, HCT116βm, and DLD1 cells.

Statistical Analysis

Blinded scoring was performed on a subset of samples using the scoring system presented in Figure 2.1A. Slides were covered and numbered prior to scoring and imaging and decoded following completion of each experiment. Experiments were performed a minimum of three times with at least 25 cells scored per condition per experiment. T-tests (two-tailed) were performed using GraphPad Prism 8 to determine statistical significance between score frequency in Wnt-bead and Unloaded-bead groups as well as between control siRNA and APC siRNA samples in the HCEC 1CT experiments.

References

- 1. Logan, C. Y. & Nusse, R. The Wnt Signaling Pathway in Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **20**, 781–810 (2004).
- 2. Clevers, H. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling in Development and Disease. *Cell* **127**, 469–480 (2006).
- 3. MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K. & He, X. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. *Dev. Cell* **17**, 9–26 (2009).
- 4. The Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* **487**, 330–337 (2012).
- 5. Mori, Y. *et al.* Somatic mutations of the APC gene in colorectal tumors: mutation cluster region in the APC gene. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **1**, 229–233 (1992).
- 6. Barker, N. *et al.* Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. *Nature* **457**, 608–611 (2009).
- 7. Fearon, E. R. & Vogelstein, B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell* **61**, 759–767 (1990).
- 8. Hatzis, P. *et al.* Genome-Wide Pattern of TCF7L2/TCF4 Chromatin Occupancy in Colorectal Cancer Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **28**, 2732–2744 (2008).
- 9. Watanabe, K. *et al.* Integrative ChIP-seq/Microarray Analysis Identifies a CTNNB1 Target Signature Enriched in Intestinal Stem Cells and Colon Cancer. *PLoS ONE* **9**, (2014).
- 10. Aberle, H., Bauer, A., Stappert, J., Kispert, A. & Kemler, R. beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *EMBO J.* **16**, 3797–3804 (1997).
- 11. Kitagawa, M. *et al.* An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* **18**, 2401–2410 (1999).
- 12. Liu, C. *et al.* Control of β-Catenin Phosphorylation/Degradation by a Dual-Kinase Mechanism. *Cell* **108**, 837–847 (2002).
- 13. Bilić, J. *et al.* Wnt Induces LRP6 Signalosomes and Promotes Dishevelled-Dependent LRP6 Phosphorylation. *Science* **316**, 1619–1622 (2007).
- 14. Tamai, K. *et al.* LDL-receptor-related proteins in Wnt signal transduction. *Nature* **407**, 530 (2000).
- 15. Clevers, H., Loh, K. M. & Nusse, R. An integral program for tissue renewal and regeneration: Wnt signaling and stem cell control. *Science* **346**, 1248012 (2014).
- 16. Es, J. H. van *et al.* A Critical Role for the Wnt Effector Tcf4 in Adult Intestinal Homeostatic Self-Renewal. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **32**, 1918–1927 (2012).

- 17. Korinek, V. *et al.* Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. *Nat. Genet.* **19**, 379–383 (1998).
- 18. Farin, H. F. *et al.* Visualization of a short-range Wnt gradient in the intestinal stem-cell niche. *Nature* **530**, 340–343 (2016).
- 19. Zeineldin, M. & Neufeld, K. L. More than two decades of Apc modeling in rodents. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Rev. Cancer* **1836**, 80–89 (2013).
- Chan, T. A., Wang, Z., Dang, L. H., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Targeted inactivation of CTNNB1 reveals unexpected effects of β-catenin mutation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 99, 8265– 8270 (2002).
- Albuquerque, C. *et al.* The 'just-right' signaling model: APC somatic mutations are selected based on a specific level of activation of the β-catenin signaling cascade. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 11, 1549–1560 (2002).
- 22. Flanagan, D. J. *et al.* Frizzled-7 Is Required for Wnt Signaling in Gastric Tumors with and Without Apc Mutations. *Cancer Res.* **79**, 970–981 (2019).
- 23. Flanagan, D. J. *et al.* Loss of the Wnt receptor frizzled 7 in the mouse gastric epithelium is deleterious and triggers rapid repopulation in vivo. *Dis. Model. Mech.* **10**, 971–980 (2017).
- 24. Flanagan, D. J. *et al.* Frizzled7 Functions as a Wnt Receptor in Intestinal Epithelial Lgr5+ Stem Cells. *Stem Cell Rep.* **4**, 759–767 (2015).
- 25. Li, V. S. W. *et al.* Wnt Signaling through Inhibition of β-Catenin Degradation in an Intact Axin1 Complex. *Cell* **149**, 1245–1256 (2012).
- 26. Sparks, A. B., Morin, P. J., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Mutational Analysis of the APC/β-Catenin/Tcf Pathway in Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Res.* **58**, 1130–1134 (1998).
- 27. Gao, F. J. *et al.* Insulin signaling regulates a functional interaction between adenomatous polyposis coli and cytoplasmic dynein. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **28**, 587–599 (2017).
- 28. Ruane, P. T. *et al.* Tumour Suppressor Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) localisation is regulated by both Kinesin-1 and Kinesin-2. *Sci. Rep.* **6**, (2016).
- 29. Dikovskaya, D. *et al.* Microtubule assembly by the Apc protein is regulated by importin- β -RanGTP. *J. Cell Sci.* **123**, 736–746 (2010).
- 30. Munemitsu, S. *et al.* The APC Gene Product Associates with Microtubules in Vivo and Promotes Their Assembly in Vitro. *Cancer Res.* **54**, 3676–3681 (1994).
- 31. Saito-Diaz, K. *et al.* APC Inhibits Ligand-Independent Wnt Signaling by the Clathrin Endocytic Pathway. *Dev. Cell* **44**, 566-581.e8 (2018).
- 32. Roig, A. I. *et al.* Immortalized Epithelial Cells Derived From Human Colon Biopsies Express Stem Cell Markers and Differentiate In Vitro. *Gastroenterology* **138**, 1012-1021.e5 (2010).
- Lee, E., Salic, A., Krüger, R., Heinrich, R. & Kirschner, M. W. The Roles of APC and Axin Derived from Experimental and Theoretical Analysis of the Wnt Pathway. *PLOS Biol.* 1, e10 (2003).
- Liu, X., Rubin, J. S. & Kimmel, A. R. Rapid, Wnt-Induced Changes in GSK3β Associations that Regulate β-Catenin Stabilization Are Mediated by Gα Proteins. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 1989–1997 (2005).
- 35. Luo, W. *et al.* Protein phosphatase 1 regulates assembly and function of the β-catenin degradation complex. *EMBO J.* **26**, 1511–1521 (2007).
- 36. Roberts, D. M. *et al.* Deconstructing the ßcatenin destruction complex: mechanistic roles for the tumor suppressor APC in regulating Wnt signaling. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **22**, 1845–1863 (2011).

- 37. Mao, J. *et al.* Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein-5 Binds to Axin and Regulates the Canonical Wnt Signaling Pathway. *Mol. Cell* **7**, 801–809 (2001).
- 38. Zeng, X. *et al.* A dual-kinase mechanism for Wnt co-receptor phosphorylation and activation. *Nature* **438**, 873 (2005).
- 39. Habib, S. J. *et al.* A Localized Wnt Signal Orients Asymmetric Stem Cell Division in Vitro. *Science* **339**, 1445–1448 (2013).
- 40. Blitzer, J. T. & Nusse, R. A critical role for endocytosis in Wnt signaling. *BMC Cell Biol.* **7**, 28 (2006).
- 41. Gagliardi, M., Hernandez, A., McGough, I. J. & Vincent, J.-P. Inhibitors of endocytosis prevent Wnt/Wingless signalling by reducing the level of basal β-catenin/Armadillo. *J. Cell Sci.* **127**, 4918–4926 (2014).
- 42. Yamamoto, H., Komekado, H. & Kikuchi, A. Caveolin Is Necessary for Wnt-3a-Dependent Internalization of LRP6 and Accumulation of β-Catenin. *Dev. Cell* **11**, 213–223 (2006).
- Neufeld, K. L., Zhang, F., Cullen, B. R. & White, R. L. APC-mediated downregulation of catenin activity involves nuclear sequestration and nuclear export. *EMBO Rep.* 1, 519–523 (2000).
- 44. Neufeld, K. L. *et al.* Adenomatous polyposis coli protein contains two nuclear export signals and shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **97**, 12085–12090 (2000).
- 45. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Cliffe, A., Brabletz, T. & Bienz, M. Nuclear export of the APC tumour suppressor controls β-catenin function in transcription. *EMBO J.* **22**, 1101–1113 (2003).
- 46. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Townsley, F. & Bienz, M. The APC tumour suppressor has a nuclear export function. *Nature* **406**, 1009 (2000).
- Sierra, J., Yoshida, T., Joazeiro, C. A. & Jones, K. A. The APC tumor suppressor counteracts βcatenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Dev.* 20, 586–600 (2006).
- 48. Zeng, X. *et al.* Initiation of Wnt signaling: control of Wnt coreceptor Lrp6 phosphorylation/activation via frizzled, dishevelled and axin functions. *Development* **135**, 367–375 (2008).
- 49. Tacchelly-Benites, O. *et al.* Axin phosphorylation in both Wnt-off and Wnt-on states requires the tumor suppressor APC. *PLOS Genet.* **14**, e1007178 (2018).
- 50. Moseley, J. B. *et al.* Regulated Binding of Adenomatous Polyposis Coli Protein to Actin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **282**, 12661–12668 (2007).
- 51. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Ihrke, G. & Bienz, M. Actin-dependent membrane association of the APC tumour suppressor in polarized mammalian epithelial cells. *EMBO J.* **20**, 5929–5939 (2001).
- 52. Wright, W. E. & Shay, J. W. Inexpensive low-oxygen incubators. Nat. Protoc. 1, 2088 (2006).
- 53. Korinek, V. *et al.* Constitutive Transcriptional Activation by a β-Catenin-Tcf Complex in APC-/- Colon Carcinoma. *Science* **275**, 1784–1787 (1997).
- Wang, Y., Azuma, Y., Friedman, D. B., Coffey, R. J. & Neufeld, K. L. Novel association of APC with intermediate filaments identified using a new versatile APC antibody. *BMC Cell Biol.* 10, 75 (2009).

Chapter 3

Oncogenic β -catenin mutations are susceptible to Wnt stimulation and regulation by APC

Abstract

The Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway is deregulated in nearly all colorectal cancers (CRCs), predominantly through mutation of the tumor suppressor Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC). APC mutation is thought to allow a "just-right" amount of Wnt pathway activation by fine-tuning β -catenin levels. While at a much lower frequency, mutations that result in a β -catenin that is compromised for degradation occur in a subset of human CRCs. Here we investigate whether such "stabilized" β -catenin continues to be regulated, thus allowing β -catenin levels conducive for tumor formation. We utilize cells harboring a single mutant allele encoding Ser45-deleted β catenin (β -cat Δ S45) to test the effects of Wnt3a treatment or APC-depletion on β -cat Δ S45 regulation and activity. We find that APC and β -cat Δ S45 retain interaction with Wnt receptors. Unexpectedly, β -cat Δ S45 accumulates and activates TOPflash reporter upon Wnt treatment or APC-depletion, but only accumulates in the nucleus upon APC-loss. Finally, we find that β catenin phosphorylation at GSK-3β sites and proteasomal degradation continue to occur in the absence of Ser45. Our results expand the current understanding of Wnt/β-catenin signaling and provide an example of a β-catenin mutation that maintains some ability to respond to Wnt which may be key to establish β -catenin activity that is "just-right" for tumorigenesis.

Introduction

Discovered nearly 40 years ago, the Wnt signaling pathway has proven essential for many cellular functions, including proliferation, polarity, developmental cell-fate determination, and tissue homeostasis ¹. Consequently, the Wnt pathway is often deregulated in cancer and

70

other diseases. Normal colon tissue homeostasis is quite dependent on well-controlled Wnt signaling, as Wnt pathway components are mutated in over 90% of CRCs ^{2–4}.

The key downstream effector molecule in the Wnt pathway is the transcription co-factor β -catenin. In the absence of Wnt signal, a cytoplasmic β -catenin destruction complex efficiently catalyzes the proteasome-mediated degradation of β -catenin. The core components of the complex include two scaffolding proteins, APC and Axin, as well as two kinases, GSK-3 β and CK1- α ⁵. In the absence of ligand, the complex binds and phosphorylates β -catenin, leading to β -TrCP-mediated ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation ^{6–8}. Binding of Wnt to membrane-bound co-receptors Frizzled and LRP5/6 results in inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex through an incompletely resolved mechanism and subsequent β -catenin accumulation, nuclear translocation, and activation of the Wnt transcriptional program ^{9,10}.

In canonical Wnt signaling, β -catenin destruction is initiated through a dual-kinase mechanism. First, CK1- α phosphorylates Ser45 of β -catenin (Fig. 3.1A, D) ^{8,11}. Next, phospho-Ser45 primes GSK-3 β activity, which typically requires a phospho-Ser or threonine and the <u>S/T</u>-X-X-X-pS/pT motif ^{12–14}. Three sites on β -catenin are then primed and phosphorylated hierarchically, beginning with Thr41, then Ser37, and finally Ser33, as each phosphorylating event primes the next (see Fig. 3.1). Phosphorylation of Ser33 and Ser37 generates a WD40-like binding site for β -TrCP, the substrate recognition subunit of the E3 ubiquitin ligase SCF^{β -TrCP} which ubiquitinates β -catenin and marks it for degradation by the proteasome ^{7,15–18}. A mutation that eliminates any one of the phosphorylation sites is thought to result in a stabilized β -catenin protein that can evade destruction and activate downstream Wnt signaling.

Mutations in the tumor suppressor *Adenomatous Polyposis Coli* (*APC*) occur early in the development of over 80% of CRCs. The vast majority of *APC* mutations lead to expression of

truncated APC protein that retains some ability to interact with and regulate β -catenin. The "just right" model rationalizes the limited range of APC truncations observed in CRCs as facilitating a precise level of β -catenin for optimal cellular proliferation—not too much or too little ¹⁹. In addition to a scaffolding function, other APC activities have been suggested to contribute to Wnt signaling. For example, APC can interact with nuclear β -catenin, leading to repression of Wnt target genes through several proposed mechanisms: providing access to the transcriptional corepressor CtBP or E3 ligase β -TrCP, sequestration of β -catenin from the transcriptional coactivator LEF-1/TCF, or facilitating β -catenin's nuclear export ^{20–24}. APC can maintain interaction with β -catenin following Wnt stimulation and appears critical for trafficking the destruction complex to the Wnt receptors ^{25,26}. Additionally, APC has been postulated to promote β -catenin ubiquitination. APC truncation commonly found in human CRCs renders cells unable to appropriately ubiquitinate β -catenin and target it for proteasomal degradation ^{25,27,28}. A region of APC C-terminal to common truncations appears to be sufficient for rescue of β -catenin ubiquitination ^{25,28}.

CRCs without *APC* mutations commonly have mutations in genes encoding other components of the Wnt pathway. Despite being the key downstream effector molecule in Wnt signaling, the β -catenin gene, *CTNNB1*, is mutated in only ~9% of CRCs lacking an *APC* mutation. It is curious why mutations which protect β -catenin from degradation are not more prevalent in CRC, as this would be a direct path to β -catenin mediated transcription. It is possible that mutations which completely stabilize β -catenin do not support cell viability. In this event, β catenin mutations may also act in a "just-right" manner to precisely tune the amount of β -catenin for optimal levels of Wnt activation. Another, not mutually exclusive, possibility is that destroying β -catenin is not the only critical tumor suppressive role for APC, and that additional

72

APC-mediated processes such as cytoskeletal arrangement, β -catenin localization, and cellular orientation during cell division must be affected to initiate adenoma formation.

Mutations that eliminate the GSK-3 β or CK1- α phosphorylation sites are reported to "stabilize" β -catenin, making it resistant to regulation by the destruction complex and thus resistant to regulation by Wnt signaling ⁵. Cells expressing β -catenin containing a Ser45 deletion or S33Y substitution are reported to display constitutively active Wnt signaling ²⁹. HCT116 cells, which express two version of β -catenin, a wild-type and a Ser45-deleted, show elevated Wnt reporter activity when treated with Wnt, however, this was explained by the retained ability to regulate the wild-type β -catenin²⁵. While the prevailing notion has been that oncogenic β catenin mutations result in an abolished response to Wnt, new evidence suggests otherwise. We recently demonstrated that cells expressing only mutant β -catenin (Ser45del, termed β -cat Δ S45) still show redistribution of both the destruction complex and β -cat Δ S45 toward a localized Wnt ligand ²⁶. Phosphorylation at the GSK-3β sites (Ser33/Ser37/Thr41) was previously reported to occur in the absence of Ser45 30 . These results indicate that the presence of a "stabilized" β catenin does not render cells completely unresponsive to Wnt and raised additional questions about the mechanism underlying β -catenin regulation. Answers to this question might help explain why APC mutations are so dominant in CRC while mutations that alter β -catenin protein are rare.

Here, we sought to test the "just-right" model of β -catenin mutation by examining the Wnt response of HCT116 CRC cells that have been modified to harbor only one *CTNNB1* allele which encodes β -catenin with a Ser45 deletion ³¹. Ser45 modifications are seen in roughly one-eighth of those CRCs with β -catenin alterations and are considered to be stabilizing (Fig. 3.1C). We demonstrate for the first time that HCT116 β m cells accumulate β -cat Δ S45 when treated with

73

Wnt3a or when depleted for APC and also display increased downstream Wnt transcriptional activation. However, β -cat Δ S45 nuclear translocation is only elevated in cells depleted for APC and not by Wnt3a treatment alone. We also find that β -cat Δ S45 is phosphorylated on the S33/S37/T41 residues, albeit somewhat less than wild-type β -catenin. To our knowledge, this is the first detailing of possible "just-right" signaling resulting from β -catenin mutation, rather than *APC* mutation. Our work suggests that β -cat Δ S45 is regulated by the destruction complex and responds to Wnt by accumulating and becoming more active in promoting Wnt target gene transcription. Further, these results implicate additional roles for APC in β -catenin regulation beyond those as a destruction complex scaffold.

Results

Phosphorylation sites important for β -catenin destruction are mutated in a subset of colorectal cancers

Over-active Wnt signaling has been linked to many malignancies. In liver and endometrial cancer, *CTNNB1* mutations are common while *APC* mutations are rare ³². In the majority of CRCs, mutations in *APC*, a key member of the β -catenin destruction complex, predominate. In CRCs without *APC* mutation, the Wnt pathway is often activated by other means, such as mutation of another pathway component. To assess the frequency of β -catenin mutation in CRCs, we utilized three datasets from cBioPortal (DFCI, Genentech, and TCGA) and found that β -catenin mutations occurred in 76/1225 of patients (6%), with 14 patients harboring two or more mutations (Fig. 3.1B) ^{33,34}. Of these β -catenin mutations, 25/91 were in the destruction complex phosphorylation sites (Fig. 3.1C). An additional 25% of the β -catenin



Figure 3.1 β -catenin phospho-regulation by the β -catenin destruction complex. (A) Diagram of β -catenin structure, indicating the N-terminal GSK-3 β phosphorylation sites (Ser33/Ser37/T41), the CK1- α phosphorylation site (Ser45), and the twelve armadillo repeats. (B) Mutation frequency of *CTNNB1* among 1,225 colorectal cancer patients using cBioPortal. (C) Mutation frequency of destruction complex phosphorylation sites among *CTNNB1* mutations. (D) Schematic of the β -catenin destruction complex composed of Axin, APC, GSK-3 β , and CK1- α , which bind and phosphorylate β -catenin at Ser45, Thr41, Ser37, and Ser33. Phosphorylation at Ser33/Ser37 creates a β -TrCP recognition site. (E) Sanger sequencing and alignment of *CTNNB1* around the destruction complex phosphorylation sites in HCT116 β m and RKO colon cancer cell lines.

mutations are in domains that interact with APC or the scaffolding protein Axin. Unexpectedly, in the datasets analyzed, colorectal cancers with wild-type *APC* only displayed mutant *CTNNB1* in 9% of cases (41/448). The "just-right" signaling hypothesis has been proposed as a means for the cell to regulate levels of Wnt activity through mutation of the *APC* gene. We wondered if mutations of the effector protein, β -catenin, also invoke a similar "just-right" response, allowing a specific level of Wnt regulation.

The parental HCT116 colon cancer cell line harbors one mutant and one wild-type β catenin allele. The HCT116 β m cell line, was modified to contain a single allele encoding β catenin with a Ser-45 deletion (herein referred to as β cat Δ S45)³¹. We verified that a single allele encoding β -catenin is present in these cells by performing Sanger sequencing in both HCT116 β m cells and RKO cells which express only wild-type β -catenin (Fig. 3.1D). A previous report that parental HCT116 cells were Wnt-responsive attributed this finding to regulation of β -catenin protein encoded by the wild-type allele (Li et al., 2012). Another report suggests that β cat Δ S45 can be phosphorylated at S33/S37/T41³⁰. Here we consider the possibility that there are mechanisms of β -catenin regulation in response to Wnt ligand that are independent of S45 phosphorylation.

β -cat Δ S45 associates with a locally-applied Wnt-3a ligand

Using immunofluorescence microscopy, we previously established that β -cat Δ S45 localizes toward a Wnt cue in HCT116 β m cells ²⁶. To test for a physical interaction between Wnt and β -cat Δ S45, Wnt3a-conjugated beads were applied to HCT116 β m cells and then used to "pull down" associated proteins from cell lysates (Fig. 3.2A). APC associated with Wnt-beads more than with the Unloaded-beads (Fig. 3.2B). β -cat Δ S45 also associated more with the Wnt-beads



Figure 3.2 *Wnt-beads pull-down APC and* β -*cat* Δ *S45.* (A) HCT116 β m cells treated with Wnt-beads or Unloadedbeads were lysed and proteins were pulled-down with the beads. Both APC and β -cat Δ S45 were detected in the Wnt-bead pull-down but not the Unloaded-bead pull-down. (B) Quantification of APC pulled-down by Wntbeads compared to Unloaded-beads from three independent experiments. (C) Quantification of β -cat Δ S45 pulleddown by Wnt-beads compared to Unloaded-beads from three independent experiments. Protein levels that were pulled-down by beads were divided by the respective input protein levels and normalized to the Unloaded-bead to demonstrate fold change. Error bars, SEM.

than with the Unloaded-beads (Fig. 3.2C). These data demonstrate that a core component of the destruction complex and a "stabilized" β -catenin both respond to a Wnt3a cue by localizing to the membrane, presumably through interactions with Frizzled and LRP5/6 co-receptors.

Wnt3a exposure or APC-depletion increases level of β *-cat* Δ *S45 protein*

We previously reported that β -catenin destruction complex localization toward a Wnt cue was APC-dependent and appeared to correlate with an increased level of β -catenin in cells harboring fully intact Wnt signaling pathways such as RKO and HCEC-1CTs (Parker and Neufeld, 2020). Whether Wnt influences β -cat Δ S45 protein levels has yet to be determined. The β -cat Δ S45 protein expressed in HCT116 β m cells lacks the site of CK1- α phosphorylation and is therefore generally assumed to be compromised for phosphorylation by GSK3β and subsequent proteasome-mediated destruction. Notably, treatment with Wnt3a resulted in a 1.57-fold increase in total β -cat Δ S45 compared to untreated cells (Fig. 3.3A, C). This unexpected result indicates that HCT116 β m cells at least partially respond to Wnt by stabilizing β -cat Δ S45 and therefore, β catenin degradation can occur independent of Ser45. We efficiently depleted 90-95% of APC in HCT116^βm cells with small interfering RNA (siAPC) (Fig. 3.3A, B). This APC depletion led to a 1.47-fold increase in total β -cat Δ S45 protein level while APC depletion combined with Wnt3a treatment led to a 1.31-fold increase (Fig. 3.3C). All of these increases were significant when compared to control-siRNA-treated cells (NT siRNA). These data indicate that cells exposed to Wnt ligand are able to further increase β -cat Δ S45 levels and that APC participates in β -cat Δ S45 destruction. Because APC depletion together with Wnt treatment did not result in β -cat Δ S45 protein levels greater than either condition alone, it seems likely that these two components function in the same pathway to mediate β -cat Δ S45 protein levels.



Figure 3.3 β -cat Δ S45 accumulates upon Wnt-3a treatment or APC-depletion. (A) Western blot of HCT116 β m cells transfected with control-siRNA or APC-siRNA and treated in the presence or absence of 125ng Wnt3a. (B) Quantification of APC fold-change relative to β -actin and normalized to control siRNA without Wnt. (C) Relative fold-change of β -catenin relative to β -actin and normalized to control siRNA without Wnt. Data averaged from four independent experiments. Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.0001.

HCT116^βm cells activate a Wnt reporter following APC-depletion or Wnt3a exposure

In cells with an intact Wnt signaling pathway, cellular β -catenin accumulation is followed by β -catenin's nuclear translocation and interaction with the transcription co-factor TCF-4 to activate Wnt target genes. HCT116 β m cells harbor an activated Wnt pathway, demonstrated through increased TOPflash compared to isogenic cells only expressing wild-type β -catenin³¹. We wondered if the increased level of cellular β -catenin following Wnt exposure or APCdepletion would result in further increases in nuclear β -catenin activity. To test this, we cotransfected HCT116 β m cells with TOPflash Wnt luciferase reporter plasmid and then depleted APC with siRNA, in the presence or absence of Wnt3a. Wnt3a treatment resulted in a 3-fold increase and APC depletion led to a 2.2-fold increase in Wnt reporter activity (Fig. 3.4A). Unexpectedly, cells both depleted for APC and exposed to Wnt3a displayed a 4-fold increase in Wnt reporter activity (Fig. 3.4A). In RKO cells, which possess an intact Wnt signaling pathway, Wnt treatment resulted in an 8.2-fold increase in Wnt reporter activity (Fig. 3.4B). However, in RKO cells with CRISPR-deleted APC or in DLD1 cells which express endogenous truncated APC, Wnt3a presentation has no effect on Wnt reporter activity (Fig. 3.4B).

Combined, these data indicate that β -cat Δ S45 is still regulated by Wnt signaling, despite being able to evade Ser45 phosphorylation by CK1- α . Interestingly, cells with *APC* knock-out or mutant *APC* are resistant to further Wnt reporter activation, presumably due to maximal levels of pathway activation (Fig. 3.4B) ²⁵. Yet, HCT116 β m cells containing a stabilized β -cat Δ S45 are responsive to APC depletion, even more responsive to Wnt addition, and show the most Wnt reporter activation when APC-depletion is combined with Wnt stimulation. This finding suggests that Wnt3a presentation and APC loss may stimulate Wnt reporter activity in an additive manner. This additive response may indicate involvement of multiple pathways.



Figure 3.4 *The Wnt transcriptional program is induced in HCT116βm upon Wnt-3a treatment or APC-depletion.* (A) HCT116βm cells were co-transfected with pTOPflash and pRenilla luciferase-reporter plasmids as well as control-siRNA or APC-siRNA, and subsequently treated with 125ng Wnt3a for 24 hours. Data averaged from seven individual experiments. Relative luciferase activity determined by the TOPflash/Renilla ratio of each group, followed by normalization to the control. Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001. (B) TOPflash-reporter assay in RKO, RKO-APC^{KO}, and DLD-1 colorectal cancer cell lines. Data for RKO averaged from four individual experiments, and RKO-APC^{KO} and DLD1 are from one experiment. Error bars, SEM.

Increased nuclear localization of β -cat Δ S45 upon APC-loss but not Wnt exposure

APC depletion has revealed a mechanism to regulate β -cat Δ S45 activity that appears distinct from that of Wnt stimulation. To explain this, we turned to other potential APC functions. Notably, APC is reported to be involved in sequestration, trafficking, and nuclear shuttling of proteins as well as Wnt-induced membrane localization of the destruction complex. We therefore considered the possibility that APC aids in the sequestration or trafficking of β cat Δ S45, despite the ability of β -cat Δ S45 to evade destruction complex mediated Ser45 phosphorylation. We found that cells treated with Wnt displayed no changes in the ratio of nuclear to cytoplasmic β -cat Δ S45 compared to control cells (Fig. 3.5A, B). However, upon APCdepletion, β -cat Δ S45 shifted into the nucleus, displaying an increased nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio and increased level of nuclear β -catenin compared to control (Fig. 3.5A-C). The ratio of nuclear to cytoplasmic β -cat Δ S45 seen with APC depletion did not further increase with added Wnt treatment (Fig. 3.5B). Although still more nuclear than in control cells, the percent of change in nuclear β -cat Δ S45 in APC-depleted cells that were also treated with Wnt was significantly less than in cells only depleted of APC (Fig. 3.5C). These data indicate that regulation of a "stabilized" β -cat Δ S45 is not merely through a degradation mechanism, but also may involve cytoplasmic sequestration or nuclear export, facilitated by APC.

Assessment of β -cat Δ S45 nuclear and cytoplasmic localization showed that Wnt treatment alone does not affect nuclear translocation. However, APC knockdown or Wnt treatment plus APC-knockdown caused a dramatic increase in nuclear β -cat Δ S45 compared to control. Of note, through assessment of β -catenin level (Fig. 3.3), β -cat Δ S45 activity (Fig. 3.4), and β -cat Δ S45 nuclear translocation (Fig. 3.5), we found that increases in the level and nuclear localization of β -cat Δ S45 did not always translate into increased activity. Using these different

82

data sets, we normalized the TOPflash values to the level of nuclear β -cat Δ S45 to estimate activity per unit of nuclear β -cat Δ S45. This analysis revealed that, though there was little change in nuclear β -cat Δ S45 levels, Wnt treatment alone resulted in a near doubling of the β -cat Δ S45 activity (1.92-fold) compared to untreated cells. In contrast, APC-depletion resulted in more β catenin protein and nuclear localization but did not alter the activity per β -cat Δ S45 unit (1.05fold) compared to untreated cells. The combination of APC-depletion and Wnt treatment resulted in elevated β -catenin protein and nuclear localization, similar to that observed with only APCdepletion. But the activity per β -cat Δ S45 unit was much higher (2.5-fold) than that of untreated cells or only APC-depleted cells.

β -cat Δ S45 is phosphorylated at the GSK-3 β sites and susceptible to proteasomal degradation

Solely considering the destruction complex, it is perplexing that APC depletion or Wnt exposure would impact the protein level of a "stabilized" β -catenin. Previously, it was reported that β -cat Δ S45 is phosphorylated at the GSK-3 β sites Ser33/Ser37/Thr41³⁰. However, it was unknown whether β -cat Δ S45 is also degraded by the proteasome. We detected more total β -catenin and phospho-Ser33/Ser37/Thr41- β -catenin in RKO cells treated with MG132 proteasome inhibitor (Fig. 3.5D). This was expected since RKO cells have an intact β -catenin destruction complex. The ratio of p- β -catenin to total β -catenin decreased in RKO cells treated with MG132 (Fig. 3.5F). This decrease is potentially due to the large increase in total β -catenin level (~14-fold), and may reflect saturated destruction complexes unable to phosphorylate all of the accumulated β -catenin as previously proposed ²⁵. We also detected phospho- β -cat Δ S45 in HCT116 β m cells, thus confirming previous reports (Fig. 3.5D) ³⁰. MG132 treatment resulted in increased total β -cate Δ S45 and phospho- β -cat Δ S45 levels, indicative of proteasomal degradation



Figure 3.5 β -cat/S45 nuclear localization is controlled by APC and continues to be susceptible to GSK-3 β phosphorylation and proteasomal degradation. (A) HCT116 β m cells transfected with control-siRNA or APC-siRNA were treated with 125ng Wnt3a and β -catenin localization was visualized by immunofluorescent detection. (B) Ratio of nuclear to cytoplasmic β -catenin quantified from immunofluorescent staining. Data representative of at least 36 individual cells per group. Error bars, SEM; Statistical analysis by t-test: *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.0001. (C) Percent change in nuclear β -catenin. Percent of nuclear β -catenin was calculated by dividing nuclear β -catenin by total β -catenin. Using nuclear β -catenin percentage, the percent change was calculated by comparing to control. (D) RKO and HCT116 β m cells were treated with 10mM MG132 in the presence or absence of 25ng/ml Wnt3a for four hours prior to lysis. Western blot utilizing anti-phospho-Ser33/Ser37/Thr41- β -catenin or anti- β -catenin. Data averaged from two independent experiments. Error bars, SEM. (F) Quantification of the ratio of phosphorylated- β -catenin to total β -catenin in RKO and HCT116 β m cells following treatment with MG132 +/- Wnt3a. Data averaged from two independent experiments. Error bars, SEM.

(Fig. 3.5E). However, we did not observe a decreased ratio of p- β -cat Δ S45/ β -cat Δ S45 in HCT116 β m cells treated with both MG132 and Wnt (Fig. 3.5F). Together, these data support a potential mechanism in which cells containing a deletion of the CK1- α phosphorylation site are able to maintain some β -catenin regulation through the potential alternative priming of GSK-3 β -mediated phosphorylation and through proteasomal degradation. Of note, this ability to respond to Wnt-ligand distinguishes β -catenin-mutant colorectal cancer cells from the APC-mutant colorectal cancer cells (Fig. 3.4B).

Discussion

The Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is typically described as signaling in a linear manner; Wnt ligand binds the Frizzled and LRP5/6 coreceptors, leading to inhibition of the β -catenin destruction complex and subsequent β -catenin stabilization, accumulation, and nuclear translocation. Mutation to a downstream component such as APC or β -catenin is thought to activate the pathway and render it unresponsive to regulation by upstream pathway components. The results presented here demonstrate that "downstream" components of the Wnt pathway can continue to be regulated by "upstream" components despite the presence of stabilizing mutations. In the context of APC mutations, a "just-right" signaling hypothesis has been proposed in which *APC* mutations occur to allow a specific level of β -catenin that supports tumorigenesis. Here, we propose that β -catenin itself may also be prone to just-right mutations that maintain some regulation of the β -catenin protein, limiting its accumulation and activity. As an initial proof of concept, we used the HCT116 β m cell line which harbors a deletion of β -

catenin Ser45, to assess the Wnt/Receptor/ β -cat Δ S45 interaction and the changes in β -cat Δ S45 protein levels, activity, and localization upon Wnt3a stimulation or APC loss.

In agreement with our previous immunofluorescence data ²⁶, we demonstrate that both β cat Δ S45 and APC pull-down with a Wnt-bead, indicative of interaction between Wnt ligand, receptor, β -cat Δ S45, and APC. Surprisingly, we find that Wnt3a treatment, APC knock-down, or treatment plus knock down, results in elevated β -cat Δ S45 protein levels as well as increased TOPflash Wnt reporter activity. APC-depletion results in predominantly nuclear β -cat Δ S45, whereas Wnt treatment alone does not change the nuclear localization of β -cat Δ S45. Finally, we confirm that β -cat Δ S45 can be phosphorylated by GSK-3 β at Ser33/Ser37/T41 and find that β cat Δ S45 is regulated by the proteasome.

We propose the following expansion of the current Wnt signaling mechanism to explain our findings: 1) Wnt signaling leads to a secondary effect that further activates β -catenin in the nucleus, essentially amplifying the signal. An example of this would be that LEF/TCF is a Wnt target gene ^{35,36}. 2) APC inhibits the activity of this Wnt-induced β -catenin inducer. 3) APC promotes cytoplasmic localization of β -catenin, perhaps through cytoplasmic sequestration or nuclear to cytoplasmic shuttling. Our results are inconsistent with a role of APC in sequestering nuclear β -catenin or facilitating nuclear import of β -catenin. 4) Wnt can also inhibit nuclear localization of β -catenin, independent of APC. Our work is in agreement with previously published results by our lab and others, demonstrating that interaction of APC with nuclear β catenin leads to repression of Wnt target genes ^{20,21,23,24}. Further, it is intriguing that β -cat Δ S45 continues to be phosphorylated by GSK-3 β and degraded by the proteasome, albeit less efficiently than wild-type β -catenin. The deletion of Ser45 may place Ser47 in close enough proximity (within 5 residues upon S45del) to T41 to act as a priming site for β -catenin phosphorylation ³⁷. Suggestive of alternative mechanisms for GSK-3β phosphorylation, S33/S37/T41 phosphorylation is also observed in LS174T cells containing a S45F substitution ^{25,30}.

Colorectal cancer is consistently promoted by Wnt signal activation. Here we provide insight into both the mechanism by which β -catenin is regulated in the Wnt-on or Wnt-off states and demonstrate that β -catenin mutations can be regulated by additional Wnt signaling. We find that APC mutant cells are unresponsive to additional Wnt signaling, whereas β -catenin mutant cells are responsive to extracellular Wnt ligand. Perhaps complete stabilization of β -catenin would result in too much β -catenin protein and activity and impair cell viability. Our finding that the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway does not act in a strictly linear fashion emphasizes the importance of a therapeutic strategy which targets multiple aspects of the pathway. Finally, we propose that some forms of mutant β -catenin are still susceptible to regulation and that such mutations may act to provide "just-right" signaling for optimal tumorigenic capability.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Treatments

HCT116βm, RKO, DLD1, and RKO-APC^{KO} cells were cultured in DMEM (with L-Glutamine and 4.5g/L Glucose; without Sodium Pyruvate) supplemented with 10% FBS and were maintained at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Wnt treatment was performed by adding Recombinant Wnt-3a (Peprotech #315-20) at the indicated concentration/time prior to cell lysis or immunofluorescence analysis. For siRNA-mediated inhibition, HCT116βm cells were transfected using Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions

with 37.5nM of each siRNA targeting human APC (Smartpool siRNAs 1-3: Dharmacon) or nontargeting siControl siRNA (Dharmacon). Cell media was changed one day following siRNA transfection, and cells were grown 48 hrs prior to Wnt treatment. MG-132 treatment was performed by addition of 10mM MG-132 to a final concentration of 10µM in cell media for four hours.

Analysis of CTNNB1 mutation frequency

Mutation frequency of the *CTNNB1* gene was assessed using the cBioPortal ^{33,34}. Colorectal adenocarcinoma datasets from DFCI (Cell Reports 2016), Genentech (Nature 2012), and TCGA (PanCancer Atlas) were queried for the *CTNNB1* and *APC* genes ^{38–40}. Of the 1,287 total cases, 1,225 had mutations data and were utilized for mutation frequency and mutual exclusivity determinations.

CTNNB1 Sanger Sequencing and Alignment

HCT116βm and RKO cells were harvested and DNA extraction was performed using the Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit according to manufacturer's instructions. PCR amplification was performed using the following primers: 5'-cctcctaatggcttggtgaa-3'; 5'-caggacttgggaggtatcca-3'. Following amplification, PCR products were gel-purified and sequenced by Genewiz. Trace files and sequence alignment were analyzed using SnapGene software (Insightful Science).

Immobilization of Wnt Protein

Wnt3a was immobilized onto Dynabeads as described previously ⁴¹. Briefly, 2.8µm Dynabeads M-270 Carboxylic Acid (Invitrogen) were activated by NHS/EDC (Sigma, 50 mg/ml each in cold 25mM MES pH 5) then washed three times with cold MES buffer. Wnt immobilization was performed by diluting 0.5µg of purified Wnt3a protein in cold MES buffer and incubated at room temperature (RT) for 1hr. To quench non-reactive carboxylic acid groups, beads were incubated with 50mM Trish pH 7.4 at RT for 15min. Beads were washed twice in PBS pH 7.4 before final resuspension in 400µl PBS/0.5% BSA and stored at 4°C. Unloadedbeads were prepared in parallel by incubating 1hr in MES without Wnt. Wnt3a activity following bead immobilization was verified using a TOPflash luciferase reporter assay ⁴².

Immunoblotting

Cells were washed 1x in PBS prior to harvesting in pre-heated high-salt sample lysis buffer (20% glycerol, 2% SDS, 30% 10X PBS, 2.5% β-mercaptoethanol). Scraped cells were transferred to Eppendorf tubes, heated at 95°C for 1min, pulled through an insulin syringe three times, and heated again. Samples were separated on 7.5% SDS-PAGE (Bio-Rad, TGX FastCast Acrylamide Kit) using Tris-Glycine running buffer and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (GE) with a 0.45-µm pore size. Antibodies were diluted in Odyssey Blocking Buffer TBS (LI-COR) as follows: anti-APC-M2 Chicken pAb (1:2,000), anti-β-catenin mouse mAb (1:1,000), anti-phospho-Ser33/Ser37/Thr41-β-catenin rabbit pAb (Cell Signaling, 1:500), anti-α-tubulin DM1A mouse mAb (Santa Cruz, 1:1,000), anti-β-actin mouse mAb (Sigma, 1:1,000), and IRDye 680LT and 800CW anti-rabbit, anti-mouse, or anti-chicken secondary antibodies (1:15,0000). Immunoblots were imaged on a LI-COR Odyssey CLx imaging system.

Wnt-Bead Pull-Down

Cells were grown in 6-well tissue culture plates and treated with 40µl Unloaded-beads or Wnt-beads for four hours. Following bead treatment, cells were briefly washed in 1x PBS prior to lysis in 200µl lysis buffer, described previously (150mM NaCl, 30mM Tris pH 7.5, 1mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 0.1mM PMSF, 0.5mM DTT, and HALT protease and phosphatase inhibitors) ^{25,26}. Following the addition of lysis buffer, cells were scraped into 1.5ml tubes and rotated at 4°C for 30min. Beads were isolated using a magnet and the supernatant was transferred to a new tube. Beads were washed three times in 500µl of cold lysis buffer. Following the last wash, beads were resuspended in 40µl cold PBS and 20µl 3X SDS sample buffer.

Luciferase Reporter Assay

Cells were seeded into 12-well plates 24 hours prior to transfection. On day of transfection, cell culture media was changed one hour prior to siRNA and plasmid transfection. Both reporter plasmids and siRNAs were transfected concurrently using Lipofectamine 3000 according to manufacturer's instructions. Human APC siRNA or control siRNA was transfected as done above. For luciferase reporters, cells were co-transfected with TOPflash (450ng) and Renilla (50ng) expression plasmids. As a control, identical wells were transfected with FOPflash (450ng) and Renilla (50ng) expression plasmids to validate that a scrambled TCF-binding sequence does not result in increased reporter activity upon treatment. Following two days of APC-depletion, cells were treated with Wnt3a for 24h and lysed using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega). Firefly luciferase signal was normalized to Renilla luciferase signal, and data were normalized to control (set to 1).

Immunofluorescence and Analysis

Cells were briefly rinsed in PBS prior to fixation. Cells were fixed in 4% PFA in Brinkley's Buffer 1980 (80mM PIPES pH 6.8, 1mM MgCl₂, 1mM EGTA) for 20min at RT, washed two times in PBS prior to permeabilization in TBS/0.2% Triton X-100 for 5min. Cells were washed in TBS two times prior to incubation for 1hr at RT in blocking buffer containing TBS/0.2% Triton X-100, 1% BSA, and 3% Normal Goat Serum. Primary and secondary antibodies were incubated for 1hr at RT. Cells were washed three times in TBS following primary and secondary antibody incubations. Mounting of coverslips was performed using Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Invitrogen). Antibody was diluted in blocking buffer as follows: anti- β -catenin mouse mAb (1:250, BD Transduction Laboratories, #610154). Stained cells were examined using an Axioplan microscope (Zeiss) with a X100 objective. Images of stained cells were captured using an Orca R² digital camera (Hamamatsu).

For calculation of the nuclear and cytoplasmic distribution of β -catenin, CellProfiler software ⁴³ was used to identify and measure the total and mean pixel intensities of β -catenin protein in cytoplasmic or nuclear compartments. Briefly, nuclei identification was first performed using the DAPI image, followed by cell identification by propagation. Cytoplasm was identified using the identified "total cells" and the identified nuclei to remove nuclei from cytoplasmic calculation. Automated pipeline creation was performed using the following as a guide: <u>https://github.com/CellProfiler/tutorials/blob/master/Translocation/Translocation.pdf</u>.

Quantification and Statistical Analysis

Fluorescent-detection and quantification of immunoblots was performed using the LI-COR Odyssey CLx imaging system and Image Studio[™] Lite software (LI-COR). Graphs were generated using Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Software, Inc.), and all statistical analyses were

performed using a two-tailed, unpaired t-test in which a value of p<0.05 is statistically

significant.

References

- 1. Logan, C. Y. & Nusse, R. The Wnt Signaling Pathway in Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **20**, 781–810 (2004).
- Clevers, H. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling in Development and Disease. *Cell* 127, 469–480 (2006).
- 3. MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K. & He, X. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. *Dev. Cell* **17**, 9–26 (2009).
- 4. The Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* **487**, 330–337 (2012).
- 5. Stamos, J. L. & Weis, W. I. The β-Catenin Destruction Complex. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **5**, a007898 (2013).
- 6. Aberle, H., Bauer, A., Stappert, J., Kispert, A. & Kemler, R. beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *EMBO J.* **16**, 3797–3804 (1997).
- 7. Kitagawa, M. *et al.* An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* **18**, 2401–2410 (1999).
- 8. Liu, C. *et al.* Control of β-Catenin Phosphorylation/Degradation by a Dual-Kinase Mechanism. *Cell* **108**, 837–847 (2002).
- 9. Bilić, J. *et al.* Wnt Induces LRP6 Signalosomes and Promotes Dishevelled-Dependent LRP6 Phosphorylation. *Science* **316**, 1619–1622 (2007).
- 10. Tamai, K. *et al.* LDL-receptor-related proteins in Wnt signal transduction. *Nature* **407**, 530 (2000).
- 11. Amit, S. *et al.* Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of β-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes Dev.* **16**, 1066–1076 (2002).
- 12. Fiol, C. J., Mahrenholz, A. M., Wang, Y., Roeske, R. W. & Roach, P. J. Formation of protein kinase recognition sites by covalent modification of the substrate. Molecular mechanism for the synergistic action of casein kinase II and glycogen synthase kinase 3. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 14042–14048 (1987).
- Frame, S., Cohen, P. & Biondi, R. M. A Common Phosphate Binding Site Explains the Unique Substrate Specificity of GSK3 and Its Inactivation by Phosphorylation. *Mol. Cell* 7, 1321–1327 (2001).
- 14. Hagen, T. & Vidal-Puig, A. Characterisation of the phosphorylation of β-catenin at the GSK-3 priming site Ser45. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **294**, 324–328 (2002).
- 15. Hart, M. *et al.* The F-box protein β -TrCP associates with phosphorylated β -catenin and regulates its activity in the cell. *Curr. Biol.* **9**, 207–211 (1999).
- 16. Latres, E., Chiaur, D. S. & Pagano, M. The human F box protein β -Trcp associates with the Cul1/Skp1 complex and regulates the stability of β -catenin. *Oncogene* **18**, 849–854 (1999).
- 17. Liu, C. *et al.* β-Trcp couples β-catenin phosphorylation-degradation and regulates Xenopus axis formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **96**, 6273–6278 (1999).

- 18. Winston, J. T. *et al.* The SCF β -TRCP–ubiquitin ligase complex associates specifically with phosphorylated destruction motifs in I κ B α and β -catenin and stimulates I κ B α ubiquitination in vitro. *Genes Dev.* **13**, 270–283 (1999).
- Albuquerque, C. *et al.* The 'just-right' signaling model: APC somatic mutations are selected based on a specific level of activation of the β-catenin signaling cascade. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 11, 1549–1560 (2002).
- Neufeld, K. L. *et al.* Adenomatous polyposis coli protein contains two nuclear export signals and shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97, 12085–12090 (2000).
- Neufeld, K. L., Zhang, F., Cullen, B. R. & White, R. L. APC-mediated downregulation of catenin activity involves nuclear sequestration and nuclear export. *EMBO Rep.* 1, 519–523 (2000).
- 22. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Townsley, F. & Bienz, M. The APC tumour suppressor has a nuclear export function. *Nature* **406**, 1009 (2000).
- 23. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Cliffe, A., Brabletz, T. & Bienz, M. Nuclear export of the APC tumour suppressor controls β-catenin function in transcription. *EMBO J.* **22**, 1101–1113 (2003).
- Sierra, J., Yoshida, T., Joazeiro, C. A. & Jones, K. A. The APC tumor suppressor counteracts β-catenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Dev.* 20, 586–600 (2006).
- 25. Li, V. S. W. *et al.* Wnt Signaling through Inhibition of β-Catenin Degradation in an Intact Axin1 Complex. *Cell* **149**, 1245–1256 (2012).
- 26. Parker, T. W. & Neufeld, K. L. APC controls Wnt-induced β-catenin destruction complex recruitment in human colonocytes. *Sci. Rep.* **10**, 1–14 (2020).
- 27. Su, Y. *et al.* APC Is Essential for Targeting Phosphorylated β-Catenin to the SCFβ-TrCP Ubiquitin Ligase. *Mol. Cell* **32**, 652–661 (2008).
- Yang, J. *et al.* Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) Differentially Regulates β-Catenin Phosphorylation and Ubiquitination in Colon Cancer Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 17751–17757 (2006).
- 29. Morin, P. J. *et al.* Activation of β-Catenin-Tcf Signaling in Colon Cancer by Mutations in β-Catenin or APC. *Science* **275**, 1787–1790 (1997).
- Wang, Z., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Phosphorylation of β-Catenin at S33, S37, or T41 Can Occur in the Absence of Phosphorylation at T45 in Colon Cancer Cells. *Cancer Res.* 63, 5234–5235 (2003).
- Chan, T. A., Wang, Z., Dang, L. H., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Targeted inactivation of CTNNB1 reveals unexpected effects of β-catenin mutation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 99, 8265–8270 (2002).
- 32. Kim, S. & Jeong, S. Mutation Hotspots in the β -Catenin Gene: Lessons from the Human Cancer Genome Databases. *Mol. Cells* **42**, 8–16 (2019).
- 33. Cerami, E. *et al.* The cBio Cancer Genomics Portal: An Open Platform for Exploring Multidimensional Cancer Genomics Data. *Cancer Discov.* **2**, 401–404 (2012).
- 34. Gao, J. *et al.* Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci. Signal.* **6**, pl1 (2013).
- Bottomly, D., Kyler, S. L., McWeeney, S. K. & Yochum, G. S. Identification of β-catenin binding regions in colon cancer cells using ChIP-Seq. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 5735–5745 (2010).

- 36. Hatzis, P. *et al.* Genome-Wide Pattern of TCF7L2/TCF4 Chromatin Occupancy in Colorectal Cancer Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **28**, 2732–2744 (2008).
- 37. Sutherland, C. What Are the bona fide GSK3 Substrates? *International Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* vol. 2011 e505607 https://www.hindawi.com/journals/ijad/2011/505607/ (2011).
- 38. Giannakis, M. *et al.* Genomic Correlates of Immune-Cell Infiltrates in Colorectal Carcinoma. *Cell Rep.* **15**, 857–865 (2016).
- 39. Seshagiri, S. *et al.* Recurrent R-spondin fusions in colon cancer. *Nature* **488**, 660–664 (2012).
- 40. Weinstein, J. N. *et al.* The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis project. *Nat. Genet.* **45**, 1113–1120 (2013).
- 41. Habib, S. J. *et al.* A Localized Wnt Signal Orients Asymmetric Stem Cell Division in Vitro. *Science* **339**, 1445–1448 (2013).
- 42. Korinek, V. *et al.* Constitutive Transcriptional Activation by a β-Catenin-Tcf Complex in APC-/- Colon Carcinoma. *Science* **275**, 1784–1787 (1997).
- 43. McQuin, C. *et al.* CellProfiler 3.0: Next-generation image processing for biology. *PLOS Biol.* **16**, e2005970 (2018).

Chapter 4

Dynamics of the Wnt Response

Abstract

The Wnt signaling pathway is essential for the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis and is frequently deregulated in human colorectal cancer (CRC) due to mutation to the tumor suppressor, Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC). The stem cells of the intestine are regulated by locally secreted Wnt ligands which maintain their proliferative capacity. For this reason, the appropriate balance of Wnt pathway activation is crucial to intestinal homeostasis. Regulation of the Wnt pathway occurs through strict control of β -catenin levels by a cytoplasmic β -catenin destruction complex composed of APC, Axin, CK1-a, and GSK-3β. We have previously demonstrated that Wnt stimulation relocalizes the destruction complex to the Wnt receptors in an APC-dependent manner, however we do not know the timing by which relocalization occurs. Here, we identify that downstream pathway activation occurs within two hours of Wnt treatment which is preceded by β -catenin accumulation within 1-2 hours in CRC cells. Destruction complex localization occurs within 15 minutes of Wnt exposure and we find that newly synthesized or pre-existing pools of β -catenin can associate with the membrane-localized complex. Additionally, the loss of APC impairs the ability of CRC cells to further accumulate βcatenin upon Wnt stimulus or properly degrade β -catenin. We find that APC loss does not interfere with phosphorylation of β -catenin but that proteasomal inhibition causes β -catenin accumulation. Our data support a model in which APC enhances the ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of β -catenin and that APC is involved in the transduction of a Wnt signal by rapidly localizing the destruction complex to the membrane.

Introduction

The Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway is involved in the maintenance of many tissues and cellular processes and is frequently deregulated in cancer and other diseases ^{1–3}. Therapeutic targeting of the Wnt pathway has been challenging due to its immense complexity, tissue-specific signaling, and incompletely resolved mechanistic details ⁴. Wnt signaling regulates the expression of many genes involved in cellular proliferation (for a current list of Wnt target genes: <u>https://web.stanford.edu/group/nusselab/cgi-bin/wnt/target_genes</u>). In the absence of a Wnt ligand, a cytoplasmic β-catenin destruction complex composed of APC, Axin, CK1-α, and GSK-3β negatively regulates the pathway by binding and phosphorylating β-catenin, targeting it for ubiquitination mediated by β-TrCP followed by proteasomal degradation ^{5–7}. However, the engagement of a Wnt ligand with the co-receptors Fzd and LRP5/6 results in the formation of a heterotrimeric signalosome and ultimately leads to inhibition of the β-catenin destruction complex are not well understood despite the frequent alteration of Wnt pathway components in human disease.

In colorectal cancer (CRC), Wnt pathway mutations are present in over 90% of cases resulting in deregulated Wnt pathway activity ¹¹. In over 80% of human CRC, the Wnt pathway is activated by mutation to the Wnt antagonist, *APC* ¹¹. Human *APC* mutations often arise in a region referred to as the "mutation cluster region" (MCR) which result in a truncated protein product ^{12,13}. Mutations to the MCR result in loss of β -catenin binding sites (20R), Axin-interaction sites (SAMP), nuclear localization sequences, and a basic region at the C-terminus involved in cytoskeletal interactions. Despite the majority of human CRC containing *APC*

mutations, it is not well-defined what the exact function of APC is in Wnt regulation or why *APC* mutations predominate since mutation to other components could activate Wnt signaling. Through its β -catenin binding domains and SAMP motifs, it is well-established that APC acts as a scaffold in the β -catenin destruction complex. However, another scaffold protein, Axin, is present in the complex and has binding sites for the core machinery of the β -catenin destruction complex. APC has been implicated in nuclear interactions with β -catenin to repress Wnt target gene expression, enhancement of GSK-3 β activity, and in the ubiquitination of β -catenin ^{14–20}.

Recently, we demonstrated that APC is also responsible for Wnt-induced relocalization of the β-catenin destruction complex to Wnt3a-Dynabeads ²¹. This data was collected at between 4-14 hours (4h WB Pull-down, 12-14h Wnt-bead IF) after addition of Wnt-beads. However, several studies have indicated that an immediate Wnt response may occur. Live-cell imaging of HEK293 cells expressing YFP-tagged β -catenin reveals that β -catenin accumulation and nuclear localization occur within 60 minutes ²². The same study found that YFP-β-catenin membrane localization occurs rapidly and remains constant for several hours following the initial accumulation. Further, Wnt3a treatment in NIH3T3 cells resulted in the presence of Axin in membrane fractions within 20 minutes and FRET analysis demonstrated an interaction between LRP5 and Axin just three minutes after Wnt stimulation ²³. Analysis of the endogenous β -catenin destruction complex revealed that Axin1 interacts with the LRP6 receptor within 30 minutes of Wnt stimulation ²⁴. These data, obtained in multiple cell types, indicate that an initial response to Wnt stimulation may involve rapid translocation of the destruction complex in order to accumulate β -catenin. Given our previous data, we sought to test whether Wnt-induced destruction complex localization is an initial event of Wnt signal transduction and whether APCloss affects the dynamics of Wnt-induced β -catenin accumulation.

As noted previously (Chapter 2), our understanding of Wnt signaling dynamics as it relates to intestinal epithelial cells has been limited. Many studies have utilized overexpression of Wnt pathway components or relied on treatment of cells with soluble Wnt in the media which limits the ability to elucidate dynamics of the endogenous destruction complex and its localization in response to Wnt. Here, we examine the initial response of endogenous β -catenin and the destruction complex to Wnt-3a. We demonstrate that APC and β -catenin localize to a Wnt bead within 15 minutes if β -catenin levels are sufficient for detection. Further, our data suggest that either newly synthesized β -catenin or previously existing pools of β -catenin can be recruited to the destruction complex once it is at the cell membrane. We also demonstrate that β catenin levels accumulate within 1 hour of Wnt treatment in cells with an intact Wnt pathway, but that Wnt-induced β -catenin accumulation and degradation is impaired in APC-knockout cells. Our work provides useful information regarding the kinetics of the Wnt response in CRC cells and provides evidence that newly synthesized or previously existing β -catenin is maintained within the destruction complex following Wnt treatment.

Results

Wnt pathway activation occurs within 2 hours of Wnt-3a treatment

Previously, we demonstrated that the β -catenin destruction complex relocalizes toward a Wnt-source within 4-14 hours in RKO colorectal cancer cells which harbor an intact Wnt signaling pathway ²¹. It is possible that destruction complex localization toward Wnt is not a direct consequence of the initial Wnt response, but rather a downstream consequence of Wnt target gene expression. Wnt target genes are reported to be induced within 30 minutes to 1 hour
in other cell types ²⁴. Thus, we used the TOPflash β -catenin activity luciferase-reporter assay ²⁵ to determine the timing of the transcriptional response to a Wnt ligand in our setting. RKO cells were co-transfected for ~24 hours with either the TOPflash or the negative control FOPflash reporter plasmids and with the Renilla-luciferase control plasmid. Treatment with recombinant Wnt-3a resulted in a 50% increase in TOPflash activity by 2h (Fig. 4.1A). Since the TOPflash reporter assay relies on transcription and translation of the luciferase gene, it is likely that transcriptional activation of Wnt-responsive genes occurs prior to 2h of Wnt treatment. By 4h, luciferase activity reached 4.4-fold higher than control. We find that the half-life of TOPflash firefly luciferase in RKO cells is ~167 minutes (Fig. 4.1B), thus it is likely that the enhanced luciferase signal seen after 4h Wnt3a is in part due to accumulation of the luciferase protein (Fig. 4.1A). Renilla and FOPflash firefly luciferases had similar half-lives (Fig. 4.1B). To determine if Wnt pathway activation affects the stability of luciferase protein, we utilized RKO-APC^{KO} cells which have high endogenous Wnt pathway activity and found half-lives of the various luciferases to be ~180 minutes (Fig. 4.1C). Taken together, these data demonstrate that RKO cells are transcriptionally responsive to Wnt within 2 hours.

Destruction complex recruitment to Wnt is an early event in Wnt signal transduction

APC and β -catenin localize to Wnt-beads in ~70-80% of RKO cells treated for 12-14 hours ²¹. Given that transcriptional activation of the Wnt pathway occurs in RKO cells in less than 2 hours, it is possible that Wnt-induced destruction complex localization is a secondary effect of the Wnt response rather than an initial event. We found APC localization toward Wntbeads in 68% of cells treated for 15 minutes, the shortest interval we were able to analyze (Fig. 4.2A, C). At earlier time points, most beads do not adhere to the cells and are lost during



Figure 4.1 *Wnt pathway activation in RKO cells.* (A) Luciferase activity in RKO cells treated with 71ng recombinant Wnt3a. Cells were transfected with the TOPflash reporter plasmid or the negative control FOPflash and normalized to Renilla-luciferase expression. N=2 experiments. (B) Degradation of Firefly luciferase (TOP and FOPflash) and Renilla-luciferase in RKO cells following 100µg/ml cycloheximide treatment. (C) Degradation of Firefly luciferase in RKO-APC^{KO} cells following cycloheximide treatment.

immunofluorescent staining. By 30 minutes of Wnt treatment, 77% of cells displayed APC near the Wnt-bead, a pattern that persisted throughout the duration of treatment (Fig. 4.2C) These data demonstrate that APC, a key component of the β -catenin destruction complex, localizes to the Wnt receptors soon after Wnt stimulation and maintains association with Wnt-beads. Unexpectedly, β -catenin localization only occurred in 32% of Wnt-bead treated cells by 15 minutes and steadily increased in Wnt-bead localization until 4h (Fig. 4.2B, C). These data are consistent with the destruction complex localizing toward a Wnt-cue early on, but β -catenin joining the complex at later times. Alternatively, RKO cells possess a functional destruction complex and the low β -catenin levels may limit the detection of β -catenin re-localized toward the Wnt-bead.

Wnt-beads induce immediate localization of previously synthesized β -cat $\Delta S45$

HCT116βm cells contain a single allele of mutant β-catenin harboring a Ser45 deletion (referred to as β-cat Δ S45) which results in its stabilization ²⁶. β-cat Δ S45 and APC localize to Wnt-beads in HCT116βm cells ²¹ and β-cat Δ S45 continues to be Wnt-regulated, albeit less efficiently than in RKO cells (Chapter 3). Thus, HCT116βm cells have levels of β-cat Δ S45 higher than RKO and may be useful to determine localization kinetics at earlier times post Wnt addition. Moreover, HCT116βm cells would allow us to distinguish localization of β-catenin present at the time of Wnt addition from newly synthesized. HCT116βm cells were treated with translation inhibitor cycloheximide and Wnt-beads at the same time. Interestingly, we find that both APC and β-catenin localize to a Wnt-bead in the presence or absence of cycloheximide within 15 minutes (Fig. 4.3A, B). These results suggest that β-catenin can quickly localize to a Wnt source and Wnt bead localization is not limited to newly synthesized β-catenin. Together



Figure 4.2 *Wnt-induced APC localization is followed by* β *-catenin localization in RKO cells.* Representative images of RKO cells treated with UB or WB for the indicated times. Representative images shown for (A) APC, and (B) β -catenin. (C) Scoring of APC and β -catenin localization. Scoring was performed as in Chapter 2 and the percent of cells localizing toward the bead is shown. Data averaged from three independent experiments (n=25 cells per condition). Error bars, SEM.



Figure 4.3 Wnt-induced APC and β -catenin localization are independent of synthesis of new proteins in HCT116 β m cells. Representative images of HCT116 β m cells treated with UB or WB in the presence or absence of cycloheximide for the indicated times. Representative images and scoring shown for (A) APC, and (B) β -catenin. (C) Scoring of APC and β -catenin localization. Scoring was performed as in Chapter 2 and the percent of cells localizing toward the bead is shown. Data from one experiment (n=25 cells per condition).

with the data in RKO cells, these findings suggest that previously synthesized β -catenin localizes with destruction complex component APC toward a Wnt-bead but also that newly synthesized β catenin can be bound by the destruction complex after it has localized to the membrane.

β -catenin accumulation and degradation is dependent on APC

So far, our data demonstrated that Wnt-ligand presentation can induce the Wnt transcriptional program within 2 hours and that destruction complex localization to a Wnt-ligand is an early event in Wnt signal transduction. Further, we previously showed that APC controls the Wnt-induced complex localization to the membrane ²¹. Given these results, we sought to examine the APC influence on the β -catenin accumulation and degradation kinetics.

To examine the rate of β -catenin accumulation in response to Wnt, we treated RKO and RKO-APC^{KO} cells with Wnt for 0-4 hours and examined β -catenin levels. By 1 hour of Wnt treatment, RKO cells exhibit a 1.47-fold increase in β -catenin compared to control with a further increase up to 3.7-fold by 2h (Fig. 4.4A, B). APC-loss renders RKO cells transcriptionally unresponsive to Wnt (see TOPflash assay in Fig. 3.4B). In addition, RKO-APC^{KO} cells do not exhibit any β -catenin accumulation when exposed to Wnt (Fig. 4.4A, B). While RKO-APC^{KO} cells have high basal levels of β -catenin, APC loss may limit further accumulation by interfering with the response to Wnt.

The β -catenin destruction complex functions to promote β -catenin degradation. Inhibiting protein translation in RKO cells by treatment with cycloheximide results in a 60% decrease in β -catenin within 15 minutes (Fig. 4.4C, D). This data suggests that the destruction complex is highly active in RKO cells. In contrast, RKO-APC^{KO} cells only exhibit a 6% decrease in β -

catenin by 15m and a 21% decrease by 1h (Fig. 4.4C, D). These data demonstrate that APC loss greatly reduces the degradation of β -catenin.

The primary regulatory mechanism of the β-catenin destruction complex is to phosphorylate β-catenin at four conserved sites – Ser45 by CK1-α followed by Ser33/Ser37/Thr41 by GSK-3β⁷. In chapter three, we identified phosphorylated β-catenin in RKO cells and showed that proteasome inhibition resulted in increased total and GSK-3βphosphorylated β-catenin (see Fig. 3.5D). To test if β-catenin phosphorylation is impaired upon APC loss or mutation, we treated RKO-APC^{KO} cells or DLD1 cells (truncated APC) with MG132 in the presence or absence of Wnt-3a (Fig. 4.4E). Treatment of RKO-APC^{KO} cells with MG132 resulted in 1.9-fold increase in β-catenin level and a 5.7-fold increase in phospho-S33/S37/T41-βcatenin compared to untreated cells (Fig. 4.4F). DLD1 cells exhibit a similar increase in β-catenin level, but phosphorylated β-catenin does not accumulate to the level seen in RKO-APC^{KO} (Fig. 4.4F). The ratio of phosphorylated β-catenin to total β-catenin shows that phosphorylated β-catenin accumulates more than total β-catenin in RKO-APC^{KO} but not in DLD1 (Fig. 4.4G).

Discussion

In the current study, we sought to examine the dynamics of the initial Wnt response in colorectal cancer cells and test roles for APC within the β -catenin destruction complex. Previously, we demonstrated that the β -catenin destruction complex localizes to a Wnt-bead within 12-14 hours in human intestinal epithelial cells in an APC-dependent manner ²¹. This work demonstrated that APC controls the localization of the β -catenin destruction complex



Figure 4.4 *APC loss impairs Wnt-induced* β-catenin accumulation and β-catenin degradation. (A) β-catenin accumulation in RKO and RKO-APC^{KO} cells treated with 25ng/ml Wnt-3a for the indicated times. (B) Quantification of β-catenin accumulation averaged from three independent experiments. Relative fold-change calculated by dividing each lane by α-tubulin and normalizing to NT. (C) β-catenin degradation in RKO and RKO-APC^{KO} following 100µg/ml cycloheximide treatment. (D) Quantification of β-catenin degradation in one experiment. (E) Treatment of RKO-APC^{KO} and DLD1 cells with 10µM MG-132 and 25ng/ml Wnt-3a as indicated. (F) Quantification of phospho-S33/S37/T41-β-catenin levels representative of two independent experiments. The same experiment was performed on RKO and HCT116βm cells in Chapter 3. Error bars, SEM. following Wnt stimulation and that the destruction complex can maintain association with β catenin following Wnt stimulation. However, the dynamics of destruction complex localization to Wnt are not known and may occur much faster. Further, our previous data suggests that APC may play a positive role in the transduction of a Wnt signal. Given that APC is involved in movement of the destruction complex to the Wnt-stimulated receptors, it is possible that APCloss may be responsible for the inability of APC-mutant cells to respond to Wnt.

Here, we utilized RKO cells with an intact Wnt signaling pathway to examine the kinetics of the Wnt response. We found that Wnt-induced APC membrane localization occurs rapidly within 15 minutes. We, and others, postulate that β -catenin maintains association with the destruction complex following Wnt stimulation 21,24 . However, we find that Wnt-induced β catenin localization is infrequent until four hours of Wnt-bead treatment. These data prompted us to ask whether newly synthesized β -catenin is brought into membrane-bound destruction complexes or if previously existing pools of β -catenin could localize to Wnt-beads. To ask this, we utilized Wnt-responsive HCT116 β m cells which express β -cat Δ S45. β -cat Δ S45 is present at higher concentrations than wild-type β -catenin in RKO cells, continues to be bound by the β catenin destruction complex, and relocalizes upon extended Wnt stimulation ²¹. When treated with Wnt-beads, β -cat Δ S45 in HCT116 β m cells relocalizes to the Wnt-bead within 15 minutes, as seen with APC. Further, inhibition of translation does not interfere with this Wnt-induced response, indicating that pre-existing β -cat Δ S45 is trafficked to the Wnt-bead as part of the initial Wnt-response. The incorporation of β -catenin by four hours in RKO cells indicates that newly synthesized β -catenin can be sequestered by membrane-bound destruction complexes, whereas the data in HCT116 β m cells indicates that pre-existing β -catenin can be trafficked as well. The ability of the membrane-bound destruction complex to continue binding newly

synthesized β -catenin may act as a buffer to ensure that the saturation of available destruction complexes must occur before β -catenin accumulation can take place.

Further, we analyzed the kinetics of Wnt-induced β-catenin accumulation in RKO and RKO-APC^{KO} cells. While RKO cells accumulate β-catenin within 1-2 hours, RKO-APC^{KO} cells are defective in Wnt-induced β-catenin accumulation. RKO-APC^{KO} cells are unable to degrade β-catenin despite the ability to phosphorylate β-catenin at its GSK-3β phosphorylation sites. These data suggest APC-loss renders cells unresponsive to further Wnt stimulation, possibly through the inability of APC to traffic destruction complex components to the membrane. Additionally, these data agree with previous studies that APC may play a key role in promoting β-catenin ubiquitination, given the findings that RKO-APC^{KO} cells maintain high basal levels of β-catenin, are defective in its degradation, and are able to phosphorylate β-catenin ¹⁹.

In the current study, we have clarified that β-catenin destruction complex localization is an immediate response to Wnt signaling rather than a downstream event due to transcriptional feedback from Wnt pathway activation. Future studies are needed to determine the mechanism by which APC traffics the destruction complex to the membrane given that this response is lost in APC-mutant cells and may be responsible for the inability to respond to Wnt stimulation. Previous studies have primarily suggested that Axin is responsible for destruction complex membrane association given that Axin interacts with phosphorylated LRP5/6 receptors and Dvl ^{23,27,28}. Our data does not support this model, but rather supports a model in which APC traffics the complex to the membrane. It is possible that Axin-binding to LRP5/6 and Dvl docks the complex to the membrane following APC trafficking, however we previously demonstrated that Axin1-knockdown had no effect on destruction complex localization in colon epithelial cells ²¹. Taken together, our data indicate that the C-terminus of APC may contribute to destruction complex trafficking, possibly through its interactions with cytoskeletal proteins $^{29-36}$. Overall, these findings demonstrate the importance of understanding the kinetics of the Wnt response and the multiple roles of APC in β -catenin degradation as well as Wnt signal transduction.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Treatments

HCT116βm, RKO, DLD1, and RKO-APC^{KO} cells were cultured in DMEM (with L-Glutamine and 4.5g/L Glucose; without Sodium Pyruvate) supplemented with 10% FBS and were maintained at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Wnt treatment was performed by adding Recombinant Wnt-3a (Peprotech #315-20) at the indicated concentration/time prior to cell lysis or immunofluorescence analysis. MG-132 treatment was performed by addition of 10mM MG-132 to a final concentration of 10µM in cell media for four hours. Cycloheximide treatment was performed by addition of 100µg/ml cycloheximide to the cell media for the indicated times.

Immunoblotting

Cells were washed 1x in PBS prior to harvesting in pre-heated high-salt sample lysis buffer (20% glycerol, 2% SDS, 30% 10X PBS, 2.5% β-mercaptoethanol). Scraped cells were transferred to Eppendorf tubes, heated at 95°C for 1min, pulled through an insulin syringe three times, and heated again. Samples were separated on 7.5% SDS-PAGE (Bio-Rad, TGX FastCast Acrylamide Kit) using Tris-Glycine running buffer and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (GE) with a 0.45-µm pore size. Antibodies were diluted in Odyssey Blocking Buffer TBS (LI-COR) as follows: anti-APC-M2 Chicken pAb (1:2,000), anti-β-catenin mouse mAb (1:1,000), anti-phospho-Ser33/Ser37/Thr41-β-catenin rabbit pAb (Cell Signaling, 1:500), anti-α-tubulin DM1A mouse mAb (Santa Cruz, 1:1,000), anti-β-actin mouse mAb (Sigma, 1:1,000), and IRDye 680LT and 800CW anti-rabbit, anti-mouse, or anti-chicken secondary antibodies (1:15,0000). Immunoblots were imaged on a LI-COR Odyssey CLx imaging system.

Luciferase Reporter Assay

Cells were seeded into 12-well plates 24 hours prior to transfection. On day of transfection, cell culture media was changed one hour prior to siRNA and plasmid transfection. Both reporter plasmids and siRNAs were transfected concurrently using Lipofectamine 3000 according to manufacturer's instructions. For luciferase reporters, cells were co-transfected with TOPflash (450ng) and Renilla (50ng) expression plasmids. As a control, identical wells were transfected with FOPflash (450ng) and Renilla (50ng) expression plasmids to validate that a scrambled TCF-binding sequence does not result in increased reporter activity upon treatment. Cells were treated with Wnt3a or cycloheximide for the indicated times and lysed using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega). Firefly luciferase signal was normalized to Renilla luciferase signal, and data were normalized to control (set to 1).

Immunofluorescence and Analysis

Cells were briefly rinsed in PBS prior to fixation. Cells were fixed in 4% PFA in Brinkley's Buffer 1980 (80mM PIPES pH 6.8, 1mM MgCl₂, 1mM EGTA) for 20min at RT, washed two times in PBS prior to permeabilization in TBS/0.2% Triton X-100 for 5min. Cells were washed in TBS two times prior to incubation for 1hr at RT in blocking buffer containing TBS/0.2% Triton X-100, 1% BSA, and 3% Normal Goat Serum. Primary and secondary

antibodies were incubated for 1hr at RT. Cells were washed three times in TBS following primary and secondary antibody incubations. Mounting of coverslips was performed using Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Invitrogen). Antibody was diluted in blocking buffer as follows: anti- β -catenin mouse mAb (1:250, BD Transduction Laboratories, #610154), anti-APC rabbit pAb (1:4,000, generated previously in Neufeld lab). Stained cells were examined using an Axioplan microscope (Zeiss) with a X100 objective. Images of stained cells were captured using an Orca R² digital camera (Hamamatsu).

Quantification and Statistical Analysis

Fluorescent-detection and quantification of immunoblots was performed using the LI-

COR Odyssey CLx imaging system and Image Studio[™] Lite software (LI-COR). Graphs were

generated using Graphad Prism (GraphPad Software, Inc.). Scoring of APC and β -catenin

localization was performed as done in Chapter 2²¹.

References

- 1. Clevers, H. & Nusse, R. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling and Disease. *Cell* **149**, 1192–1205 (2012).
- 2. Logan, C. Y. & Nusse, R. The Wnt Signaling Pathway in Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **20**, 781–810 (2004).
- MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K. & He, X. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. *Dev. Cell* 17, 9–26 (2009).
- 4. Kahn, M. Can we safely target the WNT pathway? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **13**, 513–532 (2014).
- 5. Aberle, H., Bauer, A., Stappert, J., Kispert, A. & Kemler, R. beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *EMBO J.* **16**, 3797–3804 (1997).
- 6. Kitagawa, M. *et al.* An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* **18**, 2401–2410 (1999).
- Liu, C. *et al.* Control of β-Catenin Phosphorylation/Degradation by a Dual-Kinase Mechanism. *Cell* 108, 837–847 (2002).
- 8. Bilić, J. *et al.* Wnt Induces LRP6 Signalosomes and Promotes Dishevelled-Dependent LRP6 Phosphorylation. *Science* **316**, 1619–1622 (2007).

- 9. Bourhis, E. *et al.* Reconstitution of a Frizzled8·Wnt3a·LRP6 Signaling Complex Reveals Multiple Wnt and Dkk1 Binding Sites on LRP6. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 9172–9179 (2010).
- 10. Tamai, K. *et al.* LDL-receptor-related proteins in Wnt signal transduction. *Nature* **407**, 530 (2000).
- 11. The Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* **487**, 330–337 (2012).
- Kohler, E. M., Derungs, A., Daum, G., Behrens, J. & Schneikert, J. Functional definition of the mutation cluster region of adenomatous polyposis coli in colorectal tumours. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 1978–1987 (2008).
- 13. Mori, Y. *et al.* Somatic mutations of the APC gene in colorectal tumors: mutation cluster region in the APC gene. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **1**, 229–233 (1992).
- Neufeld, K. L. *et al.* Adenomatous polyposis coli protein contains two nuclear export signals and shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97, 12085–12090 (2000).
- Neufeld, K. L., Zhang, F., Cullen, B. R. & White, R. L. APC-mediated downregulation of catenin activity involves nuclear sequestration and nuclear export. *EMBO Rep.* 1, 519–523 (2000).
- 16. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Townsley, F. & Bienz, M. The APC tumour suppressor has a nuclear export function. *Nature* **406**, 1009 (2000).
- 17. Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Cliffe, A., Brabletz, T. & Bienz, M. Nuclear export of the APC tumour suppressor controls β-catenin function in transcription. *EMBO J.* **22**, 1101–1113 (2003).
- Sierra, J., Yoshida, T., Joazeiro, C. A. & Jones, K. A. The APC tumor suppressor counteracts β-catenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Dev.* 20, 586–600 (2006).
- 19. Su, Y. *et al.* APC Is Essential for Targeting Phosphorylated β-Catenin to the SCFβ-TrCP Ubiquitin Ligase. *Mol. Cell* **32**, 652–661 (2008).
- Valvezan, A. J., Zhang, F., Diehl, J. A. & Klein, P. S. Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) Regulates Multiple Signaling Pathways by Enhancing Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 (GSK-3) Activity. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 3823–3832 (2012).
- 21. Parker, T. W. & Neufeld, K. L. APC controls Wnt-induced β-catenin destruction complex recruitment in human colonocytes. *Sci. Rep.* **10**, 1–14 (2020).
- 22. Kafri, P. *et al.* Quantifying β-catenin subcellular dynamics and cyclin D1 mRNA transcription during Wnt signaling in single living cells. *eLife* **5**, e16748 (2016).
- 23. Mao, J. *et al.* Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein-5 Binds to Axin and Regulates the Canonical Wnt Signaling Pathway. *Mol. Cell* **7**, 801–809 (2001).
- 24. Li, V. S. W. *et al.* Wnt Signaling through Inhibition of β-Catenin Degradation in an Intact Axin1 Complex. *Cell* **149**, 1245–1256 (2012).
- 25. Korinek, V. *et al.* Constitutive Transcriptional Activation by a β-Catenin-Tcf Complex in APC-/- Colon Carcinoma. *Science* **275**, 1784–1787 (1997).
- Chan, T. A., Wang, Z., Dang, L. H., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Targeted inactivation of CTNNB1 reveals unexpected effects of β-catenin mutation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 99, 8265–8270 (2002).
- Lee, E., Salic, A., Krüger, R., Heinrich, R. & Kirschner, M. W. The Roles of APC and Axin Derived from Experimental and Theoretical Analysis of the Wnt Pathway. *PLOS Biol.* 1, e10 (2003).

- 28. Tolwinski, N. S. *et al.* Wg/Wnt Signal Can Be Transmitted through Arrow/LRP5,6 and Axin Independently of Zw3/Gsk3β Activity. *Dev. Cell* **4**, 407–418 (2003).
- 29. Dikovskaya, D. *et al.* Microtubule assembly by the Apc protein is regulated by importin-β—RanGTP. *J. Cell Sci.* **123**, 736–746 (2010).
- 30. Gao, F. J. *et al.* Insulin signaling regulates a functional interaction between adenomatous polyposis coli and cytoplasmic dynein. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **28**, 587–599 (2017).
- Juanes, M. A. *et al.* Adenomatous polyposis coli nucleates actin assembly to drive cell migration and microtubule-induced focal adhesion turnover. *J Cell Biol* 216, 2859–2875 (2017).
- 32. Juanes, M. A. *et al.* The role of APC-mediated actin assembly in microtubule capture and focal adhesion turnover. *J. Cell Biol.* jcb.201904165 (2019) doi:10.1083/jcb.201904165.
- 33. Moseley, J. B. *et al.* Regulated Binding of Adenomatous Polyposis Coli Protein to Actin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **282**, 12661–12668 (2007).
- 34. Munemitsu, S. *et al.* The APC Gene Product Associates with Microtubules in Vivo and Promotes Their Assembly in Vitro. *Cancer Res.* **54**, 3676–3681 (1994).
- Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Ihrke, G. & Bienz, M. Actin-dependent membrane association of the APC tumour suppressor in polarized mammalian epithelial cells. *EMBO J.* 20, 5929–5939 (2001).
- 36. Ruane, P. T. *et al.* Tumour Suppressor Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) localisation is regulated by both Kinesin-1 and Kinesin-2. *Sci. Rep.* **6**, (2016).

Chapter 5

Discussion

Chapter 5. Discussion

Mutation of the tumor suppressor APC occurs in the majority of human colorectal cancers and is considered to be an initiating event in colorectal tumorigenesis ^{1–3}. Since the discovery of APC in the early 1990s ^{4,5}, many studies have attempted to uncover its functional roles within and outside of Wnt/β-catenin signaling (reviewed in ⁶). The primary known role of APC is as a negative regulator of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in which APC participates as part of the β -catenin destruction complex to maintain low cellular levels of the transcriptional co-factor β -catenin. In many human CRCs, APC mutation frequently results in the expression of a truncated protein product absent of important functional domains involved in β-catenin and Axin binding, nuclear localization, and cytoskeletal interaction. APC truncations result in elevated β -catenin levels and consequently lead to aberrant activation of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. It is intriguing that APC mutations appear to be selected in CRC, given that alteration to other Wnt pathway components can also lead to elevated β -catenin levels and transcriptional activity. For these reasons, it has been proposed that APC mutations predominate in CRC based on their ability to maintain a specific level of β -catenin regulation so that a "justright" amount of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling takes place for optimal tumor growth ⁷. Given that APC has no known enzymatic activity and its primary function is thought to be involvement as a scaffolding protein, the roles APC performs in normal Wnt/β-catenin regulation and in Wnt signal transduction remain elusive. Perhaps the loss of other C-terminal domains of APC such as those mediating cytoskeletal interactions or nuclear localization are important for intestinal tumorigenesis. Dissecting less characterized functions of APC in β-catenin regulation and Wnt signal transduction is a major focus of this work.

The mechanism by which the β -catenin destruction complex is inhibited following Wnt stimulation is not well understood and remains one of the largest questions in the Wnt signaling field. While numerous models of destruction complex inhibition following Wnt receptor activation have been proposed, the specific molecular events that occur continue to be debated for myriad reasons. The use of overexpression of Wnt pathway components, global addition of Wnt to cell culture media, or the wide range of cell and tissue types used may affect stoichiometry of the destruction complex, improperly represent a polarized Wnt cue, or lead to results that are specific to a single cell type. As such, models of destruction complex inactivation have included kinase inactivation or partial disassembly ^{8–12}, targeting to the Wnt receptors ^{13–16}, or endocytosis of the complex^{17,18}. While it is possible that some or all of these models are accurate depending on the cell or tissue type, the ongoing debate and lack of mechanistic understanding highlight the necessity for further studies in cells that represent the cancer tissue of origin to resolve the inactivation of the β -catenin destruction complex following Wnt signaling.

Through the study of colon epithelial cells of both normal and malignant origin, I have uncovered a novel role for APC in destruction complex trafficking following Wnt stimulation (Chapter 2). Further, I have found that a so called "stabilizing" mutation in β -catenin does not completely evade regulation by the destruction complex (Chapter 3). Cells containing stabilizing β -catenin mutations continue to be Wnt-responsive, despite having an activating mutation downstream in the pathway. My studies also have provided additional support for nuclear export roles of APC and led us to propose a model whereby β -catenin mutations can also act in a "just-right" signaling manner, similar to that previously suggested for APC ⁷. Finally, I performed analyses of the kinetics of destruction complex trafficking to a localized Wnt source and found

that the β -catenin destruction complex appears to localize rapidly toward a Wnt cue. Further, newly synthesized or previously existing β -catenin is able to be brought into these membranetethered complexes (Chapter 4). The work in this dissertation provides important findings regarding the nature and roles of *APC* and β -catenin human colorectal cancer and roles for APC in the transduction of Wnt signals in colon epithelial cells of healthy and malignant origin.

A role for APC in Wnt-induced β-catenin destruction complex localization

What molecular events occur to inhibit the β -catenin destruction complex following Wnt stimulation? A primary limitation to addressing this problem is the inability to assess where the β -catenin destruction complex localizes in response to Wnt since previous studies have relied on addition of soluble Wnt in the media. To ask whether Wnt signals can act as polarity cues to induce asymmetric division of mouse embryonic stem cells, the lab of Roel Nusse developed an assay in which recombinant Wnt ligands were conjugated to Dynabeads ¹⁶. Since the Wnt ligand is chemically conjugated to the bead, this technique allows for the analysis of destruction complex localization to a defined placement of Wnt rather than engaging entire cell surfaces with soluble Wnt.

My initial analysis of APC localization in three CRC cell lines – one with an intact Wnt pathway (RKO), one with stabilized β -catenin (HCT116 β m), and one with truncated APC (DLD1) – revealed that wild-type APC localizes to Wnt-beads in nearly all cells whereas this localization is impaired for truncated APC. Using immunofluorescence microscopy, I found the localization of destruction complex components (Axin1, CK1- α , GSK-3 β), β -catenin, Fzd7, and β -TrCP toward Wnt-beads in RKO cells, indicating that the destruction complex maintains association rather than disassociating upon Wnt stimulation and that β -catenin remains in the destruction complex. Using the Wnt-beads to pull-down bead-associated proteins, a physical interaction was found between APC and β -catenin with the Wnt-beads, confirming the immunofluorescence microscopy results. These data were confirmed in HCT116 β m cells except β -TrCP localization was impaired. Given that the Ser45 deletion in HCT116 β m interferes with downstream phosphorylation of the β -TrCP recognition site, this result demonstrates that β -TrCP is not an inherent member of the complex but is recruited upon β -catenin phosphorylation. Destruction complex localization in DLD1 cells was highly impaired, indicating that full-length APC may be important for this process. Indeed, either CRISPR/Cas9 knock-out of APC or siRNA-mediated APC depletion resulted in loss of destruction complex localization. Depletion of Axin1, a key scaffolding protein in the complex, did not interfere with APC or β -catenin localization to Wnt-beads, indicating that this is an APC-specific role in Wnt signal transduction. These results demonstrated that the endogenous β -catenin destruction complex is recruited to Wnt in an APC-dependent manner in colonic epithelial cells of both normal and malignant origin.

Stabilized β-catenin is susceptible to regulation by APC and Wnt

Surprisingly, Wnt-bead treatment of HCT116 β m cells resulted in destruction complex localization that included β -cat Δ S45 and appeared to result in elevated β -cat Δ S45 protein levels (Chapter 2). For these reasons, I hypothesized that mutations suggested to result in a "stabilized" β -catenin may not be completely resistant to destruction complex regulation or Wnt stimulation. While *APC* mutations in CRC are prevalent, mutations altering the β -catenin protein are relatively rare. It has been previously proposed that *APC* mutations occur in a "just-right" fashion, but this model has not been proposed for other members of the Wnt signaling pathway. In Chapter 3, I sought to test the "just-right" model of β -catenin mutation to determine if stabilizing β -catenin mutations continue to allow some degree of Wnt-responsiveness and destruction complex regulation.

HCT116 β m cells harbor a single copy of mutant β -catenin with a Ser45 deletion, resulting in the absence of its CK1- α phosphorylation site ^{19–21}. When treated with Wnt3a, HCT116 β m cells accumulate β -cat Δ S45 and further activate the TOPflash Wnt reporter. Additionally, APC-depletion results in β -cat Δ S45 accumulation and nuclear translocation but does not increase β -cat Δ S45 transcriptional activity unless combined with Wnt treatment. These experiments confirm previous findings that β -cat Δ S45 can continue to be phosphorylated by GSK-3 β ²². Treatment with proteasome inhibitor results in β -cat Δ S45 accumulation, indicative that β -cat Δ S45 is otherwise targeted to the proteasome. These results demonstrate that a Wnt signal leads to secondary effects which further activate nuclear β -catenin. I propose that APC inhibits this activity through nuclear export mechanisms and/or by sequestering β -catenin or its transcriptional co-factors TCF/LEF in the cytoplasm. This work provides insight to the mechanism of β-catenin regulation in both the Wnt-ON and Wnt-OFF states, but also provides an explanation for the prevalence of APC mutations compared to β -catenin mutations. Cells expressing mutant β -catenin continue to be Wnt-responsive, whereas cells expressing mutant APC are unable to be further stimulated by Wnt. Taken together findings from Chapters 2 and 3 clearly highlight key differences between mutation to APC or other members of the Wnt pathway, such as β -catenin. Our findings also demonstrate that the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway does not act in a strictly linear fashion in which mutation to a downstream component causes aberrant signaling and lack of Wnt-responsiveness. Instead, we find that mutation to the

key downstream effector, β -catenin, still allows regulation by upstream components such as APC or Wnt.

The kinetics and dynamics of the Wnt response

In chapter 2, I identify that the β -catenin destruction complex re-orients toward a Wnt cue in an APC-dependent manner. This work was performed with 4-14 hours of Wnt3a-bead treatment (4h for WB pull-down, 12-14h for IF), however earlier studies in a variety of cell types have suggested that a Wnt response may occur on the order of minutes ^{13,14,17,23}. Because of these findings, I sought to determine if the destruction complex localization observed in chapter 2 was due to an active trafficking of the complex to the Wnt-receptors, or if downstream Wnt transcriptional activation resulted in a feedback response that resulted in a delayed localization of the destruction complex.

Initially, I performed a time-course of Wnt treatment in RKO cells transfected with the TOPflash reporter plasmid and found that Wnt pathway activation is not detectable until two hours of treatment. However, time-course analysis of destruction complex localization revealed that Wnt-beads induce APC localization within 15 minutes of their addition to RKO and HCT116 β m cells. In RKO cells, however, β -catenin localization lagged behind APC localization, and did not occur until 2-4 hours of treatment. RKO cells have low levels of β -catenin due to an actively functioning destruction complex. For this reason, I hypothesized that downstream β -catenin accumulation must occur before it can be detected near the Wnt-beads in RKO cells. Indeed, using HCT116 β m cells which express stabilized β -catenin at higher basal levels than RKO cells, β -catenin localization occurs within 15 minutes of Wnt-bead treatment in the presence or absence of cycloheximide. These data demonstrate that β -catenin can be trafficked

with the destruction complex to the membrane or incorporated into membrane-bound destruction complexes after synthesis. Further, this data is in agreement with a previously proposed model of destruction complex inhibition in which β -catenin is unable to be released to the proteasome following Wnt stimulation and eventually leads to saturation of available destruction complexes and β -catenin accumulation. In support of this, β -catenin protein accumulation is not detectable until 30 minutes to 1 hour after Wnt stimulation whereas the movement of the complex to the membrane occurs within 15 minutes. Finally, I tested whether APC-loss impacts the ability of cells to further accumulate or degrade β -catenin in response to Wnt stimulation. I find that RKO-APC^{KO} cells are unable to further accumulate β -catenin after Wnt treatment and that degradation of β -catenin is impaired compared to RKO cells.

Future Directions

The work presented in this dissertation reveals novel roles for APC in destruction complex localization and Wnt signal transduction. However, several knowledge gaps need to be addressed moving forward. How does APC traffic the β -catenin destruction complex to a Wnt cue? What are the functional consequences of APC truncation and how does this contribute to "just-right" Wnt/ β -catenin signaling? Do APC truncations act in a dominant-negative fashion, and can this explain why APC loss in HCT116 β m results in elevated β -catenin protein but not elevated activity? What are the kinetic responses of the destruction complex movement to Wnt, β -catenin accumulation/activation, and β -catenin phosphorylation? Finally, is β -catenin activation dependent on saturation of the available destruction complexes?

Understanding how APC regulates the trafficking of the destruction complex to a Wnt cue will provide novel insight into Wnt signal transduction and may assist in future therapeutic

discovery. The C-terminal domains of APC are commonly lost in CRC and contain domains which mediate interactions with cytoskeletal components like microtubules and actin but also with cytoskeletal interacting proteins like EB-1. APC is involved in mechanisms of cargo transport and microtubule assembly, making it possible that APC utilizes actin or microtubule polymerization to traffic toward Wnt-bound Fzd/LRP receptors ^{24–29}. Further, actin-dependent membrane association of APC has been demonstrated ³⁰. I have carried out preliminary studies to test the hypothesis that if APC utilizes microtubule or actin-based transport to the membrane upon Wnt stimulation. However, use of polymerization inhibitors nocodazole (microtubules) or cytochalasin D (actin) has resulted in cytotoxicity and interfered with interpretation of results. Moving forward, studies may need to be performed in which actin or microtubule interacting proteins are identified that interact with APC or with Fzd and LRP5/6. Using an approach in which specific interactors are depleted would provide an advantageous system compared to whole-cell cytoskeletal disruption.

Another possible mechanism of APC-mediated trafficking to the membrane could be through APC interaction with clathrin-coated pits. Endocytosis of the Wnt receptors was previously reported as a key event in Wnt signal transduction and is thought to be essential for formation of the Wnt signalosome ^{18,31}. Further, APC inhibition of clathrin-mediated endocytosis has been proposed and it is well established that the actin cytoskeleton is heavily involved in clathrin-mediated endocytosis ^{32,33}. Of note, immunoprecipitated APC shows association with both Clathrin and its adaptor protein, AP-2 ³², and Dvl interaction with AP-2 and involvement with cytoplasmic vesicles has been implicated ^{34,35}. My preliminary evidence suggests that Wntbeads may pull-down the Clathrin heavy-chain. Determining whether this interaction is an APCdependent process and which region of APC is involved may resolve unanswered questions

regarding destruction complex membrane-targeting as well as mechanisms by which the destruction complex is inhibited.

A region of APC referred to as "M3" (amino acids 1,211-2,075) contains all of the 20 amino acid repeats involved in β -catenin binding, the SAMP motifs, as well as the nuclear localization signals 36,37 . While this region is primarily considered to be involved in β -catenin binding and regulation, recent results from Ethan Lee's research group at Vanderbilt suggest that M3 may be involved in destruction complex trafficking. Saito-Diaz et al. utilized a Myc-tagged fragment of APC that is nearly identical to M3-APC (amino acids 1,265-2,060)³². Expression of this region in RKO-APC^{KO} cells rescues β -catenin degradation. Targeted degradation of the APC fragment through an auxin-inducible degradation system resulted in β-catenin accumulation but also phosphorylation of LRP6, indicating that this region of APC is able to localize to LRP6 and prevent its phosphorylation which is an indication of activated Wnt receptors ^{32,38}. While this data does not directly demonstrate that M3-APC is responsible for targeting of the destruction complex, it does indicate that an interaction between the Wnt receptors and M3-APC occurs. Further studies treating APC-depleted cells expressing M3-APC with Wnt or Wnt-beads would be necessary to answer if this region of APC is in part responsible for destruction complex trafficking and inhibition.

Lastly, the many roles of APC within and outside of Wnt/β-catenin signaling cannot be overstated ^{6,39}. To fully understand the effects of APC loss or truncated APC expression, transcriptomic and proteomic data need to be acquired in isogenic colon epithelial cells. I have performed preliminary single-cell sequencing studies in a series of HCEC cells (cells originally derived from human normal colon tissue, described in Chapter 2). Four groups of 200-250 HCEC 1CT cells were subjected to single-cell RNA-sequencing. Groups KN1 and KN2



Fig. 5.1 Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals distinct clustering of HCEC 1CT populations with varying APC status and identifies population heterogeneity of APC expression. (A) UMAP clustering using Seurat of HCEC 1CT cells with APC knockdown or additional alterations including KRAS mutation and p53 depletion. Coloring is by group, revealing that each group clusters together. Each data point represents a single cell. (B) The same UMAP clustering as in A but displaying APC expression with dark blue as high expression and light blue as low expression. Percentages of cells expressing APC within each population listed in chart.

represent HCEC 1CT cells transfected with control siRNA (KN1) or APC siRNA (KN2). Groups KN3 and KN4 represent HCEC 1CTRPA (KN3) or HCEC 1CTRPA-A1309 (KN4) where "RPA" designates stable expression of KRAS^{V12}, shTP53 (small hairpin targeting tumor suppressor p53), and shAPC, and "A1309" designates expression of truncated APC (amino acids 1-1,309) ⁴⁰. Surprisingly, only 60% of the parental HCEC 1CT line (KN1) express detectable *APC* by RNA sequencing (Fig. 5.1). Nonetheless, initial gene ontology analysis of differential gene expression between the KN1 and KN2 groups reveals many genes involved in cell-cell adhesion, cell proliferation, cytoskeletal organization and the actin cytoskeleton, protein trafficking, membrane rafts, focal adhesions, and endosomal membranes. While these data need to be experimentally repeated and validated, it is intriguing that APC loss results in such widespread differences in gene expression. APC nuclear import and export have previously been characterized by our lab and others, and the possible roles of APC in modulation of gene expression may provide important insight into APC function.

Our work highlights clear roles for APC in Wnt signal transduction and β -catenin regulation and reveals important mechanistic insight into the initial steps involved in Wnt signaling. We have added valuable information to the Wnt signaling field that provides rationale for the prevalence of *APC* mutation in colorectal cancer, and this mechanistic work may aid in the therapeutic targeting of the Wnt pathway. Further studies are needed to clarify the means in which APC exerts its destruction complex trafficking role and to better understand the mechanisms by which a Wnt signal causes activation of β -catenin as a transcriptional co-factor, rather than just its accumulation.

References

- 1. Kinzler, K. W. & Vogelstein, B. Lessons from Hereditary Colorectal Cancer. *Cell* **87**, 159–170 (1996).
- 2. Fodde, R. The APC gene in colorectal cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* **38**, 867–871 (2002).
- 3. Lamlum, H. *et al.* APC mutations are sufficient for the growth of early colorectal adenomas. *PNAS* **97**, 2225–2228 (2000).
- 4. Kinzler, K. W. *et al.* Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. *Science* **253**, 661–665 (1991).
- 5. Groden, J. *et al.* Identification and characterization of the familial adenomatous polyposis coli gene. *Cell* **66**, 589–600 (1991).
- 6. Zhang, L. & Shay, J. W. Multiple Roles of APC and its Therapeutic Implications in Colorectal Cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **109**, (2017).
- 7. Albuquerque, C. *et al.* The 'just-right' signaling model: APC somatic mutations are selected based on a specific level of activation of the β -catenin signaling cascade. *Hum Mol Genet* **11**, 1549–1560 (2002).
- 8. MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K. & He, X. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. *Developmental Cell* **17**, 9–26 (2009).
- 9. Lee, E., Salic, A., Krüger, R., Heinrich, R. & Kirschner, M. W. The Roles of APC and Axin Derived from Experimental and Theoretical Analysis of the Wnt Pathway. *PLOS Biology* 1, e10 (2003).
- Liu, X., Rubin, J. S. & Kimmel, A. R. Rapid, Wnt-Induced Changes in GSK3β Associations that Regulate β-Catenin Stabilization Are Mediated by Gα Proteins. *Current Biology* 15, 1989–1997 (2005).
- 11. Luo, W. *et al.* Protein phosphatase 1 regulates assembly and function of the β-catenin degradation complex. *EMBO J* **26**, 1511–1521 (2007).
- 12. Roberts, D. M. *et al.* Deconstructing the ßcatenin destruction complex: mechanistic roles for the tumor suppressor APC in regulating Wnt signaling. *MBoC* **22**, 1845–1863 (2011).
- 13. Li, V. S. W. *et al.* Wnt Signaling through Inhibition of β-Catenin Degradation in an Intact Axin1 Complex. *Cell* **149**, 1245–1256 (2012).
- 14. Mao, J. *et al.* Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein-5 Binds to Axin and Regulates the Canonical Wnt Signaling Pathway. *Molecular Cell* **7**, 801–809 (2001).
- 15. Zeng, X. *et al.* A dual-kinase mechanism for Wnt co-receptor phosphorylation and activation. *Nature* **438**, 873 (2005).
- 16. Habib, S. J. *et al.* A Localized Wnt Signal Orients Asymmetric Stem Cell Division in Vitro. *Science* **339**, 1445–1448 (2013).
- 17. Bandmann, V. *et al.* Membrane capacitance recordings resolve dynamics and complexity of receptor-mediated endocytosis in Wnt signalling. *Sci Rep* **9**, 1–11 (2019).
- 18. Blitzer, J. T. & Nusse, R. A critical role for endocytosis in Wnt signaling. *BMC Cell Biology* 7, 28 (2006).
- 19. Chan, T. A., Wang, Z., Dang, L. H., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Targeted inactivation of CTNNB1 reveals unexpected effects of β-catenin mutation. *PNAS* **99**, 8265–8270 (2002).
- 20. Amit, S. *et al.* Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of β-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes Dev.* **16**, 1066–1076 (2002).

- 21. Liu, C. *et al.* Control of β-Catenin Phosphorylation/Degradation by a Dual-Kinase Mechanism. *Cell* **108**, 837–847 (2002).
- Wang, Z., Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K. W. Phosphorylation of β-Catenin at S33, S37, or T41 Can Occur in the Absence of Phosphorylation at T45 in Colon Cancer Cells. *Cancer Res* 63, 5234–5235 (2003).
- 23. Kafri, P. *et al.* Quantifying β -catenin subcellular dynamics and cyclin D1 mRNA transcription during Wnt signaling in single living cells. *eLife* **5**, e16748 (2016).
- 24. Gao, F. J. *et al.* Insulin signaling regulates a functional interaction between adenomatous polyposis coli and cytoplasmic dynein. *MBoC* **28**, 587–599 (2017).
- 25. Ruane, P. T. *et al.* Tumour Suppressor Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) localisation is regulated by both Kinesin-1 and Kinesin-2. *Sci Rep* 6, (2016).
- 26. Dikovskaya, D. *et al.* Microtubule assembly by the Apc protein is regulated by importin-β—RanGTP. *J Cell Sci* **123**, 736–746 (2010).
- 27. Munemitsu, S. *et al.* The APC Gene Product Associates with Microtubules in Vivo and Promotes Their Assembly in Vitro. *Cancer Res* **54**, 3676–3681 (1994).
- 28. Juanes, M. A. *et al.* The role of APC-mediated actin assembly in microtubule capture and focal adhesion turnover. *J Cell Biol* jcb.201904165 (2019) doi:10.1083/jcb.201904165.
- 29. Moseley, J. B. *et al.* Regulated Binding of Adenomatous Polyposis Coli Protein to Actin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **282**, 12661–12668 (2007).
- Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Ihrke, G. & Bienz, M. Actin-dependent membrane association of the APC tumour suppressor in polarized mammalian epithelial cells. *EMBO J* 20, 5929–5939 (2001).
- 31. Kim, I. *et al.* Clathrin and AP2 are required for PtdIns(4,5)P2-mediated formation of LRP6 signalosomes. *J Cell Biol* **200**, 419–428 (2013).
- 32. Saito-Diaz, K. *et al.* APC Inhibits Ligand-Independent Wnt Signaling by the Clathrin Endocytic Pathway. *Developmental Cell* **44**, 566-581.e8 (2018).
- 33. Yarar, D., Waterman-Storer, C. M. & Schmid, S. L. A Dynamic Actin Cytoskeleton Functions at Multiple Stages of Clathrin-mediated Endocytosis. *MBoC* 16, 964–975 (2004).
- Yu, A., Xing, Y., Harrison, S. C. & Kirchhausen, T. Structural Analysis of the Interaction between Dishevelled2 and Clathrin AP-2 Adaptor, A Critical Step in Noncanonical Wnt Signaling. *Structure* 18, 1311–1320 (2010).
- 35. Schwarz-Romond, T., Merrifield, C., Nichols, B. J. & Bienz, M. The Wnt signalling effector Dishevelled forms dynamic protein assemblies rather than stable associations with cytoplasmic vesicles. *Journal of Cell Science* **118**, 5269–5277 (2005).
- Wang, Y., Azuma, Y., Moore, D., Osheroff, N. & Neufeld, K. L. Interaction between Tumor Suppressor Adenomatous Polyposis Coli and Topoisomerase IIα: Implication for the G2/M Transition. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 4076–4085 (2008).
- 37. Watanabe, T. *et al.* Interaction with IQGAP1 Links APC to Rac1, Cdc42, and Actin Filaments during Cell Polarization and Migration. *Developmental Cell* **7**, 871–883 (2004).
- 38. Bilić, J. *et al.* Wnt Induces LRP6 Signalosomes and Promotes Dishevelled-Dependent LRP6 Phosphorylation. *Science* **316**, 1619–1622 (2007).
- 39. Nelson, S. & Näthke, I. S. Interactions and functions of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) protein at a glance. *J Cell Sci* **126**, 873–877 (2013).
- 40. Zhang, L. *et al.* Selective targeting of mutant adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) in colorectal cancer. *Science Translational Medicine* **8**, 361ra140-361ra140 (2016).